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ABOUT THE COMPANY

SinCE 1988, BENTON Q1L AND GAS COMPANY 1AS BEEN ENGAGED IN
THE EXPLORATION, DEVELOPMENT AND PRODUCTION OF OIL AND GAS
PROPERTIES. THE COMPANY IS A PUSLICLY HELD, INDEPENDENT ENERGY
COMPANY AND TRADES ON THE NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE (NYSE)
UNDER THE SYMBOL BNO.

: BENTON OIL AND GAS I8 RECOGNIZID AS A NICHE PLAYER IN THE
DEVELOPMENT OF LARGE RESOURCES OF OIL AND GAS IN AREAS OF THE
WORLD THAT ARE TECHNICAILY AN POLITICALLY CHALLENGING. THE
COMPANY 11AS ACQUIRED WORLD CLASS PROJECTS WITH SIGNIFICANT
RESERVE GROWTH POTENTIAL. HEADQUARTERED IN HOUSTON, TEXAS,
THE COMPANY'S OPERATIONS ARE PRIMARILY CONDUCTED IN

VENEZUELA AND RUSSIA.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

(AMOUNTS IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE) 2001 2000 1999
FINANCIAL:

ToTAL REVENUES $122,386 $140,284 $89,060
NET INCOME (LOSS) 43 237 20,488 (32,284)
PER SHARE (DILUTED) 1.27 0.66 (1.09)
CasH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS (V) 28,147 47264 6,655
PER SHARE (DILUTED) 0.83 1.53 0.23
TOTAL ASSETS 348,151 286,447 276,311
LonG TErRM DEBT @ 221,583 213,000 264,575
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 67,623 12,904 (17,178)
AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING (DILUTED) 34,008 30,890 29,577
OPERATIONAL:

Torar Propuction 3

CRrUDE OIL AND CONDENSATE (MBbls) 9,982 8,991 9,185
Narurar Gas (MMCE) - 43 -
OI1L EQUIVALENTS (MBOE) 9,982 8,998 9,185

AVERAGE Pricgs (4;
CRUDE O1L AND CONDENSATE (PER Bbl) $12.52 $14.94 $9.21
NATURAL GaSs (PER Mcf) - 4.63 -

ToTaL PROVED RESERVES (3):

CRrRUDE OIL AND CONDENSATE (MBbls) 134,243 146,866 148,098
NATURAL GAS (MMcf) 208,010 152,496 -
Oi1L EQUIVALENTS (MBOE) 168,911 172,282 148,098
PRESENT VALUE OF REsERVES ) ) $365,735 $583,141 $744,935
(1) Before working capital changes ABBREVIATION GUIDE
(2) Net of current portion Bbl Barrel
(3) Includes our proportionate share of production, reserves and present value of MBbls Thousand Barrels

reserves from Benton-Vinccler, Geoilbent and Arctic Gas Mcf Thousand Cubic Feet
(4) On sales from consolidated companies MMcf Million Cubic Feet
(5) Future net cash flows before income taxes MBOE Thousand Barrels

discounted at 10% of Oil Equivalent




~m OUR_JOURNEY PEGINS..

This_vear, our anual regort resembles a journa which

might _have been kept by an eardy exglorer on a_

jeurney to a gromising new Hfrontier. Bt documerts

the progress and observations of discovery in much

the same _manner as ploneers once did. We chose

this format becawse we believe that our grogress

and success a5 a compary i much like a journey

which dways advarces - sometimes with ease and, _

at_other times, requiring determination to stay

the coursze.

. Accordingly, it is_appropriate in this letter to

set forth our _original mission and to_note the

important milestones commemorating our successes,

as well as noting those circumptances in_which

coinied perseverdice remalie a priorilty.

A JOURNEY OF PURPOLE...

Last year was the first Al vear for vour rew

management team and recorstitvted Voard of

Qirectors to work. in a coordinated fashion to

define a new shared vision for Derton and to map

ot _our covrse for the fure. The yeer was

criticaly important to re-esteblishing our financial

fexibility and reshaping our operating grofile. We

nitidted a number of actions to substantialy

ceportion our company for the fuure. farly in the

vear, we laid out two strategic priorities: Firet, to

delever the balance sheet, thereby preserving

sharehdder vaue; and second, to imgrove the value

of our _producing assets in Nenezuele and Russia.

The Arctic Gas transaction, when dosed, not a_r\lyr o
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Gundance.

Cash coste per barrel
before nefrecurring
charges were down
#1.74 per barrel last
year and codd be
reduced ancther #14.co
to #loo per barrel this
year.




OB zatisfies our first ohjective but deo adds

credence Lo _our strong belief in the undi@dy_ip{\gw o

value of our strateqic assets. Underpinning the

growth i _the value of our producing assets was a

reengireered gan for groduction and development in

Nenezuela and on aggressive atack on costs.

HARD WORK BEGING TO PAY OFF...

Arer hard weork. by every mewber of the

management and employee team, we announced in

February Joof that we had agreed to sell ocur L&

gercent interest in Arctic Gas Company to a

nomoniee of the Yukos Ol Company, a large Russian

receive approximately ¥%o milion as repayment of

intercompany loans owed to Perton by Arctic Gas.

The net proceeds we expect to redize from the

sile, after expernses, taxes, and the settling of

certain related daime, are estimated 1o be

approximately #1590 million. These fundes wil be used,

in part, to retire early al of the #10& milion of

1 5/ B percent senior notes which are due in foo®

I accordence with thelr terms and without geralty.

We intend to use any remalning nel proceeds and

cash received from the repayment of loans to

further reduce debt from time to time, accelerate

our strategic growth in Venezuela and Russia, and

for general corporate purposes. Ketiremert of Al

the outstending 1] 5/& percert notes dore
eiminates #17.L milion, or %0.%7 per share, of

arnudl interest expense and, most importantly for

our_sharehdders and bondnolders, removes any

near-term concern about the Companys ligquidity.




~3These retirements, pus the gain on the sale, will

Alow vs 1o ARl ocur earlier commitmert to restore

our balance sheet strength by reducing our debt-to-

capiraization ratio from over Jo percent to_the

45 percent range. As a resdt, the credit rating

encles are reviewing our credi retle.
aqencies_are reviewing our credit profil

A DUMP IN THE ROAD...

Our path was not aways straight, ner was it dways

effectively 1o modify the terme of their bonds via.
an_excharnge. The intertion was to gilve management
more time 1o assess the vaue of our asset base

without the added gressure of a May fJoo% maturity

date for a very sizable amout of debt. In

hindsight, we underestimated the ,Cqm?_@_@_y)ﬁ poor

standing in the financial markets. As a resdt, we

economlc terme which were either acceptable to us,

or consistent with our godl of preserving vave for

our sharehdders. However, in the process, we were

able to achieve a modification in the terms of the

bonds to dlow us to borrow money, on a ron-recourse.
Thie was an important concession which ultimately
facilitated the pending sde of our interest in

Aretic Gas.

__ We will continue to weork to imgrove our

relationshipgs in the capital markets by honoring our

commitments and building upon a new track record

of success. These efforte will help ve fund the
subsequent developmert of our assets on a cost

effective, and_sound, financial basis.




> CARRYING A_LIGHTER LOAD...

Turming to our finencial and operating performance

for joo), we showed meesired progress, financial

dscighine and the eaery success reguired to_

reestablish lost cradibﬂ}j&_y. We met our production

target of 9.8 million barrels for the year and

lowered our cash experces per berrel by

approximately 18 percent 1o %5.9% pec berrel. The

recent decline in oil prices put increased pressure

oo o) o on Us to reduce experses while cortinuing to pursue
Guirdance 1 =3 f

meens of reducing debt and e associated irterest

Operating experse per experse. We dosed the California ofblice, reduced
barrel sddd betfore '
refrecurring charges s satflf, moved to Houston and corwdidated field

roeded to dedire
ancther 195% to jo%

this year. the failed bond exchange, reduced our Hfinancial

operations “in courtry’. This, dong with the costs of

performance bul positions us for improvemert in the

years ahead.

*1.78 TRANSITION PRODUCES MIXED REAULTA...

!
4147
*11';’;‘ For the year, we regcorted recurring net income of

42.9 milion,_or %*0.74 per dilted share, and

discretionary cesh flow of %%%.9 wilion, or #1.00

per diltted share, for fJoo), before certain

of #1659 million,_or %*0.5% per diltted share, and
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discretionary cash flow of %47.% milion, or #1.5%
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Guidance per diluted share N Jooo. Discretionary cash Aow

was _down in Jool primarily due to lower ol grices

Kestructuring the

Company and moving the
corperste hesdquarters affected both Joco and Joo.
to Housten, Texas wil B
continie to reduce our

and the effect of norrecurring Ueme, which

recurcing overhead
coste per barel. — .
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~> Reported net ircome wes higher primarily due
to the reversal _of a #470.4 milion deferred tax _

asset vauation dlowence related to operating loss

carryforwards (NOL's). The expected dosing of the

zae of our interest in Arctic Gas Compeny should _ o

encble the Company to redize the vaue of \.J

the NOL's, /ﬁ\»\

_The Comfany a\/;o recorded an increase of &11 o |

mﬂ@@a‘z@ stockhodlders’ equity to reflect the

U’L‘L\i@aﬁiar\ =f NOL)f? on slock o?tior\ exerclses. Ao

ad,v'\uetm@nt, etockha\deré zciuity,_y\crvzaéeql ,,,‘% 4.7

million to #67.6 million,

I o The Sikoracy helicopier
S L . e e 16 the most efficiert and
HAR\/&&T AHﬁAD o _ o fastest form of traveport

in the tndra bt reads
and sledges cary the

heavy equigment.

The cumulative successes of jooi, induding the

Arctic Gos trarsaction validates our business

strateqy, which supports steady investment, prudent

risk management_end timely harvest of large _ 3 )
resources of hydrocerbons for attractive vele. We \{} a

aso telieve the sde is indicative of the o \ \f“r.\.‘
underlying vaue of the remaining properties in the  ° ‘ | \\4 ;:7 :
Centon _portfdio, which, to date, has been largely PR | %
Unrecoanized by the Ffinancia markets due to cur ~ S 5‘:_7;
heavy debt load of the paet. S f/

_The forward momentum we bring inte the new _

the begiming of ils rew guest for value by

recommending to sharehdders a name change to S
The Nenets survive in
— the twndra by flowing
their reindeer herds
and fishing. Using
autboards hz\yf; in the

Harvest Natral Resources, Ine. at the upcoming

Smmer.




Jeco Froved Keserves OPERATING _POLITION STAVILIZED...

& sharehdders meeting in May. If approved, we

will soon trade _on the New York ftock Exchenge

under the ticker symbol HNK.

Ao of VDecember %4, Jooi, the Company had tetal
estimated proved reserves of 1469 MMPOE, élig}h’dy B
down_From the 17% MMPOE of Joco. The groved

" reserves to _amudl production rate (R/D ravio
; v Arctic Gas
== remaine at 17 years. Excuding the Arctic Ges
%% o proved reserves which égre being sold, the Com‘?amy

Geoilbent

begine the year with groved reserves of 11%

foco - 175 million barrels million barrels and an R/P ratio of 19 years. As the

joo| Hroved Keserves

Russian and Verezuelan market for natural gas

emerges, we. would expect to be able to record

gas i delivered to these markets.

M the same time, we_increased production in

Jool by 4 percent to 9.5 million barrels, despite

suspending our Nernezuelan drilling grogram for eight

monthe while we were working on our field

simdation study. As a result of the study and our

new pan for develogment, two high wmpact Tucupite

Field wels in Venezuela have been drilled and

beotlbent barrels of Qil per _day as of late March Joo 7.

Ioo = 169 milien barrels

dthough we do anticigate the usual decdline in

(11% milon barrels production followed by lower but meore sustainable
without Arctic Gas)

production rates. We intend to

drill ancther five of these wels in Tucupita

during Joof.
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In Russia, there are near-term investment

opportumities in the Gubkinsky natural ges glant and

bouth Tarasovekoye oil field. This is accessibe

though our %4 percent investment in Geoilbert, a

ot venture between the Company and a Kussian

Andegendent. While we are only a minority owner,

we are in the process of driving a restructuring of

the management and financing of Geotlbert. The

ownershly struciure and gevernance has been

simfified. Tt will take some time to improve

operations, the vertures financidl structure and the

cach flow and vaue of our investment in Geoilbert.

£ we are successfl, this work will dlow us 1o

Bight BL diameter
Ppelines carry the natrd

gas Lo markets in Russia,

former satelite courtries
and to turope.

Ancrease the reserve baze and the oil and gas

production streams sigmificantly _over the rext three

vears, dzlivafir\g a f;uetair\ablz dividend stream.

TO £4TABLISHED VENEZUELA PRODUCTION..

In Verezuela, we _are accelerating oil groduction

from both the Uracoa and Tucupita fields, while

continuing to lower costs. The newly designed, rear

horizontal wels drilled in Uracoa last year delivered

ol per day which was nearly doutle the 5%% bopd

we averaged in Jooo. We adso completed a %i-mile

ol _pipeling from Tucupita to our Uracca central

processing facility, which not_eonly eliminated costly

trucking charges but_endbled us to_ accelerate

development of our Tucupita reserves. Thie year, we

expect Lo increase our oil_production 1% to jo

percent to epproximately #looo to Phooo barrels

per day..
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The production dart and

sorage tarks ab Tueupita
on the Orincco Kiver. The
driling rig completes
development wells, and the
new pipeline passes under
the river on its journey to
the Uracea factlity.

o> bast year, we reduced our recurring cash

experses per barrel 15 percenmt to approximately

#5.98. Increasing Nenezuelan groduction will be a

primary driver in reducing these coste ancther =

#.00 to #J.0o per barrel

this vear.

__We hope to regotiate & new contract with POVOA

to zell_natrd gae for the first time from both the

Uracca and Dombal fields, adding some Ho to Jo

million cubic feet of rawral gae per day to the

production stream over the rext three years.

NEW FUTURE IN HARVEST NATURAL RESOURCES, INC...

3 . . .
Whats in a name? Our new company will remain

Resources, Tnc., we wil become known as:

o An Brabler - capable of growing relaticnships and

securing groperties with large, known hydrocarbon

resources.

o A Risk Manager - with the acumen to apply

__advenced, proven tedhndlogy aong with the skils

to mitigate commercidl and political risks

o A Prudert Tnvestor - retaining a sdid and flexibtle

_balance sheet, and rigerously testing investmenis

against our _cost of capita

o A Value Harvester - where we can grow vélue,




~>WE WILL P& G000 STEWARDS OF YOUR TRUST...
Mour Yoard of Uirectors demends strict adnerence
to the highest grinciles of governance. We will

remain transparent in al of our dedings with the

Pinancial market, governing bodies and regulatery

_ On a2 fina note, we weuld like to thank the

managemert and employee team for their tireless

efforts and personal_sacrifices which have

would aleo like to express odr_apprecidtion to the

Coard for their help, work and advice.
__Together, our_jeurney will cortinue. We are well

prepared. With your sugport, we wil _continue to

berefit from each new discovery and overcome

cach new chalenge.

Respectfilly,

\ DA o
Sreghen D. Chesebro  Peter

Chatrman o President and
. (hef frecutive Officer

“Aephen Chesetiro (o)
ard Peter Wl at the
Uracoa dart.
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PART I

The Company cautions that any forward-looking statements (as such term is defined in the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995) contained in this report or made by management of the Company
involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on various important factors. When used in this
report, the words budget, budgeted, anticipate, expect, believes, goals or projects and similar expressions are
intended to identify forward-looking statements. In accordance with the provisions of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, the Company cautions that important factors could cause actual results to
differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements. Such factors include the Company’s
substantial concentration of operations in Venezuela and Russia, the political and economic risks associated
with international operations, the anticipated future development costs for the Company’s undeveloped proved
reserves, the risk that actual results may vary considerably from reserve estimates, the dependence upon the
abilities and continued participation of certain key employees of the Company, the risks normally incident to
the operation and development of oil and gas properties and the drilling of oil and natural gas wells, the price
Jor oil and natural gas, and other risks described in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The following factors, among others, in some cases have affected and could cause actual results and plans for
Juture periods to differ materially from those expressed or implied in any such forward-looking statements:
Auctuations in oil and natural gas prices, changes in operating costs, overall economic conditions, political
stability, acts of terrorism, currency and exchange risks, changes in existing or potential tariffs, duties or
quotas, availability of additional exploration and development opportunities, availability of sufficient
financing, changes in weather conditions, and ability to hire, retain and train management and personnel. See
Risk Factors included in Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations.

At the end of Item | is a glossary of terms.

Item 1. Business
General

Benton QOil and Gas Company is an independent energy corporation which has been engaged in the
development and production of oil and gas properties since 1989, when it was incorporated under Delaware
law. We have developed significant interests in the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela (“Venezuela”) and the
Russian Federation (“Russia”), and have acquired certain less significant interests in other parts of the world.
QOur producing operations are conducted principally through our 80 percent-owned Venezuelan subsidiary,
Benton-Vinccler, C.A., which operates the South Monagas Unit in Venezuela; and Geoilbent Ltd., a Russian
limited liability company of which we own 34 percent, which operates the North Gubkinskoye and South
Tarasovskoye Fields in West Siberia, Russia. Additionally, we own 68 percent of the equity interest in Arctic
Gas Company, of which 29 percent was subject to restrictions on transfer and 39 percent was not subject to
restrictions on transfer, as of December 31, 2001. Arctic Gas was formed to explore and develop the Samburg
and Yevo-Yakha License Blocks in the West Siberian Basin of Russia. On February 27, 2002, we entered into
a Sale and Purchase Agreement (*“Transaction™) to sell our entire 68 percent interest in Arctic Gas Company
(“Proposed Arctic Gas Sale”) to a nominee of the Yukos Oil Company, a Russian oil and gas company, for
$190 million plus approximately $30 million as repayment of inter-company loans owed to us by Arctic Gas.
We have expanded into other, less significant projects in China, California, and Louisiana.

As of December 31, 2001, we had total estimated proved reserves net of minority interest of
168.8 MMBOE, and a standardized measure of discounted future net cash flow, before income taxes, for total
proved reserves of $365.7 million. Of these totals, the South Monagas Unit represented 83.6 MMBbls and
$176.2 million, Geoilbent represented 29.6 MMBDbls and $81.1 million, and Arctic Gas (based on our
39 percent unrestricted ownership) represented 55.6 MMBOE and $108.4 million.

As of December 31, 2001, we had total assets of $348.2 million. For the year ended December 31, 2001,
we had total revenues of $122.4 million, cash flows from operations, before working capital changes, of

$28.2 million, earnings before interest, income taxes and depletion, depreciation and amortization
(“EBITDA”) of $58.0 million and long-term debt of $221.6 million. For the year ended December 31, 2000,
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we had total revenues of $140.3 million, cash flows from operations, before working capital changes, of
$47.3 million, EBITDA of $80.6 million and long-term debt of $213.0 million.

We currently have significant debt principal obligations payable in 2003 ($108 million) and 2007
($105 million). Cur ability to meet our debt obligations and to reduce our level of debt depends on the
implementation of our strategic objectives, and in particular the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale. On March 22,
2002, we were notified that the Transaction had received the requisite consents from the Russian Ministry for
Antimonopoly Policy and Support for Entrepreneurship. On March 28, 2002, we received the first payment
($120.0 million) of the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale proceeds. We expect that all aspects of the Transaction will
be completed by April 2002. While we have no assurance that the Transaction will close, the net proceeds
should be sufficient to retire early all of our 2003 debt service obligation. See The Proposed Arctic Gas Sale if
Closed Can Partially Reduce the Impact of Leverage in Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and Note 16 to the Audited Financial Statements in Item 14 —
Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K. {n the event the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale
does not close, we will evaluate alternatives with respect to our 2003 repayment obligation. In the meantime,
we believe that cash flow from operations, supplemented by other asset sales or borrowings will be adequate to
satisfy interest payments on outstanding debt. However, general economic conditions and financial, business
and other factors affect our operations and our future performance. Many of these factors are beyond our
control.

Management, Operational and Financial Restrictions

We have taken the necessary steps to strengthen management, improve our operations and enhance our
financial flexibility. In 2001, we completed the following:

° installed new senior management;
o redefined our strategic priorities to focus on value creation;

e initiated capital conservation steps and financial transactions, including the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale,
designed to de-leverage the Company and improve our cash flow allowing debt retirement and
reinvestment;

o undertook a comprehensive study of our core Venezuelan asset which focused on enhancing the value
of its production;

° built the Tucupita pipeline in Venezuela to reduce transportation costs;
o sought and received relief from certain restrictive provisions of our debt instruments;

o reduced our operating expenses, corporate overhead, moved our headquarters to Houston and
transferred engineering, geological and geophysical activities to our overseas offices; and

o proposed a change in our name to Harvest Natural Resources, Inc.

We continue to explore means by which to maximize stockholder value. On February 27, 2002, we
entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement (“Transaction”) to sell our entire 68 percent interest in Arctic
Gas Company (“Proposed Arctic Gas Sale”) to a nominee of the Yukos Oil Company, a Russian oil and gas
company, for $190 million plus approximately $30 million as repayment of inter-company loans owed to us by
Arctic Gas. On March 22, 2002, we were notified that the Transaction had received the requisite consents
from the Russian Ministry of Antimonopoly and Support for Entrepreneurship. On March 28, 2002, we
received the first payment ($120.0 million) of the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale proceeds. While no assurances
can be given, we expect that all aspects of the Transaction will be completed by April 2002.

The net proceeds expected to be realized from the sale, after expenses, taxes, and the settling of certain
related claims, is estimated to be approximately $150 million. These funds will be used, in part, to retire early
all of the $108 million of 11%:% senior notes, which are due in May 2003, in accordance with their terms and
without penalty. We intend to use any remaining net proceeds and cash received from the repayment of loans
to further reduce debt from time to time, accelerate our strategic growth in Venezuela and Russia, and for
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general corporate purposes. Retirement of all the outstanding 11%% notes eliminates $12.6 million, or
$0.37 per diluted share, of annual interest expense and should mitigate near-term concern about the
Company’s liquidity. These retirements, plus the gain on sale, will allow us to fulfill our previous commitment
to restore our balance sheet strength by reducing our debt-to-capitalization ratio from over 77% to the 41%
range (see Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of
Management, Operational and Financial Restrictions).

We possess significant producing properties in Venezuela, which we believe have yet to be optimized, and
valuable unexploited acreage in both Venezuela and Russia. We believe the eleven new wells drilled in the
South Tarasovskoye Field since July 2001 significantly increase the value of our Geoilbent properties. In
December 2001 and January 2002, we spudded the first two wells in our seven well Tucupita Field program in
Venezuela. We are evaluating the construction of additional processing and handling facilities and are in
discussions with an affiliate of Petroleos de Venezuela, S.A. (“PDVSA”) regarding a sales contract that may
allow for the first-time sale of natural gas in Venezuela by our affiliate.

- In May 2001, we initiated a process intended to effectively extend the maturity of the senior notes due
May 1, 2003 by exchanging new 13.125 percent senior notes due December 2007 plus warrants to purchase
shares of our common stock for each of the 2003 Notes. The exchange offer was withdrawn in July 2001.
However, in August 2001, we solicited and received the requisite consents from the holders of both the 2003
Notes and the 2007 Notes to amend certain covenants in the indentures governing the notes to enable Arctic
Gas Company to incur nonrecourse debt of up to $77 million to fund its oil and gas development program. As
an incentive to consent, we paid each noteholder an amount in cash equal to $2.50 per $1,000 principal
amount of notes held for which executed consents were received. The total amount of consent fees paid to the
consenting noteholders was $0.3 million, which has been included in 2001 general and administrative
expernses.

In June 2001, we implemented a plan designed to reduce overall general and administrative costs,
including exploration overhead, at our corporate headquarters and to transfer management oversight of
geological and geophysical activities to our overseas offices in Maturin, Venezuela and in Western Siberia and
Moscow, Russia. The reduction in general and administrative costs was accomplished by reducing our
headquarters staff and relocating our headquarters to Houston, Texas from Carpinteria, California. For 2001,
we recorded non-recurring items of $11.4 million; $5.7 million of which are included in general and
administrative expenses, $1.7 million of which are included in depletion, depreciation and amortization,
$3.2 million in operating expenses and $0.8 in taxes other than income. The general and administrative
expenses include $2.2 million on the withdrawn debt exchange, $2.2 million for severance and termination
benefits for 33 employees, $1.1 million for lease relinquishment expenses and $0.2 million for relocation costs
to Houston. Depletion, depreciation and amortization included $0.9 million for the reduction in the carrying
value of fixed assets that were not transferred to Houston and $0.8 million loss on subleasing the former
Carpinteria headquarters. All expenses were paid or accrued by December 31, 2001. The accrued balance of
$0.1 million will be paid in 2002. '

Operating Strategy

Our business strategy supports the steady investment, prudent risk management and timely harvest of
large hydrocarbon resources for attractive values. For the foreseeable future, we believe our best success will
be found in Venezuela and Russia, areas in which we have significant experience and expertise.

During 2001, our operating strategy was necessarily focused on improving the efficiency and efficacies of
our current operations in both Venezuela and Russia. Over the years, we have benefited from the significant
capital commitment made to these areas, but have suffered financially from sub-optimal operating, contracting
and risk management practices, which, for the most part, have been or are currently in the process of being
significantly improved, In Venezuela, we implemented new development and production plans at Benton-
Vinccler following an eight-month suspension of drilling and an extensive reservoir study, which resulted in
increased production, lower operating costs and added confidence in our future drilling plans to extend the life
and value of the field. We have also streamlined decision making, improved internal controls and implemented
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industry standard techniques to mitigate geologic, operating, financial and political risks attendant with doing
business in Venezuela.

In Russia, where we are a minority owner in Geoilbent, we are attempting to pursue a similar course with
the help of other interest owners, in order to improve operations and extend the life of the field, lower
operating costs and enhance financial results. These assets represent significant potential value for us, but
remain subject to sub-optimal operating conditions while our lack of majority control over its operations could
inhibit our ability to implement necessary changes in management, operations or financing matters.

In both Venezuela and Russia, and in other countries around the world, the development of local markets
for natural gas represents a significant opportunity for us. However, the development of these markets, in large
part, depends upon substantial capital investment by third parties in the infrastructure needed to produce,
gather, treat, transport, store and convert natural gas into marketable products. While this investment is
beginning to materialize in many of these markets, it will take many years, in some instances, to place such
assets into service. We are well positioned to benefit from the emergence of new regional gas markets in
proximity to our reserves.

Cur long-term strategy is to identify, access and exploit large resources of hydrocarbons in underexploited
areas around the world that can be developed at low overall finding costs, produced at low operating costs and
converted into proved reserves, production and value. While our success is dependent upon many factors both
within and outside of our control, in order to achieve this strategy, we must:

o continue to improve our financial flexibility and financing strategies;
o exploit our core assets in Venezuela and Russia; and
> seek and exploit new oil and natural gas resources in our core areas.

We intend to continue to seek and exploit new oil and natural gas reserves in current areas of interest
while working toward minimizing the associated financial and operating risks. To reduce these risks, not only
in seeking new reserves, but also with respect to our existing operations, we:

o Focus Our Efforts in Areas of Low Geologic Risk: We intend to focus our exploration and
development activities only in areas of known, proven hydrocarbons.

o Establish a Local Presence Through Joint Venture Partners and the Use of Local Personnel: We seek
to establish a local presence in our areas of operation to facilitate stronger relationships with local
government and labor. In addition, using local personnel helps us to take advantage of local knowledge
and experience and to minimize costs. In pursuing new opportunities, we will seek to enter at an early
stage and find local investment partners in an effort to reduce our risk in any one venture.

o Commit Capital in a Phased Manner to Limit Total Commitments at Any One Time: We often agree
to minimum capital expenditure or development commitments at the outset of new projects, but we
endeavor to structure such commitments so that we can fulfill them over time, thereby limiting our
initial cash outlay, as well as maximize the amount of local financing capacity to develop the
hydrocarbons and associated infrastructure.

Operations

The following table summarizes our proved reserves, drilling and production activity, and financial
operating data by principal geographic area at and for each of the three years ended December 31. All
Venezuelan reserves are attributable to an operating service agreement between Benton-Vinccler and an
affiliate of PDVSA under which all mineral rights are owned by the Government of Venezuela. Geoilbent and
Arctic Gas Company are accounted for under the equity method and have been included at their respective
ownership interest in our consolidated financial statements. Our year-end financial information contains results
from our Russian operations based on a twelve-month period ending September 30. Accordingly, our results of
operations for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 reflect results from Geoilbent for the twelve
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months ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, and from Arctic Gas for the twelve months ended
September 30, 2001 and 2000.

We own 80 percent of Benton-Vinccler. The reserve information presented below is net of a 20 percent
deduction for the minority interest in Benton-Vinccler. Drilling and production activity and financial data are
reflected without deduction for minority interest. Reserves include production projected through the end of the
operating service agreement in July 2012.

Benton-Vinecler
Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(Dollars in 000’s)

RESERVE INFORMATION:

Proved reserves (MBbls) ........ ... .. .. .. L L 83,611 98,431 107,969
Discounted future net cash flow attributable to proved
- reserves, before income taxes. . ...................... $176,210  $368,464  $521,346
- Standardized measure of future net cash flows ........... $163,328  $284,549  $380,863
! DRILLING AND PRODUCTION ACTIVITY:
Gross wellsdrilled. .......... .. ... .. . i 8 26 2
Average daily production (Bbls) ................. ... ... 26,788 25,585 26,485
FINANCIAL DATA:
Qil and natural gas revenues ............ . ..o, $122.38  $139,890 $ 89,060
Expenses:
Operating expenses and taxes other than on income .. .. 42,212 46,848 38,839
Depletion .o\t e 22,119 15,708 14,732
Income tax €XPensSe .. ... .ottt 8,932 19,768 3,822
Total XPENSES . . . v ottt 73,263 82,324 57,393

Results of operations from oil and natural gas producing
ACHIVILIES . . oot $ 49,123  $ 57,566 $ 31,667

We own 34 percent of Geoilbent, which we account for under the equity method. The following table
presents our proportionate share of Geoilbent’s proved reserves, drilling and production activity, and financial
operating data for the twelve months ended September 30, 2001, 2000, and 1999.

Geoilbent
Year Ended September 30,
2001 2000 1999

(Dollars in 0¢00’s)
RESERVE INFORMATION:

Proved reserves (MBbIs) ......... ... .. ... L 29,669 32,615 36,415
Discounted future net cash flow attributable to proved

reserves, before income taxes. ............... ... ...... $81,125  $140,160  $215,348
Standardized measure of future net cash flows ............ $70,648 $114,725 $169,077

DRILLING AND PRODUCTION ACTIVITY:

Gross development wells drilled ..................... ... 39 39 28
Net development wells drilled . ......................... 13 13 10
Average daily production (Bbls)............ .. ... ..... 4,830 3,945 3,975




Geoilbent
Year Ended September 30,
2001 2000 1999
(Dollars in 000’s)

FINANCIAL DATA:

Oil and natural gas revenues .. ............ ..., $34,394 % 26,770 $ 12,511
Expenses:
Selling and distribution expenses. ..................... 3,358 1,568 1,369
Operating expenses and taxes other than on income .. ... 12,671 9,548 4,274
Depletion . ... e 5,072 3,249 3,287
Income tax expense ...........c.oiiriiiiii 3,204 3,215 442
Total eXpenses . . ... ..ot 24,305 17,580 9,372
Results of operations from oil and natural gas producing
ACHVILIES . . ottt $10,089 $ 9,190 $ 3,139

As of December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, we owned, free of any sale and/or transfer restrictions, 39, 29
and 24 percent, respectively, of the equity interests in Arctic Gas, which we account for under the equity
method. The following table presents our proportionate share, free of sale and transfer restrictions, of Arctic
Gas’s proved reserves, drilling and production activity, and financial operating data for the twelve months
ended September 30, 2001 and 2000.

Arctic Gas Company
Year Ended September 30,
2001 2000 1999
(Doliars in 000’s)

RESERVE INFORMATION:

Proved reserves (MBOE) ........ ... .. i 55,631 41,236 3,714
Discounted future net cash flow attributable to proved
reserves, before inCome taxes. .. ....ovvier e, $108,400 $74,517  $8,241
Standardized measure of future net cash flows . ............. $ 82,205 $56,880 $6,336
DRILLING AND PRODUCTION ACTIVITY:
Gross wells reactivated . . .......... ... . i 2 4 —
Average daily production (BOE) ........... ... ... .. .... 502 134 —_
FINANCIAL DATA:
Oil and natural gas revenues . ..., $ 4016 $ 839 § —
Expenses:
Selling and distribution expenses. ....................... 1,165 — —
Operating expenses and taxes other than on income ....... 2,215 604 —
Depletion . ...t 311 78 —
Total XPeNSES . oo v vv v et 3,691 682 —
Results of operations from oil and natural gas producing
ACHVILIES « . o vt $ 325§ 207 § —

South Monagas Unit, Venezuela (Bernton-Vinccler)
General

In July 1992, Benton and Venezolana de Inversiones y Construcciones Clerico, C.A., a Venezuelan
construction and engineering company (“Vinccler”), signed a 20-year operating service agreement with
Petroleo y Gas, S.A., an affiliate of PDVSA to reactivate and further develop the Uracoa, Tucupita and
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Bombal Fields. These fields comprise the South Monagas Unit. We were the first U.S. company since 1976 to
be granted such an oil field development contract in Venezuela.

The oil and natural gas operations in the South Monagas Unit are conducted by Benton-Vinccler, our
80 percent-owned subsidiary. The remaining 20 percent of the outstanding capital stock of Benton-Vinccler is
owned by Vinccler. Through our majority ownership of stock in Benton-Vinceler, we make all operational and
corporate decisions related to Benton-Vinccler, subject to certain super-majority provisions of Benton-
Vinccler’s charter documents related to:

° mergers,
= consolidations;

o sales of substantially all of its corporate assets;
> change of business; and

o similar major corporate events.

Vinccler has an extensive operating history in Venezuela. It provided Benton-Vinccler with initial
financial assistance and significant construction services. Vinccler continues to provide ongoing assistance with
construction projects, governmental and labor relations.

Under the terms of the operating service agreement, Benton-Vinccler is a contractor for PDVSA.
Benton-Vinccler is responsible for overall operations of the South Monagas Unit, including all necessary
investments to reactivate and develop the fields comprising the South Monagas Unit. The Venezuelan
government maintains full ownership of all hydrocarbons in the fields. In addition, PDVSA maintains full
ownership of equipment and capital infrastructure following its installation. Benton-Vinccler invoices PDVSA
each quarter based on barrels of oil accepted by PDVSA during the quarter, using quarterly adjusted contract
service fees per barrel. Benton-Vinccler receives its payments from PDVSA in U.S. dollars deposited directly
into a U.S. bank account. The operating service agreement provides for Benton-Vinccler to receive an
operating fee for each barrel of crude oil delivered. It also provides Benton-Vinccler with the right to receive a
capital recovery fee for certain of its capital expenditures, provided that such operating fee and capital
recovery fee cannot exceed the maximum total fee per barrel set forth in the agreement. The operating fee is
subject to quarterly adjustments to reflect changes in the special energy index of the U.S. Consumer Price
Index. The maximum total fee is subject to quarterly adjustments to reflect changes in the average of certain
world crude oil prices.

In December 1999, Benton-Vinccler entered into an alliance with Schlumberger for the Uracoa field
which includes reservoir modeling, drilling and downhole electrical pumping. The alliance gives us access to
Schlumberger’s technical resources and personnel and provides financial incentives for Schlumberger based on
their performance. The incentives are designed to reduce drilling costs, improve initial production rates of new
wells and increase the average life of downhole pumps. Schlumberger maintains a full-time staff at Benton-
Vinccler’s office as part of this agreement. We signed an amendment to the alliance in 2001 whereby
Schlumberger agreed to provide drilling and completion services for new wells utilizing fixed lump-sum
pricing. The amended alliance continues to provide incentives to Schlumberger designed to improve initial
production rates of new wells and to increase the average life of the downhole pumps.

We drilled eight oil wells in 2001. As part of our strategic shift in focus on the value of the barrels
produced, we suspended the development drilling program for a period of approximately eight months starting
in January 2001. During this period, with the assistance of alliance partner Schlumberger, all aspects of
operations were thoroughly reviewed to integrate field performance to date with revised computer simulation
modeling and improved well completion technology. We believe this helped to produce a streamlined and
more effective infill drilling and well workover program that is part of an overall reservoir management
strategy.




Location and Geology

The South Monagas Unit extends across the southeastern part of the state of Monagas and the
southwestern part of the state of Delta Amacuro in eastern Venezuela. The South Monagas Unit is
approximately 51 miles long and eight miles wide and consists of 157,843 acres, of which the fields comprise
approximately one-half. At December 31, 2001, proved reserves attributable to our Venezuelan operations
were 104,514 MBbls (83,611 MBbls net to Benton). This represented approximately 50 percent of our proved
reserves. Benton-Vinccler has been primarily developing the Oficina sands in the Uracoa Field. The Uracoa
Field contains 70 percent of the South Monagas Unit’s proved reserves. In December 2001, Benton-Vinccler
began the development of the Tucupita Field. We intend to drill seven oil wells and two water injection wells
in the Tucupita Field during 2002. Benton-Vinccler is currently reinjecting most of the associated natural gas
produced at Uracoa back into the reservoir.

Natural Gas Sale Negotiations

We are currently in discussions with PDVSA regarding the negotiation of a contract contemplating the
sale of natural gas produced from the South Monagas Unit. Benton-Vinccler anticipates natural gas from the
Uracoa and Bombal Fields could be dedicated to PDVSA over the remaining life of the operating service
agreement. If the parties reach an agreement, construction of a pipeline, compressor and other necessary
infrastructure may be required in order to deliver natural gas to PDVSA in accordance with agreed
specifications. However, there are no assurances that a natural gas contract will result from these negotiations.

Drilling and Development Activity

Benton-Vinccler drilled 8 wells and had an average of 133 wells on production in all fields in 2001.

Uracoa Field

Benton-Vinccler has been developing the South Monagas Unit since 1992, beginning with the Uracoa
Field. The following table sets forth the Uracoa Field drilling activity and production information for each of
the quarters presented:

Wells Drilled Average Daily
Vertical Horizentai Production from Field (Bbls)

1999:
First Quarter .......... i, — — 24,300
Second Quarter ........... ..o — — 22,800
Third Quarter ......... . ... ... ... . ..., — — 21,300
Fourth Quarter ........... ... ... ... .... — — 21,000
2000:
First Quarter ............ .. oooiiiinoon. 6 — 19,800
Second Quarter .......... ... ... 9 1 20,500
Third Quarter ......... ... ... .. ... ... 2 3 21,900
Fourth Quarter ............. ..o ouiin.en. 2 3 23,100
2001:
First Quarter ........ ..o, — — 26,100
Second Quarter .......... ..., — — 20,500
Third Quarter ........ ... .. ... ot.. 2 — 19,700
Fourth Quarter .......................... 5 1 20,700

In 1998, we developed a geologic and reservoir simulation study which indicated the viability of multiple
additional primary infill wells in the Uracoa Field. We believe many of these new locations are in
underdeveloped sands where the model may help to optimize well spacing and location. In the more developed
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areas of the field, we used the model to verify our economic assumptions regarding infill locations. In the first
quarter of 2001, we began a comprehensive technical review of the South Monagas Unit that includes the
completion of an extensive geologic and reservoir computer simulation study which we believe will assist in
optimizing field management. The computer simulation study, built jointly with Schlumberger, may update
and extend the 1998 study performed on a portion of the Uracoa Field to the entire South Monagas Unit. It
will incorporate all new geologic and reservoir information as well as the total production and drilling history
from the more mature Uracoa Field and the underdeveloped Tucupita and Bombal Fields. We expect several
benefits from the study including an optimum production profile of oil and gas, a revised water and natural gas
injection strategy, more efficient development locations and improved well completion techniques. We
anticipate completing a revised Uracoa Field development plan, incorporating the results of this study, in mid-
2002.

Since 1992, we have reactivated 15 previously drilled wells and drilled 147 new wells in the Uracoa Field
using improved drilling and completion techniques that had not previously been utilized on the field. Of the
new wells drilled, 6 wells were drilled as water or natural gas injector wells and an additional 6 producing wells
have been converted into injection wells. Two of the drilled injector wells were subsequently converted into
producing wells.

We process the oil, water and natural gas produced from the Uracoa Field in the Uracoa central
processing unit. We ship the processed oil via pipeline to the PDVSA custody transfer point. We treat and
filter produced water, and then re-inject it into the aquifer to assist the natural water drive. We re-inject
natural gas into the natural gas cap primarily for storage conservation. The major components of the state-of-
the-art process facility were designed in the United States and installed by Benton-Vinccler. This process
design is commonly used in heavy oil production in the United States, but was not previously used extensively
in Venezuela to process crude oil of similar gravity or quality. The current production facility has capacity to
handle 60 MBbls of oil per day, 130 MBbls of water per day, and 50 Mcf of natural gas per day.

In August 1999, Benton-Vinccler sold its power generation facility located in the Uracoa Field for
$15.1 million. Concurrently with the sale, Benton-Vinccler entered into a long-term power purchase
agreement with the purchaser of the facility to provide for the electrical needs of the field throughout the
remaining term of the operating service agreement.

Tucupita and Bombal Fields

Before becoming inactive in 1987, the Tucupita Field had been substantially developed. It had produced
67.1 MMBbIs of oil, 34.7 MMBbls of water and 17.6 Bcf of natural gas. Benton-Vinccler drilled a successful
pilot horizontal well in late 1996 to evaluate the remaining development potential of the Tucupita Field. This
well has produced 1.9 MMBbIs of oil at an average rate of 987 Bbls of oil per day. The early success of this
pilot horizontal well led to the drilling of a second horizontal well in 1998. Initial oil rates from the horizontal
wells were encouraging, but water production soon increased sharply. As a result, we changed the redevelop-
ment strategy to include drilling deviated wells to allow for more effective water shut-off. During the second
half of 1998, we drilled five deviated infill wells to target undepleted portions of the field and reactivated an
additional nine wells. All five drilled wells encountered high oil saturations, with an average initial production
rate of 922 Bbls of oil per day. In 2001, we reactivated nine wells in Tucupita and identified seven new well
locations in what we believe are undepleted portions of the Tucupita Field, which we anticipate drilling in
2002. As a result of our analysis of the potential in the Tucupita Field, and for environmental and safety
reasons, we constructed a $10.3 million, 31-mile, 20,000 Bbl per day capacity oil pipeline from Tucupita to the
Uracoa central processing unit in 2001.

We are reinjecting produced water from Tucupita into the aquifer to aid the natural water drive, and we
utilize a portion of the associated natural gas to operate a power generation facility.

To date, we have drilled one well in the Bombal Field and reactivated another. The Bombal Field is now
shut-in. We are currently evaluating the future development plan for Bombal in light of our negotiations with
PDVSA concerning the sale of natural gas.
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Customers and Market Information

Oil produced in Venezuela is delivered to PDVSA under the terms of an operating service agreement for
an operating service fee. Benton-Vinccler has constructed a 25-mile oil pipeline from its oil processing
facilities at Uracoa to PDVSA’s storage facility. This is the custody transfer point. The service agreement
specifies that the oil stream may contain no more than one percent base sediment and water. Quality
measurements are conducted both at Benton-Vinccler’s facilities and at PDVSA’s storage facility. We
installed a continuous flow measuring unit at our facility to closely monitor the quantities of hydrocarbons
delivered to PDVSA. This flow measuring unit was completed in January 2002. PDVSA provides Benton-
Vinccler with a daily acknowledgment regarding the amount of oil accepted during the previous day. At the
end of each quarter, Benton-Vinccler prepares an invoice to PDVSA for that quarter’s deliveries. PDVSA
pays the invoice by the end of the second month after the end of the quarter. Invoice amounts and payments
are denominated in U.S. dollars. Payments are wire transferred into Benton-Vinccler’s account in a
commercial bank in the United States.

Natural gas produced by Benton-Vinccler is currently re-injected or used as fuel gas in operations. We
are currently in negotiations with PDVSA for sale of natural gas in the South Monagas Unit. There are no
assurances that natural gas contracts will result from these negotiations.

Employees and Community Relations

Benton-Vinccler has a highly skilled staff of predominately Venezuelan nationals. Benton-Vinccler has
also formed successful and supportive relationships with local government agencies and communities. There
are 174 local employees and 5 expatriates working at Benton-Vinccler.

Benton-Vinccler has invested in a Social Community Program that includes medical care programs such
as in ophthalmologic and dental care. From 1994 to 2001, a total of 340 eye surgeries were performed on
patients ranging in age from two to eighty-five years, solely as a result of financial assistance provided by
Benton-Vinccler. The dental program focuses on comprehensive dental care for public school children. From
1994 to 2001, the program has involved approximately 1,825 children. Additional social investments include
sponsoring the purchase of medicines and medical equipment in local communities within the South Monagas
Unit, as well as supporting local schools, education programs and environmental improvements.

Health, Safety and Environment

Benton-Vinccler’s health, safety and environmental policy is an integral part of its business. Annually,
improvements have been made in operating performance, personnel safety, property protection and environ-
mental management. These improvements can be directly attributed to the efforts in accident prevention
programs and the training and implementation of a comprehensive Process Safety Management System.

North Gubkinskoye and South Tarasovskoye, Russia (Geoilbent)
General

In December 1991, the joint venture agreement forming Geoilbent was registered with the Ministry of
Finance of the USSR. Geoilbent’s ownership is as follows:

o Benton owns 34 percent;
o Open Joint Stock Company Minley (“Minley”) owns 66 percent.

In November 1993, the agreement was registered with the Russian Agency for International Cooperation
and Development. Geoilbent was later re-chartered as a limited liability company. We believe that we have
developed a good relationship with our shareholder and have not experienced any disagreements on major
operational matters. Purneftegazgeologia and Purneftegas (co-founding shareholders) contributed their
interest to Minley in 2001. We are reviewing ways to improve the operations, but we are a minority partner
and therefore may not be able to fully effect changes in operations, if indicated by our review. Geoilbent
shareholder action requires a 67 percent majority vote of its shareholders.
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Location and Geology

Geoilbent develops, produces and markets crude oil from the North Gubkinskoye and South Tarasov-
skoye Fields in the West Siberia region of Russia, located approximately 2,000 miles northeast of Moscow.
Large proven oil and gas fields surround all four of Geoilbent’s licenses.

The North Gubinskoye Field is included inside a license block of 167,086 acres, an area approximately
15 miles long and four miles wide. The field has been delineated with over 60 exploratory wells, which tested
26 separate reservoirs. The field is a large anticlinal structure with multiple pay sands. The development to
date has focused on the BP §, 9, 10, 11 and 12 reservoirs with minor development in the BP 6 and 7 reservoirs.
Geoilbent is currently flaring the produced natural gas in accordance with environmental regulations, although
it is exploring alternatives to market the natural gas.

The South Tarasovskoye Field is located a few miles southeast of North Gubinskoye Field and straddles
the eastern boundary of the Urabor Yakhinsky exploration block acquired by Geoilbent in 1998. It is
estimated a majority of the field is situated within the block. The remaining portion of the field falls within a
license block owned by Purneftegaz. Production began in early 2001 from a discovery well drilled close to the
boundary by Purneftegaz. Only 521 of Geoilbent’s 763,558 acres in this field are reflected as proved-developed
acres.

Geoilbent also holds rights to two more license blocks comprising 426,199 acres in the West Siberia
region of Russia.

Drilling and Development Activity

Geoilbent commenced initial operations in the North Gubinskoye Field during the third quarter of 1992
with the construction of a 37-mile oil pipeline and installation of temporary production facilities. During 2001,
approximately 110 wells were producing with 29 injection wells. Drilling in South Tarasovskoye Field began at
the end of May 2001. The first well was completed on July 23, 2001 for an initial production rate of 1,695 Bbls
oil per day. In 2001, Geoilbent drilled 11 wells at an average production rate of 880 Bbls oil per day. By the
end of 2001, total production from the 11 wells was 9,700 Bbls oil per day. Plans are to drill between 50 to
60 more wells by 2005 to more fully develop the portion of the field within the Urabor block.

The following table sets forth drilling activity and production information for each of the quarters
presented:

Average Daily
Wells Dritled Production from Field (Bbls)

1999:
First Quarter. .. ... 5 10,500
Second Quarter ............. ... . ... .. e 6 11,400
Third Quarter .......... ... .. 8 13,000
Fourth Quarter . ....... .. ... ... ... .. i, 9 13,200
2000:
First Quarter. . ... ...t 2 11,200
Second Quarter ............. i 12 12,700
Third Quarter . ........ .. i 15 13,900
Fourth Quarter .......... ... ... ... ... ... o ... 10 14,700
2001:
First Quarter. ...t 7 13,900
Second Quarter ......... .. . 8 13,300
Third Quarter ........ ... . 12 14,700
Fourth Quarter........... ... ... .. 12 14,900




Geoilbent contracts with third parties for drilling and completion of wells. To date, 38 previously dritled
wells have been reactivated and 153 wells have been drilled in the field. A total of 129 wells, or 84 percent,
have been completed and placed on production, 20 of which were converted to water injection wells. Each well
is drilled to an average measured depth of approximately 9,000 feet and an average true vertical depth of
8,000 feet. The current production facilities are operating at or near capacity and will need to be expanded to
accommodate production increases.

Geoilbent transports oil produced from the North Gubkinskoye Field to production facilities constructed
and owned by Geoilbent. It then transfers the oil to Geoilbent’s 37-mile pipeline, which transports the oil from
the North Gubkinskoye Field south to the main Russian oil pipeline network.

Geoilbent has obtained financing through a $65 million parallel loan facility for the development of the
North Gubkinskoye Field from the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“EBRD”) and the-
International Moscow Bank. A total of $48.5 million had been advanced from the loan facility. Debt
outstanding under the facility at December 31, 2001 was $38.6 million. As of September 30, 2001, Geoilbent
was not in compliance with the current ratio covenant but received a waiver from EBRD through March 31,
2002.

Geoilbent has reduced its 2002 capital budget to approximately $16.6 million, of which $2.7 million is for
the North Gubkinskoye Field, $9.7 million is for the South Tarakovskoye Field, $2.2 million is to carry out
seismic and related exploration activity and $2.0 million is for natural gas plant economic, technical and
feasibility studies. Geoilbent’s 2002 operating budget includes $16 million for principal payments on the loan
facility. In addition, Geoilbent had outstanding accounts payable of $26.6 million as of December 31, 2001,
primarily to contractors and vendors for drilling and construction services.

Although Geoilbent’s reduced capital expenditure budget may help to alleviate any shortfall of funds
available to make payments to the banks and its creditors as those payments come due, it is uncertain that
Geoilbent’s cash flow from operations will be sufficient to do so, and it may be necessary for Geoilbent to
obtain capital contributions from its partners, including the Company, to have sufficient funds to make these
payments on a timely basis. Although the Company may consider making such a capital contribution, there
can be no assurances that the Company will do so, nor can there be any assurances that Geoilbent’s other
partner will be willing or able to do so. Under Russian law, a creditor can force a company into involuntary
bankruptcy if the company’s payments have been due for more than 90 days.

Customers and Market Information

Geoilbent’s 37-mile pipeline runs from the field to the main pipeline in the area where Geoilbent transfers
the oil to Transneft, the state oil pipeline monopoly. Transneft then transports the oil to the western border of
Russia for export sales or to various domestic locations for non-export sales. Trading companies such as
Rosneftegasexport handle all export oil sales. All export sales have been paid in U.S. dollars into Geoilbent’s
account in Moscow. Domestic sales are paid in Russian Rubles. During 2001, Geoilbent sold approximately
49 percent of its production in the export market and 51 percent in the domestic market. Excise, pipeline and
other tariffs and taxes continue to be levied on all oil producers and certain exporters, including an oil export
tariff that decreased in 2002 to $8.00 per ton (approximately $1.10 per barrel) from 23.4 Euros per ton
(approximately $2.85 per barrel). We are unable to predict the impact of taxes, duties and other burdens for
the future for our Russian operations.

Employees; Community and Country Relations

Geoilbent employs Russian nationals almost exclusively. Presently, there are two full-time expatriates
working with Geoilbent and 700 local employees. We have conducted community relations programs,
providing medical care, training, equipment and supplies in towns in which Geoilbent personnel reside and
also for the nomadic indigenous population which reside in the area of oilfield operations.
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East Urengoy, Russia (Arctic Gas Company)
General

See The Proposed Sale of Arctic Gas Company, if Closed, Will Reduce the Impact of Leverage in
Item 7 — Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and
Note 16 to the Audited Financial Statements in Item 14 — Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and
Reports on Form 8-K.

Arctic Gas Company, formerly Severneftegaz, was formed in 1992 as a private company to explore and
develop the Samburg and Yevo-Yakha License Blocks. The Samburg and Yevo-Yakha License Blocks are
located within the West Siberian Basin, the world’s largest sedimentary basin, which contains a significant
portion of the world’s natural gas reserves. Both license blocks are on the eastern flank of the giant Urengoy
natural gas field, which currently produces hydrocarbons from Cenomanian reservoirs. Under the terms of
agreements signed in April 1998, we acquired a 40 percent interest in Arctic Gas in return for providing or
arranging up to $100 million of credit financing for the project. Our agreements impose restrictions on the sale
and transfer of these shares subject to disbursements under the credit financing and provide that for every
$2.5 million of credit made available, 1 percent of the interest will be released from the restrictions.

As of December 31, 2001, we had provided $28.5 million of credit, of which $28.1 million had been
applied to the release of restrictions on the shares. As a result, we removed restrictions from shares
representing an approximate 11 percent equity interest. From 1998 through December 2001, we separately
purchased shares representing an additional 28 percent equity interest not subject to any sale or transfer
restrictions. Including the additional purchased shares, as of December 31, 2001, we owned a total of
68 percent of the voting shares of Arctic Gas, of which 39 percent was not subject to restrictions.

The following table summarizes our ownership interests of Arctic Gas Company:

As of

December 31,

2001 2000
Shares released from restrictions . . ...ttt e 11% 9%
Additional purchased shares .......... ... ... ... .. il 28%  20%
Total shares not subject to TeSIHCHONS . . .. ...ttt e 39% 29%
Shares subject t0 TeSITICHIONS . . ..ot vttt e it e 29%  31%
Total OoWnership . . ... e 68%  60%

In February 2002, we announced the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale. On March 22, 2002, we were notified
that the Transaction had received the requisite consents from the Russian Ministry for Antimonopoly Policy
and Support for Entrepreneurship. On March 28, 2002, we received the first payment ($120.0 million) of the
Proposed Arctic Gas Sale proceeds.

Location and Geology

The Samburg and Yevo-Yakha License Blocks comprise 794,972 acres and are situated approximately
150 miles north of our Geoilbent affiliates’ operations in the Yamal-Nenets Autonomous Region of Russia.
The towns and communities of Novy Urengoy, Samburg, Urengoy and Nyda are located near the two licenses.
Extensive exploration drilling and testing (over 90 wells) on the Samburg and Yevo-Yakha licenses has
resulted in the discovery of major resources of natural gas, condensate and oil. The primary reservoirs of these
fields are currently being produced in both the adjacent Urengoy Field and Rospan Block.

Drilling and Development Activity

Arctic Gas has reactivated 8 previously drilled oil wells through March 23, 2002. We are trucking oil to
storage facilities where it is collected for sale. Arctic Gas is currently producing approximately 2,700 Bbis of
oil per day.
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The following table sets forth reactivation activity and production information for each of the quarters
presented:

Wells Average Daily
Reactivated Preduction from Field (Bbls)

2000:

First Quarter .. ...t — 400

Second Quarter . ...........c. i 2 940

Third Quarter . ...t 1 1,500

Fourth Quarter ....... .. ... ... . ... . . . . 1 1,700
2001:

First Quarter ....... ... i 1 1,300

Second Quarter . ...... ... — 1,000

Third Quarter . ........ ... . — 2,300

Fourth Quarter .......... .. ... i .. 1 2,100

Arctic Gas is currently planning for a Samburg oil and natural gas pilot development project. The pilot
project calls for:

o drilling new wells;
o installing natural gas processing facilities; and
o connecting into the export pipeline system.

The Arctic Gas blocks are located in the heart of the Urengoy/Yamburg producing and support
infrastructure region and are well situated for development. Natural gas export trunklines are located 11
kilometers from the blocks. Arctic Gas and Gazprom have entered into agreements to allow access to existing
oil, liquids and natural gas pipelines and facilities that could potentially result in product sales to domestic and
export markets. See Note 16 to the Audited Financial Statements in ltem 14 — Exhibits, Financial Statement
Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K. Arctic Gas had entered into contracts with various parties concerning the
export of natural gas. All natural gas contracts have been cancelled pursuant to the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale.

Further development activities are subject to the pace and scope of Arctic Gas’s internally generated
funds and to our ability to provide or arrange further funding.

Employees;, Community and Country Relations

Arctic Gas is a Russian company that employs Russian nationals almost exclusively. Presently, there are
2 full-time expatriates working with Arctic Gas and 161 local employees. We have conducted community
relations programs in Russia, providing medical care, training, equipment and supplies in towns in which
Arctic Gas personnel reside and also for the nomadic indigenous population which reside in the area of oilfield
operations.

WAB-21, South China Sea (Benton Offshore Ching Company)
General

In December 1996, we acquired Crestone Energy Corporation, a privately held company headquartered
in Denver, Colorado, subsequently renamed Benton Offshore China Company. Its principal asset is a
petroleum contract with China National Offshore Gil Corporation (“CNOQOC”) for the WAB-21 area. The
WAB-21 petroleum contract covers 6.2 million acres in the South China Sea, with an option for an additional
1.0 million acres under certain circumstances, and lies within an area which is the subject of a territorial
dispute between the People’s Republic of China and Vietnam. Vietnam has executed an agreement on a
portion of the same offshore acreage with Conoco Inc. The dispute has lasted for many years, and there has
been limited exploration and no development activity in the area under dispute.
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We cannot predict how or when, if at all, this dispute will be resolved or whether it would result in our
interest being reduced.

Location and Geology

The WAB-21 contract area is located approximately 50 miles southeast of the Dai Hung (Big Bear) Oil
Field. The block is adjacent to British Petroleum’s giant natural gas discovery at Lan Tay (Red Orchid) and
100 miles north of Exxon’s Natuna Discovery. The contract area covers several similar structural trends, each
with potential for hydrocarbon reserves in possible multiple pay zones.

Drilling and Development Activity

Due to the sovereignty issues, we have been unable to pursue an exploration program during phase one of
the contract. As a result, we have obtained extensions, with the current extension in effect until May 31, 2003.

Domestic Operations

In April and May 2000, we entered into agreements with Coastline Energy Corporation (“Coastline”) for
the purpose of acquiring, exploring and developing oil and natural gas prospects both onshore and in the state
waters of the Gulf Coast states of Texas, Louisiana and Mississippi. We acquired a 100 percent working
interest in the Lakeside Exploration Prospect in Cameron Parish, Louisiana. We farmed out 90 percent of the
working interest in the prospect for $0.5 million cash and a 16.2 percent carried interest in the first well. We
anticipate that drilling of the well may commence in 2002. The agreement with Coastline was terminated on
August 31, 2001. However, certain ongoing operations related to the Lakeside Exploration Prospect are
conducted by Coastline on a consulting basis.

In March 1997, we acquired a 40 percent participation interest in three California State offshore oil and
natural gas leases (“California Leases”) from Molino Energy Company, LLC (“Molino Energy”), which
held 100 percent of these leases. The project area covers the Molino, Gaviota and Caliente Fields, located
approximately 35 miles west of Santa Barbara, California. In consideration of the 40 percent participation
interest in the California Leases, we became the operator of the project and agreed to pay 100 percent of the
first $3.7 million and 53 percent of the remainder of the costs of the first well drilled on the block. During
1998, the 2199 #7 exploratory well was drilled to the Gaviota anticline. Drill stem tests proved to be
inconclusive or non-commercial, and the well was temporarily abandoned for further evaluation. In November
1998, we entered into an agreement to acquire Molino Energy’s interest in the California Leases in exchange
for the release of their joint interest billing obligations. In the fourth quarter of 1999, we decided to focus our
capital expenditures on existing producing properties and fulfilling work commitments associated with our
other properties. Because we had no firm approved plans to continue drilling on the California Leases and the
2199 #7 exploratory well did not result in commercial reserves, we wrote off all of the capitalized costs
associated with the California Leases of $9.2 million and the joint interest receivable of $3.1 million due from
Molino Energy at December 31, 1999. However, we continue to evaluate the prospect for potential future
drilling activities.
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Activities by Area

The following table summarizes our consolidated activities by area. Total Assets represents all assets
including long-lived assets accounted under the equity method:

Other Total
Venezueia Foreign Foreign United States Total

(In thousands)

Year ended December 31, 2001

Oilsales ...................... $122,386 $122,386 $122,386
Total Assets ................... $167,671  $100,801  $268,472 $79,679 $348,151
Year ended December 31, 2000
Oil and natural gas sales ........ $139,890 $139,890 $ 394 $140,284
Total Assets ................... $166,462 § 78,406  $244,868 $41,579 $286,447
Year ended December 31, 1999
Oilsales ...............ov... $ 89,060 $ 89,060 $ 89,060
Total Assets . .................. $124942 $ 61,989  $186,931 $239,380 $276,311
Reserves

Estimates of our proved reserves as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 were prepared by Ryder Scott
Company, LP, independent petroleum engineers. In prior years, reserve estimates were prepared by us and
audited by Huddleston & Co., Inc., independent petroleum engineers. The following table sets forth
information regarding estimates of proved reserves at December 31, 2001. The Venezuelan information
includes reserve information net of a 20 percent deduction for the minority interest in Benton-Vinccler. All
Venezuelan reserves are attributable to an operating service agreement between Benton-Vinccler and
PDVSA, under which all mineral rights are owned by the Government of Venezuela. Although we estimate
that there are substantial natural gas reserves in the Benton-Vinccler properties in Venezuela and the license
blocks held by Geoilbent, no natural gas reserves have been recorded as of December 31, 2001 because of a
lack of sales and/or transportation contracts in place. Geoilbent and Benton-Vinccler are currently evaluating
alternatives to market this natural gas. Natural gas proved reserves have been recognized for Arctic Gas,
which has transportation and marketing contracts in place. The marketing contracts were cancelled in
anticipation of the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale. See Note 16 to the Audited Financial Statements in Item 14 —
Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K. The cancellation will have an impact on
the Equity Affiliate-Russia reserves found on Table IV — Quantities of Oil and Natural Gas Reserves.

Net Crude Oil and Condensate (MBbls)

Proved Proved
Developed Undeveloped Total
Venezuela . .. ... .. . 41,172 42,439 83,611 .
Geoilbent ... ... e 15,658 14,011 29,669
Arctic Gas(1) ..ot 2,484 18,479 20,963
Total e e 59,314 74,929 134,243

Net Natural Gas (MMcf)

Proved Proved
Developed Undeveloped Total
Arctic Gas(1) ..o 21,292 186,718 208,010

(1) Based on 39 percent ownership not subject to restrictions as of December 31, 2001.
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Estimates of commercially recoverable oil and natural gas reserves and of the future net cash flows
derived therefrom are based upon a number of variable factors and assumptions, such as:

o historical production from the subject properties;
o comparison with other producing properties;
o the assumed effects of regulation by governmental agencies; and

° assumptions concerning future operating costs, severance and excise taxes, export tariffs, abandonment
costs, development costs and workover and remedial costs, all of which may vary considerably from
actual results.

All such estimates are to some degree speculative, and various classifications of reserves are only attempts
to define the degree of speculation involved. For these reasons, estimates of the commercially recoverable
reserves of oil attributable to any particular property or group of properties, the classification, cost and risk of
recovering such reserves and estimates of the future net cash flows expected therefrom, prepared by different
engineers or by the same engineers at different times may vary substantially. The difficulty of making precise
estimates is accentuated by the fact that 63 percent of our total proved reserves were undeveloped as of
December 31, 2001.

Therefore, the following costs will likely vary from our estimates and such variances may be material:
o actual production;

. oil sales;

o severance and excise taxes;

o export tariffs;

o development expenditures;

o workover and remedial expenditures;

o abandonment expenditures; and

= operating expenditures.

Reserve estimates are not constrained by the availability of the capital resources required to finance the
estimated development and operating expenditures.

In addition, actual future net cash flows will be affected by factors such as:
o gctual production;

o supply and demand for oil and natural gas;

> availability and capacity of gathering systems and pipelines;

. changes in governmental regulations or taxation; and

> the impact of inflation on costs.

The timing of actual future net oil sales and natural gas from proved reserves, and thus their actual
present value, can be affected by the timing of the incurrence of expenditures in connection with development
of oil and gas properties. The 10 percent discount factor, which is required by the SEC to be used to calculate
present value for reporting purposes, is not necessarily the most appropriate discount factor based on interest
rates in effect from time to time and risks associated with the oil and natural gas industry. Discounted present
value, no matter what discount rate is used, is materially affected by assumptions as to the amount and timing
of future production, which assumptions may and often do prove to be inaccurate. For the period ending
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December 31, 2001, we reported $365.7 million of discounted future net cash flows before income taxes from
proved reserves based on the SEC’s required calculations.

Production, Prices and Lifting Cost Summary

In the following table we have set forth by country our net production, average sales prices and average
lifting costs for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999. The presentation for Venezuela includes
100 percent of the production, without deduction for minority interest. Geoilbent (34 percent ownership) and
Arctic Gas (39 percent, 29 percent and 24 percent ownership not subject to any sale or transfer restrictions at
December 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively), which are accounted for under the equity method, have been
included at their respective ownership interest in the consolidated financial statements based on a fiscal period
ending September 30 and, accordingly, our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000
and 1999 reflect results from Geoilbent for the twelve months ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999, and
from Arctic Gas for the twelve months ended September 30, 2001 and 2000.

Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Venezuela
Net Crude Cil Production (Bbls) .................... 9,777,516 9,364,088 9,666,958
Average Crude Oil Sales Price ($ per Bbl) ............ $12.52 $14.94 $9.21
Average Lifting Costs ($ per Bbl) ................... $ 4.30 $ 5.01 $4.02
Geoilbent
Average Crude Oil Production (Bbls) ........... oo 1,762,814 1,444,181 1,451,000
Average Crude Oil Sales Price (S per Bbl) ............ $19.51 $18.54 $8.62
Average Lifting Costs ($ per Bbl) ................... $ 2.17 $ 2.31 $1.02
Arctic Gas
Net Crude Qil Production (Bbls) .................... 183,087 48,833 —
Average Crude Oil Sales Price ($ per Bbl) ............ $21.93 $18.20 —
Average Lifting Costs ($ per Bbl) ................... $ 7.42 $ 597 —
Regulation
General

Our operations are affected by political developments and laws and regulations in the areas in which we
operate. In particular, oil and natural gas production operations and economics are affected by:

o change in governments;

 price and currency controls;

° limitations on oil and natural gas production;

o world demand for crude oil;

o tax and other laws relating to the petroleum industry;
o changes in such laws; and

o changes in administrative regulations and the interpretation and application of such rules and
regulations.

In addition, various federal, state, local and international laws and regulations covering the discharge of
materials into the environment, the disposal of oil and natural gas wastes, or otherwise relating to the
protection of the environment, may affect our operations and costs. In any country in which we may do
business, the oil and natural gas industry legislation and agency regulation is periodically changed for a variety
of political, economic, environmental and other reasons. Numerous governmental departments and agencies
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issue rules and regulations binding on the oil and natural gas industry, some of which carry substantial
penalties for the failure to comply. The regulatory burden on the oil and natural gas industry increases our cost
of doing business.

Venezuela

Venezuela requires environmental and other permits for certain operations conducted in oil field
development, such as site construction, drilling, and seismic activities. As a contractor to PDVSA, Benton-
Vinccler submits capital and operating budgets to PDVSA for approval. Capital expenditures to comply with
Venezuelan environmental regulations relating to the reinjection of natural gas in the field and water disposal
were $0.1 million in 2001 and $1.1 million in 2000. Benton-Vinccler also submits requests for permits for
drilling, seismic and operating activities to PDVSA, which then obtains such permits from the Ministry of
Energy and Mines and Ministry of Environment, as required. Benton-Vinccler is also subject to income,
municipal and value-added taxes, and must file certain monthly and annual compliance reports to the national
tax administration and to various municipalities.

Russia

Geoilbent and Arctic Gas submit annual production and development plans, which include information
necessary for permits and approvals for their planned drilling, seismic and operating activities, to local and
regional governments and to the Ministry of Fuel and Energy and the Ministry of Natural Resources. They
also submit annual production targets and quarterly export nominations for oil pipeline transportation capacity
to the Ministry of Fuel and Energy. Geoilbent and Arctic Gas are subject to customs, value-added, and
municipal and income taxes. Various municipalities and regional tax inspectorates are involved in the
assessment and collection of these taxes. Geoilbent and Arctic Gas must file operating and financial
compliance reports with several agencies, including the Ministry of Fuel and Energy, Ministry of Natural
Resources, Committee for Technical Mining Monitoring and the State Customs Committee.

Russian companies are subject to a statutory income tax rate of up to 35 percent and are subject to
various other tax burdens and tariffs. Excise, pipeline and other tariffs and taxes continue to be levied on all oil
producers and certain exporters, including an oil export tariff that decreased to $8.00 per ton (approximately
$1.10 per barrel) from 23.4 Euros per ton (approximately $2.85 per barrel). We are unable to predict the
impact of taxes, duties and other burdens in the future for our Russian operations.

Drilling, Acguisition and Finding Costs

From commencement of operations through December 31, 2001, we added, net of production and
property sales, approximately 189.8 MMBOE of proved reserves through purchases of reserves-in-place,
discoveries of oil and natural gas reserves, extensions of existing producing fields and revisions of previously
estimated reserves, for which the finding costs were $2.34 per BOE. Our estimate of future development costs
for our undeveloped proved reserves at December 31, 2001 was $1.96 per BOE. The estimated future
development costs are based upon our anticipated cost of developing our non-producing proved reserves, which
costs are calculated using historical costs for similar activities.

For acquisitions of leases and producing properties, development and exploratory drilling, production
facilities and additional development activities such as workovers and recompletions, we spent approximately
(excluding our share of capital expenditures incurred by equity affiliates):

> $44 million during 2001;
> $50 million during 2000; and

> $33 million during 1999.
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We have drilled or participated in the drilling of wells as follows:
Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
“““ Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
Wells Drilled:
Exploratory:
Crude oil... ..o, — — — — — —
Natural gas. ............. o it — — — — — —
Dryholes .......... ... . i, — — — — 3 1.60
Development:
Crudeoil.......... ..o i, 8 6.4 65  34.06 28 9.18
Natural @as........cooiiineinnnn.., — — — — — —
Dryholes .............. ... ... .. - = = = = =
Total .. ... 8 64 65 3406 31 1078
Average Depth of Wells (Feet) .............. 6,043 7,048 9,092
Producing Wells (1): .
Crude Oil ......... ... i, 274 1699 268 163.6 181 108.0

(1) The information related to producing wells reflects wells we drilled, wells we participated in drilling and
producing wells we acquired.

At December 31, 2001, we participated in the drilling of 39 wells in Russia.

All of our drilling activities are conducted on a contract basis with independent drilling contractors. We
do not directly own or operate any drilling equipment. Geoilbent does own components of the rigs it employs.

Acreage

The following table summarizes the developed and undeveloped acreage that we owned, leased or had
under concession as of December 31, 2001:

Developed Undeveloped
Gross Net Gross Net
Venezuela ..........o i 9,748 7,798 148,095 118,476
Russia(l) ..o 42,457 14,339 2,109,358 704,002
China. ... e — — 7,470,080 7,470,080
United States ... — — 13,604 12,466
Total oot 52,205 22,137 9,741,137 8,305,024

(1) Russia includes 794,972 gross acres related to Arctic Gas, which is included based on a 39 percent
ownership interest.

Competition

We encounter strong competition from major oil and gas companies and independent operators in
acquiring properties and leases for exploration for crude oil and natural gas. The principal competitive factors
in the acquisition of such oil and gas properties include the staff and data necessary to identify, investigate and
purchase such leases, and the financial resources necessary to acquire and develop such leases. Many of our
competitors have financial resources, staffs and facilities substantially greater than ours.
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Environmental Regulation

We are subject to environmental regulations administered by foreign governments, their agencies, or
other international organizations. We are committed to the protection of the environment and believe we are
in substantial compliance with the applicable laws and regulations. However, regulatory requirements change
and become more stringent, and there can be no assurance that future regulations will not have a material
adverse effect on our financial position.

Employees

At December 31, 2001, we had 19 full-time employees, augmented from time-to-time with independent
consultants, as required. Benton-Vinccler had 174 employees, Geoilbent had 700 employees and Arctic Gas
had 161 employees.

Title to Developed and Undeveloped Acreage

All Venezuelan reserves are attributable to an operating service agreement between Benton-Vinccler and
PDVSA, under which all mineral rights are owned by the Government of Venezuela. With regard to Russian
acreage, Geoilbent and Arctic Gas have obtained certain documentation from appropriate regulatory agencies
in Russia which we believe is adequate to establish their right to develop, produce and market oil and natural
gas from their fields.

The WAB-21 petroleum contract covers 6.2 million acres in the South China Sea, with an option for
another 1.0 million acres under certain circumstances, and lies within an area which is the subject of a
territorial dispute between the People’s Republic of China and Vietnam. Vietnam has executed an agreement
on a portion of the same offshore acreage with Conoco Inc. The territorial dispute has existed for many years,
and there has been limited exploration and no development activity in the area under dispute. It is uncertain
when or how this dispute will be resolved, and under what terms the various countries and parties to the
agreements may participate in the resolution, although certain proposed economic solutions currently under
discussion would result in our interest being reduced.

As is customary in the oil and natural gas industry, we make a limited review of title to farm out acreage
and to undeveloped U.S. oil and natural gas leases upon execution of the contracts and leases. Prior to the
commencement of drilling operations, a thorough drillsite title examination is conducted and curative work is
performed with respect to significant defects. We follow the practice of obtaining title opinions on our
domestic producing properties and believe that we have satisfactory title to such properties in accordance with
standards generally accepted in the oil and natural gas industry. Qur oil and natural gas properties are subject
to customary royalty interests, liens for current taxes, and other burdens which we believe do not materially
interfere with the use of or affect the value of such properties.

Glossary

When the following terms are used in the text they have the meanings indicated.

Mcf. “Mcf” means thousand cubic feet. “Mmecf” means million cubic feet. “Bef” means billion cubic
feet. “Tcf” means trillion cubic feet.

Bbl. “Bbl” means barrel. “Bbls” means barrels. “MBbls” means thousand barrels. “MMBbls” means
million barrels. “BBbls” means billion barrels.

BOE. “BOE” means barrels of oil equivalent, which are determined using the ratio of one barrel of
crude oil, condensate or natural gas liquids to six Mcf of natural gas so that six Mcf of natural gas is referred to
as one barrel of oil equivalent or “BOE”. “MBOE” means thousands of barrels of oil equivalent. “MMBOE”
means millions of barrels of oil equivalent.

Capital Expenditures. “Capital Expenditures” means costs associated with exploratory and develop-
ment drilling (including exploratory dry holes); leasehold acquisitions; seismic data acquisitions; geological,
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geophysical and land-related overhead expenditures; delay rentals; producing property acquisitions; and other
miscellaneous capital expenditures.

Completion Costs.  “Completion Costs”” means, as to any well, all those costs incurred after the decision
to complete the well as a producing well. Generally, these costs include all costs, liabilities and expenses,
whether tangible or intangible, necessary to complete a well and bring it into production, including installation
of service equipment, tanks, and other materials necessary to enable the well to deliver production.

Development Well. A “Development Well” is a well drilled as an additional well to the same reservoir
as other producing wells on a lease, or drilled on an offset lease not more than one location away from a well
producing from the same reservoir.

Exploratory Well. An “Exploratory Well” is a well drilled in search of a new and as yet undiscovered
pool of oil or natural gas, or to extend the known limits of a field under development.

Finding Cost. “Finding Cost”, expressed in dollars per BOE, is calculated by dividing the amount of
total capital expenditures related to acquisitions, exploration and development costs (reduced by proceeds for
any sale of oil and gas properties) by the amount of total net reserves added or reduced as a result of property
acquisitions and sales, drilling activities and reserve revisions during the same period.

Future Development Cost. “Future Development Cost” of proved nonproducing reserves, expressed in
dollars per BOE, is calculated by dividing the amount of future capital expenditures related to development
properties by the amount of total proved non-producing reserves associated with such activities.

Gross Acres or Wells. “Gross Acres or Wells” are the total acres or wells, as the case may be, in which
an entity has an interest, either directly or through an affiliate.

Lifting Costs. “Lifting Costs” are the expenses of lifting oil from a producing formation to the surface,
consisting of the costs incurred to operate and maintain wells and related equipment and facilities, including
labor costs, repair and maintenance, supplies, insurance, production, severance and windfall profit taxes.

Net Acres or Wells. A party’s “Net Acres” or “Net Wells” are calculated by multiplying the number of
gross acres of gross wells in which that party has an interest by the fractional interest of the party in each such
acre or well.

Producing Properties or Reserves. “Producing Reserves” are Proved Developed Reserves expected to be
produced from existing completion intervals now open for production in existing wells. “Producing Properties”
are properties to which Producing Reserves have been assigned by an independent petroleum engineer.

Proved Developed Reserves. “Proved Developed Reserves” are Proved Reserves which can be expected
to be recovered through existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods.

Proved Reserves. “Proved Reserves” are the estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas and natural
gas liquids which geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in
future years from known oil and natural gas reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions, that
is, on the basis of prices and costs as of the date the estimate is made and any price changes provided for by
existing conditions.

Proved Undeveloped Reserves. “Proved Undeveloped Reserves” are Proved Reserves which can be
expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled acreage, or from existing wells where a relatively major
expenditure is required for recompletion.

Reserves. “Reserves” means crude oil and natural gas, condensate and natural gas liquids, which are net
of leasehold burdens, are stated on a net revenue interest basis, and are found to be commercially recoverable.

Royalty Interesz. A “Royalty Interest” is an interest in an oil and gas property entitling the owner to a
share of oil and natural gas production (or the proceeds of the sale thereof) free of the costs of production.

Standardized Measure of Future Net Cash Flows. The “Standardized Measure of Future Net Cash
Flows” is a method of determining the present value of Proved Reserves. The future net oil sales from Proved
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Reserves are estimated assuming that oil and natural gas prices and production costs remain constant. The
resulting stream of oil sales is then discounted at the rate of 10 percent per year to obtain a present value.

Undeveloped Acreage. ““Undeveloped Acreage” is oil and natural gas acreage on which wells have not
been drilled or completed to a point that would permit commercial production regardless of whether such
acres contain proved reserves.

Item 2. Properties

In July 2001, we leased for three years office space in Houston, Texas for approximately $11,000 per
month. We lease 17,500 square feet of space in a California building that we no longer occupy under a lease
agreement that expires in December 2004; all of this office space has been subleased for rents that
approximate our lease costs.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On February 17, 1998, the WRT Creditors Liquidation Trust (“WRT Trust”) filed suit in the United
States Bankruptcy Court, Western District of Louisiana against us and Benton Qil and Gas Company of
Louisiana, a.k.a. Ventures Qil & Gas of Louisiana (“BOGLA"), seeking a determination that the sale by
BOGLA to Tesla Resources Corporation (“Tesla”), a wholly owned subsidiary of WRT Energy Corporation,
of certain West Cote Blanche Bay properties for $15.1 million, constituted a fraudulent conveyance under
11 US.C. Sections 544, 548 and 550 (the “Bankruptcy Code). The alleged basis of the claim is that Tesla
was insolvent at the time of its acquisition of the properties, and that it paid a price in excess of the fair value
of the property. A trial commenced on May 1, 2000 that concluded at the end of August 2000, and post trial
briefs were filed. In August 2001, a favorable decision was rendered in BOGLA’s favor denying any and all
relief to the WRT Trust. The WRT Trust has filed a Notice of Appeal with the Bankruptcy Court; however,
we believe that the appeal will result in an outcome consistent ‘with the court’s prior decision.

From 1996 through 1998, we made unsecured loans to our then Chief Executive Officer, A.E. Benton,
bearing interest at the rate of 6 percent per annum. We subsequently obtained a security interest in -
Mr. Benton’s shares of stock and stock options. In August 1999, Mr. Benton filed a Chapter 11 (reorganiza-
tion) bankruptcy petition in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Central District of California, in Santa Bar-
bara, California. In February 2000, we entered into a separation agreement and a consulting agreement with
Mr. Benton pursuant to which we retained Mr. Benton as an independent contractor to perform certain
services for us. During 2001, we paid Mr. Benton $116,833, and have paid a total of $536,545 from February
2000 through May 11, 2001 for services performed under the consulting agreement. On May 11, 2001,
Mr. Benton and the Company entered into a settlement and release agreement under which the consulting
agreement was terminated and Mr. Benton agreed to propose a plan of reorganization in his bankruptcy case
that provides for the repayment of our loans to him. We currently continue to retain our security interest in
Mr. Benton’s 600,000 shares of our stock and in his stock options, and we have the right to vote the shares
owned by him and to direct the exercise of his options. Repayment of our loans to Mr. Benton may be
achieved through Mr. Benton’s liquidation of certain real and personal property assets and a phased liquidation
of stock resulting in Mr. Benton’s exercise of his stock options. The amount that we eventually realize, and the
timing of receipt of payments will depend upon the timing and results of the liquidation of Mr. Benton’s assets.
The amount of Mr. Benton’s indebtedness to us is currently approximately $6.5 million. The consulting
agreement provides that if we close the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale, Mr. Benton will be entitled to receive two
percent of our net after-tax cash receipts, actually received by us in the U.S., resulting from the Proposed
Arctic Gas Sale, excluding any repayment of indebtedness or advances by us to Arctic Gas. The consulting
agreement further provides that under his proposed bankruptcy plan of reorganization, Mr. Benton will pay
five percent of such amounts to us. Based upon information provided by Mr. Benton’s bankruptcy counsel, we
anticipate that under the bankruptcy plan of reorganization that Mr. Benton will propose, we will receive
$1.7 million. This amount does not include the amounts that we will realize from the exercise of Mr. Benton’s
options and the subsequent sale of the resulting shares, nor does it include the net proceeds that we will receive
from the sale of Mr. Benton’s 600,000 shares of our stock.
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In the normal course of our business, there are various other legal proceedings outstanding. In the opinion
of management, these proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of
operations or liquidity.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to & Vote of Security Holders

During the three month period ended December 31, 2001, no matter was submitted to a vote of security
holders.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK AND DIVIDEND POLICY

Our Common Stock has traded on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) since April 29, 1997
under the symbol “BNQO.” As of December 31, 2001, there were 34,114,089 shares of Common Stock
outstanding held of record by approximately 947 stockholders. The following table sets forth the high and low
sales prices for our Common Stock reported by the NYSE.

Year Quarter High Low
2000
FIrst QUATTRT . .ottt e e e e e 4.50 1.56
Second qUATTET . ... 3.56 2.00
Third quarter .. ... ... 3.19 1.94
Fourth quarter ......... oo iiiit i i e 275 1.38
2001
First QUarter .. ...ttt 2.44 1.56
Second quarter ............... P 2.46 1.55
Third qUarter .. ... e 1.85 1.00
Fourth quarter ....... ... ..o 1.65 1.10

On March 25, 2002, the last sales price for the Common Stock as reported by NYSE was $4.03 per share.

Our policy is to retain earnings to support the growth of our business. Accordingly, our Board of Directors
has never declared cash dividends on our Common Stock, and our indentures currently restrict the declaration
and payment of any cash dividends.
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth our selected consolidated financial data for each of the years in the five-year
period ended December 31, 2001. The selected consolidated financial data have been derived from, and should
be read in conjunction with, our annual audited consolidated financial statements, including the notes thereto.
QOur year-end financial information contains results from our Russian operations based on a twelve-month
period ending September 30. Accordingly, our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2001,
2000, 1999 and 1998 reflect results from Geoilbent for the twelve months ended September 30, 2001, 2000,
1999 and 1998, and from Arctic Gas for the twelve months ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

Years Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(In thousands, except per share data)

Statements of Operations:

Total revenues . ........ooovviiiunnnnn.. $122,386  $140,284 § 89,060 $ 82,212 $154,033
Operating income (loss) ................. 28,201 53,204 (22,525)  (210,066) 51,299
Income (loss) before minority interests . . ... 42,880 19,084 (34,216)  (201,413) 25,202
Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic:
Income (loss) before extraordinary
ItemsS. .. oot $ 127 $§ 054 $ (1.09) $ (621) § 0.2
Extraordinary items.................. — 0.13 — — —
Net income (loss) .................. $§ 127 § 067 $ (1.09) § (621) $ 0.62
Diluted:
Income (loss) before extraordinary
eMS . . e $ 127 $§ 053 $§ (1.09) $ (621) $ 0.59
Extraordinary items.................. — 0.13 — — —
Net income (loss) .................. $ 127 § 066 $ (1.09) § (621) $ 0.39
Weighted average common shares
outstanding
Basic........ ... o i 33,967 30,724 29,577 29,554 29,119
Diluted ........... ... ... ... 34,008 30,890 29,577 29,554 30,834

At December 31,
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(In thousands, except per share data)

Balance Sheet Data:

Working capital (deficit) ................. $ (586) $ 12,370 $ 32,093 $ 60,927 $174,759
Total @ssets . .......cvviiinineeninnin.. 348,151 286,447 276,311 324,363 573,599
Long-term obligations, net of current position 221,583 213,000 264,575 280,002 280,016

Stockholders’ equity (deficit) (1)(2) ....... 67,623 12,904 (17,178) 12,989 197,732

(1) No cash dividends were paid during the periods presented.

(2) As discussed in Note 1 to the Financial Statements, in 1999 we changed our method of reporting our
investment in Geoilbent to the equity method.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis Of Financial Condition And Results Of Operations

Management, Operational and Financial Restrictions

We have taken the necessary steps to strengthen management, enhance our financial flexibility, and
improve our operations. In 2001, we completed the following:

o installed new senior management;
o redefined our strategic priorities to focus on value creation;

» initiated capital conservation steps and financial transactions, including the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale,
designed to de-leverage the Company and improve our cash flow for reinvestment;

> undertook a comprehensive study of our core Venezuelan asset, which focused on enhancing the value
of its production;

» pursued additional financing to accelerate the commercial development of our Russian assets;
o built the Tucupita pipeline in Venezuela to reduce transportation costs;
o sought and obtained relief from certain restrictive provisions of our debt instruments;

o reduced our corporate overhead, moved our headquarters to Houston and transferred engineering,
geological and geophysical activities to its overseas offices; and

o proposed a change in our name to Harvest Natural Resources, Inc.
We continue to explore means by which to maximize stockholder value.

On February 27, 2002, we entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement (“Proposed Arctic Gas Sale”) to
sell our entire 68 percent stock ownership interest in Arctic Gas Company to a nominee of the Yukos Oil
Company for $190 million. We will also receive approximately $30 million as repayment of intercompany
loans owed to us by Arctic Gas. We intend to use a portion of the net proceeds to retire all of the $108 million
outstanding 11%s percent senior notes in accordance with their terms. We intend to use any remaining net
proceeds and cash received from the repayment of loans to further reduce debt from time to time, accelerate
the strategic growth of its assets in Venezuela and Russia and for general corporate purposes. On March 22,
2002, we were notified that the Transaction had received the requisite consents from the Russian Ministry for
Antimonopoly Policy and Support for Entrepreneurship. On March 28, 2002, we received the first payment
($120.0 million) of the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale proceeds. However, in the event that the Transaction does
not close, we will be required to review additional strategic alternatives to repay the $108 million of
11%% percent senior notes due in May 2003, including, but not limited to, selling all or part of our existing
assets in Venezuela and Russia, restructuring our debt, some combination thereof, or the selling of the
Company. However, no assurance can be given that any of these steps can be successfully completed or that
we ultimately will determine that any of the steps should be taken. The Pro Forma adjustments reflect a net
gain after tax of $92.0 million, which utilizes our $136.0 million net operating loss. The cash available after tax
is used to purchase the $108.0 million 11°%s percent senior notes at par.

In the event the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale closes, the Supplemental Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed
Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2001 shown below illustrates the impact to the Company.
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Benton Qil and Gas Company and Subsidiaries

Supplemental Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Balance Sheet
As of

December 31, Pro Forma
2001 Adjustments (1) Pro Forma
(Amounts in thousands)

Assets:
Cash. .. $ 9,024 $ 82,587 $ 91,611
Investment in Arctic Gas ..., 24,405 (24,405) —
Intercompany Receivable ......................... 28,829 (28,829) —
Deferred Tax Asset ...t 57,700 (44,398) 13,302
Other ASSetS . ...t e 228,193 228,193

Total. ... $348,151 $333,106
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity:
Liabilities. ... ..o $ 58,945 $ 58,945
Long-Term Debt ..... ... .. ... ... ... ... .. 221,583 (108,000) 113,583
Total Stockholders’ Equity ........................ 67,623 92,955 160,578

Total. ... ... .. $348,151 $333,106
Debtto Total Equity ..ot 77% 41%

(1) To record gain on sale of 68 percent interest in Arctic Gas Company, to repay intercompany debt and to
repay $108 million of 11% percent senior notes.

See Note 16 to the Audited Financial Statements in Item 14 — Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
and Reports on Form 8-K.

As part of the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale, we have arranged a credit facility of up to $100 million for
Arctic Gas. In the event that the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale does not close, we will request Arctic Gas to
immediately repay this facility.

We possess significant producing properties in Venezuela, which we believe have yet to be optimized, and
valuable unexploited acreage in both Venezuela and Russia. We believe the eleven new wells drilled in the
South Tarasovskoye Field since July 2001 may significantly increase the value of our Geoilbent properties. In
December 2001 and January 2002, we spudded the first two wells in our seven well Tucupita field program in
Venezuela. We are evaluating the construction of additional processing and handling facilities and are in
discussions with PDVSA to negotiate a sales contract that will allow for the first-time sale of natural gas in
Venezuela by our affiliate.

In May 2001, we initiated a process intended to effectively extend the maturity of the senior notes due
May 1, 2003 by exchanging new 13.125 percent senior notes due December 2007 plus warrants to purchase
shares of our common stock for each of the 2003 Notes. The exchange offer was withdrawn in July 2001.
However, in August 2001, we solicited and received the requisite consents from the holders of both the 2003
Notes and the 2007 Notes to amend certain covenants in the indentures governing the notes to enable Arctic
Gas Company to incur nonrecourse debt of up to $77 million to fund its oil and gas development program. As
an incentive to consent, we paid each noteholder an amount in cash equal to $2.50 per $1,000 principal
amount of notes held for which executed consents were received. The total amount of consent fees paid to the
consenting noteholders was $0.3 million, which has been included in general and administrative expenses.

In June 2001, we implemented a plan designed to reduce overall general and administrative costs,
including exploration overhead, at our corporate headquarters and to transfer management oversight of
geological and geophysical activities to our overseas offices in Maturin, Venezuela and in Western Siberia and
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Moscow, Russia. The reduction in general and administrative costs was accomplished by reducing our
headquarters staff and relocating our headquarters to Houston, Texas from Carpinteria, California. For 2001,
we recorded non-recurring items of $11.4 million, $5.7 million of which are included in general and
administrative expenses, $1.7 million of which are included in depletion, depreciation and amortization,
$3.2 million in operating expenses and $0.8 million in taxes other than income. The general and administrative
expenses include $2.2 million on the failed debt exchange, $2.2 million for severance and termination benefits
for 33 employees, $1.1 million for lease relinquishment expenses, and $0.2 million for relocation costs to
Houston. Depletion, depreciation and amortization included $0.9 million for the reduction in the carrying
value of fixed assets that were not transferred to Houston and $0.8 million loss on subleasing the former
Carpinteria headquarters. All expenses were paid by December 31, 2001.

Geoilbent has reduced its 2002 capital budget to approximately $16.6 million, of which $2.7 million is for
the North Gubkinskoye Field, $9.7 million is for the South Tarakovskoye Field, $2.2 million is to carry out
seismic and related exploration activity and $2.0 million is for natural gas plant economic, technical and
feasibility studies. Geoilbent’s 2002 operating budget includes $16 million for principal payments on the loan
facility. In addition, Geoilbent had outstanding accounts payable of $26.6 million as of December 31, 2001,
primarily to contractors and vendors for drilling and construction services.

Although Geoilbent’s reduced capital expenditure budget may help to alleviate any shortfall of funds
available to make payments to the banks and its creditors as those payments come due, it is uncertain that
Geoilbent’s cash flow from operations will be sufficient to do so, and it may be necessary for Geoilbent to
obtain capital contributions from its partners, including the Company, to have sufficient funds to make these
payments on a timely basis. Although the Company may consider making such a capital contribution, there
can be no assurances that the Company will do so, nor can there be any assurances that Geoilbent’s other
partner will be willing or able to do so. Under Russian law, a creditor can force a company into involuntary
bankruptcy if the company’s payments have been due for more than 90 days.

At the annual meeting of our shareholders to be held on May 14, 2002, our stockholders will vote on a
proposal to change the name of our company to “Harvest Natural Resources, Inc.”

Operating Strategy

Our business strategy supports the steady investment, prudent risk management and timely harvest of
large hydrocarbon resources for attractive values. For the foreseeable future, we believe our best success will
be found in Venezuela and Russia, areas in which we have significant experience and expertise.

During 2001, our operating strategy was necessarily focused on improving the efficiency and efficacies of
our current operations in both Venezuela and Russia. Over the years, we have benefited from the significant
capital commitment made to these areas, but have suffered financially from sub-optimal operating, contracting
and risk management practices which, for the most part, have been or are currently in the process of being
significantly improved. In Venezuela, we implemented new development and production plans at Benton-
Vincceler following an eight-month suspension of drilling and an extensive reservoir study, which resulted in
increased production, lower operating costs, and added confidence in our future drilling plans to extend the life
and value of the field. We have also streamlined decision making, improved internal controls and implemented
industry standard techniques to mitigate geologic, operating, financial and political risks attendant with doing
business in Venezuela.

In Russia, where we are a minority holder in Geoilbent, we are attempting to pursue a similar course,
with the help of other interest owners, in order to improve operations and extend the life of the field, lower
operating costs and enhance financial results. These assets represent significant potential value for us, but
remain subject to sub-optimal operating conditions while our lack of majority control over its operations could
inhibit our ability to implement necessary changes in management, operations or financing matters.

In both Venezuela and Russia, and in other counties around the world, the development of local markets
for natural gas represents a significant opportunity for us. However, the development of thése markets, in large
part, depends upon substantial capital investment by third parties in the infrastructure needed to/\\ produce,
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gather, treat, transport, store and convert natural gas into marketable products. While this investment is
beginning to materialize in many of these markets, it will take many years, in some instances, to place such
assets into service. We are well positioned to benefit from the emergence of new regional gas markets in
proximity to our reserves.

Our long-term strategy is to identify, access and exploit large resources of hydrocarbons in underexploited
areas around the world that can be developed at low overall finding costs, produced at low operating costs and
converted into proved reserves, production and value. While our success is dependent upon many factors both
within and outside of our control, in order to achieve this strategy, we must: :

o continue to improve our financial flexibility and financing strategies;

o

exploit our core assets in Venezuela and Russia; and
o seek and exploit new oil and natural gas resources in our core areas.

We intend to continue to seek and exploit new oil and natural gas reserves in current areas of interest
while working toward minimizing the associated financial and operating risks. To reduce these risks, not only
in seeking new reserves, but also with respect to our existing operations, we:

o Focus Our Efforts in Areas of Low Geologic Risk: We intend to focus our exploration and
development activities only in areas of known, proven hydrocarbons.

o Establish a Local Presence Through Joint Venture Partners and the Use of Local Personnel: We seek
to establish a local presence in our areas of operation to facilitate stronger relationships with local
government and labor. In addition, using local personnel helps us to take advantage of local knowledge
and experience and to minimize costs. In pursuing new opportunities, we will seek to enter at an early
stage and find local investment partners in an effort to reduce our risk in any one venture.

o Commit Capital in a Phased Manner to Limit Total Commitments at Any One Time: We often agree
to minimum capital expenditure or development commitments at the outset of new projects, but we
endeavor to structure such commitments so that we can fulfill them over time, thereby limiting our
initial cash outlay, as well as maximize the amount of local financing capacity to develop the
hydrocarbons and associated infrastructure.

Results of Operations

We include the results of operations of Benton-Vinccler in our consolidated financial statements and
reflect the 20 percent ownership interest of Vinccler as a minority interest. We account for our investments in
Geoilbent and Arctic Gas using the equity method. We include Geoilbent and Arctic Gas in our consolidated
financial statements based on a fiscal year ending September 30. Qur results of operations reflect the results of
Geoilbent and Arctic Gas for the twelve months ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

You should read the following discussion of the results of operations for each of the years in the three year
period ended December 31, 2001 and the financial condition as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 in conjunction
with our Consoclidated Financial Statements and related Notes thereto.

We have presented selected expense items from our consolidated income statement as a percentage of oil

and natural gas sales in the following table:
Years Ended
December 31,
2001 2000 1999

Operating Expenses(1) .. ... i 32% 34% 44%
Depletion, Depreciation and Amortization{(2)........................... 19 12 19
General and Administrative(3) ............... I 12 12 29
Taxes Other Than on Income(4) .. ...t i i 4 3 4
16013 13 S P 20 21 33




2001 non-recurring costs excluded in millions:

(1) $3.2 in natural gas fuel use charges for the period of 1997 through 2000 before Venezuelan tax and
minority interest is included.

(2) $1.7 reduction in carrying value of California office lease.

(3) $2.3 in debt exchange costs; $1.1 California office lease relinquishment; $0.2 relocation to Houston;
$2.1 severance and termination payments.

(4) $0.8 in municipal tax adjustments before Venezuelan tax and minority interest.

Years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000

QOur results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2001 primarily reflected the reversal of our tax
valuation allowance and results for Benton-Vinccler, C.A. in Venezuela, which accounted for all of our
production and oil sales revenue. As a result of decreases in world crude oil prices, partially offset by higher
production from the South Monagas Unit, oil sales in Venezuela were 13 percent lower in 2001 compared with
2000. Realized fees per barrel decreased 16 percent (from $14.94 in 2000 to $12.52 in 2001) and oil sales
quantities increased 4 percent (from 9.4 MMRBblIs of oil in 2000 to 9.8 MMBblIs of oil in 2001). Qur operating
expenses from the South Monagas Unit decreased by 14 percent due to decreased workover costs and
completion of the 31-mile oil pipeline in the fourth quarter of 2001 to transport oil from the Tucupita field to
the central processing unit in the Uracoa field.

Our revenues decreased $17.9 million, or 13 percent, during the year ended December 31, 2001 compared
with 2000. This was due to decreased oil sales revenue in Venezuela as a result of decreases in world crude oil
prices, partially offset by higher sales quantities. Our sales quantities for the year ended December 31, 2001
from Venezuela were 9.8 MMBbls compared to 9.4 MMBDIs for the year ended December 31, 2000. The
increase in sales quantities of 413,428 Bbls, or 4 percent, was due primarily to production efficiency and
reservoir management at Uracoa, and enhanced drilling performance for the eight wells drilled in the Uracoa
field beginning August 31, 2001 as a result of incorporating information from the field simulation study
conducted during the first eight months of 2001. Production increased to 28,000 Bbis or oil per day by the end
of 2001 as a result of drilling 8 additional wells during the year. Prices for crude oil averaged $12.52 per Bbl
(pursuant to terms of an operating service agreement) from Venezuela compared with $14.94 per Bbl for
2000.

Our operating expenses decreased $4.7 million, or 10 percent, which included a fuel gas charge of
$3.2 million, during the year ended December 31, 2001 compared to the year ended December 31, 2000. The
fuel gas charge related to a dispute regarding a difference between rates we paid and rates claimed by PDVSA
for natural gas used as fuel for the period 1997 through 2000. Depletion, depreciation and amortization
increased $8.3 million, or 48 percent, during the year ended December 31, 2001 compared with 2000 primarily
due to decreased proved reserves. Depletion expense per barrel of oil produced from Venezuela during 2001
was $2.26 compared with $1.68 during 2000 as a result of a decrease in proved reserves. We recognized write-
downs of capitalized costs of $0.5 million associated with exploration activities during the year ended
December 31, 2001 compared with $1.3 million associated with exploration activities in California. General
and administrative expenses decreased $2.3 million from $16.7 million in 2000 to $14.4 million in 2001,
exclusive of $5.7 million of non-recurring costs. Non-recurring general and administrative costs are comprised
of $2.3 million in debt exchange cost, $1.1 million in California lease. relinquishment, $0.2 million relocation
costs to Houston and $2.1 million severance and termination payments paid or accrued in 2001.

Taxes other than on income increased $1.0 million, or 22 percent, during the year ended December 31,
2001 compared with 2000. This was primarily due to increased Venezuelan municipal taxes.

Investment income and other decreased $5.5 million, or 64 percent, during the year ended December 31,
2001 compared with 2000. This was due to lower average cash and marketable securities balances. Interest
expense decreased $4.1 million, or 14 percent, during the year ended December 31, 2001 compared with 2000.
This was primarily due to the reduction of debt balances, partially offset by a reduction of capitalized interest
expense. Net gain on exchange rates increased $0.4 million, or 136 percent for the year ended December 31,
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2001 compared with 2000. This was due to changes in the value of the Bolivar. We realized income before
income taxes and minority interest of $7.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2001 compared with
$33.1 million in 2000. The negative effective tax rate varies from the U.S. statutory rate of 35 percent
primarily because of the reversal of a U.S. tax valuation allowance. The reversal related to the potential
utilization of net operating loss carry forwards. We have determined that it is more likely than not that these
U.S. deferred tax assets will be realized in 2002. See Note 16 to the Audited Financial Statements in
Item 14 — Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K. The income attributable to the
minority interest decreased $2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 compared with 2000. This was
primarily due to the decreased profitability (oil prices) of Benton-Vinccler.

Equity in net earnings of affiliated companies increased $0.6 million, or 11 percent, during the year ended
December 31, 2001 compared with 2000. This was primarily due to the increased income from Geoilbent. Our
share of revenues from Geoilbent was $34.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2001 compared with
revenues of $26.8 million for 2000. The increase of $7.6 million, or 27 percent, was due to higher world crude
oil prices and higher sales quantities. Prices for Geoilbent’s crude oil averaged $19.51 per Bbl during the year
ended September 30, 2001 compared with $18.54 per Bbl for the year ended September 30, 2000. Qur share of
Geoilbent oil sales quantities increased by 318,633 Bbls, or 22 percent, from 1,444,181 Bbls sold during the
year ended September 30, 2000 to 1,762,814 Bbls sold during the year ended September 30, 2001.

Capital Rescurces and Ligquidity

The oil and natural gas industry is a highly capital intensive and cyclical business with unique operating
and financial risks (see Risk Factors). We require capital principally to service our debt and to fund the
following costs:

o drilling and completion costs of wells and the cost of production, treating and transportation facilities;
> geological, geophysical and seismic costs; and
o acquisition of interests in oil and gas properties.

The amount of available capital will affect the scope of our operations and the rate of our growth. Our
future rate of growth also depends substantially upon the prevailing prices of oil. Prices also affect the amount
of cash flow available for capital expenditures and our ability to service our debt. Additionally, our ability to
pay interest on our debt and general corporate overhead is dependent upon the ability of Benton-Vinccler to
make loan repayments, dividends and other cash payments to us; however, there may be contractual
obligations or legal impediments such as currency controls to receiving dividends or distributions from our
subsidiaries.

Debt Reduction and Restructuring Program. We currently have significant debt principal obligations

- payable in 2003 ($108 million) and 2007 ($105 million). As described below, we have reduced our obligations

due in 2003 by $17 million since September 10, 2000. We further intend to retire the 2003 ($108 million)
obligation with the proceeds from the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale. However, in the event we do not close the
Proposed Arctic Gas Sale, we will be required to review additional strategic alternatives to repay the
$108 million of 11% percent senior notes due May 2003. We intend to pursue additional open market debt
purchases of the obligations due in 2007 to further reduce debt.

Working Capital. Our capital resources and liquidity are affected by the timing of our semiannual
interest payments of approximately $11.2 million each May 1 and November 1 and by the quarterly payments
from PDVSA at the end of the months of February, May, August and November pursuant to the terms of the
contract between Benton-Vinccler and PDVSA regarding the South Monagas Unit. As a consequence of the
timing of these interest payment outflows and the PDVSA payment inflows, our cash balances can increase
and decrease dramatically on a few dates during the year. In each May and November in particular, interest
payments at the beginning of the month and PDVSA payments at the end of the month create large swings in
our cash balances. In October 2000, an uncommitted short-term working capital facility of 8 billion Bolivars
(approximately $8 million currently) was made available to Benton-Vinccler by a Venezuelan commercial
bank. The credit facility bears interest at fixed rates for 30-day periods, is guaranteed by us and contains no
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restrictive or financial ratio covenants. We believe that similar arrangements will be available to us in future
quarters. At December 31, 2001, there was no outstanding balance. In February 2002, the Venezuelan Bolivar
was allowed to float against the U.S. dollar. While the long-term impact of this action is uncertain, the short-
term implication may be difficulty in purchasing U.S. dollars with Bolivars and reducing U.S. dollar equivalent
amounts of Benton-Vinccler’s short-term working capital facility. We are negotiating with a bank to increase
the Bolivar denominated short-term working capital facility to approximately $12 million U.S. dollar
equivalent. We do not expect this action to have a material impact on Benton-Vinccler’s operations.

The Proposed Arctic Gas Sale can provide the additional funds for both the service of our debt and the
development of our assets. However, in the event we do not close the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale, we will be
required to review additional strategic alternatives to repay the $108 million of 11%: percent senior notes due
May 2003. We continue to develop sources of additional capital and/or reduce or reschedule our cash
requirements by various techniques including, but not limited to, the pursuit of one or more of the following
alternatives:

° restructure the existing debt;

° manage the scope and timing of our capital expenditures, substantially all of which are within our
discretion;

o form joint ventures or alliances with financial or other industry partners;

There can be no assurance that any of the above alternatives, or some combination thereof, will be
available or, if available, will be on terms acceptable to us.

The net funds raised and/or used in each of the operating, investing and financing activities are
summarized in the following table and discussed in further detail below:

Year Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(In thousands)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities......... $ 36,608 $ 51,763 $ (1,392)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ......... (48,012)  (28,772) 20,989
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ......... 5,296 {29,006)  (15,648)
Net increase (decrease) incash ......................... $ (6,108) $ (6,015) § 3949

At December 31, 2001, we had current assets of $43.5 million and current liabilities of $44.1 million,
resulting in negative working capital of $0.6 million and a negative current ratio. This compares with our
working capital of $12.3 million and a current ratio of 1.24:1 at December 31, 2000. The decrease in working
capital of $13.0 million was primarily due to lower prices and additional investments in and advances to Arctic
Gas Company during the year ended December 31, 2001.

Geoilbent has reduced its 2002 capital budget to approximately $16.6 million, of which $2.7 million is for
the North Gubkinskoye Field, $9.7 million is for the South Tarakovskoye Field, $2.2 million is to carry out
seismic and related exploration activity and $2.0 million is for natural gas plant economic, technical and
feasibility studies. Geoilbent’s 2002 operating budget includes $16 million for principal payments on the loan
facility. In addition, Geoilbent had outstanding accounts payable of $26.6 million as of December 31, 2001,
primarily to contractors and vendors for drilling and construction services.

Although Geoilbent’s reduced capital expenditure budget may help to alleviate any shortfall of funds
available to make payments to the banks and its creditors as those payments come due, it is uncertain that
Geoilbent’s cash flow from operations will be sufficient to do so, and it may be necessary for Geoilbent to
obtain capital contributions from its partners, including the Company, to have sufficient funds to make these
payments on a timely basis. Although the Company may consider making such a capital contribution, there
can be no assurances that the Company will do so, nor can there be any assurances that Geoilbent’s other
partner will be willing or able to do so. Under Russian law, a creditor can force a company into involuntary
bankruptey if the company’s payments have been due for more than 90 days.
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Cash Flow from Operating Activities. During the year ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities was approximately $36.6 million and $51.8 million, respectively.
Cash flow from operating activities decreased by $15.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2001
compared with 2000. This was primarily due to collections of accrued oil revenues.

Cash Flow from Investing Activities. During the year ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, we had
drilling and production related capital expenditures of approximately $43.4 million and $57.2 million,
respectively. Of the 2001 expenditures, $35.7 million was attributable to the development of the South
Monagas Unit and $7.7 million was attributable to the Delta Centro Block in Venezuela.

In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2001, we increased our investment in Arctic Gas by
$16.8 million.

We expect capital expenditures of approximately $29.1 million at the South Monagas Unit during the
next 12 months. The timing and size of the investments for the South Monagas Unit are substantially at our
discretion. We anticipate that Geoilbent will continue to fund its expenditures through its own cash flow,
credit facilities and potentially a shareholder contribution. Cur remaining capital commitments worldwide are
relatively minimal and are substantially at our discretion. We will also be required to make interest payments
of approximately $11.2 million related to our outstanding senior notes in April 2002 and $4.9 million in
November 2002, assuming we close the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale and retire $108 million of the 11°% percent
senior notes prior to November 2002.

We continue to assess production levels and commodity prices in conjunction with our capital resources
and liquidity requirements. The results from the new wells drilled in the Tucupita Field in Venezuela under
the alliance agreements with Schlumberger indicate that the reservoir formation quality is as expected, but
may be sensitive to drilling and completion practices.

Cash Flow from Financing Activities. In May 1996, we issued $125 million in 11% percent senior
unsecured notes due May 1, 2003, of which we repurchased $17 million at their discounted value in
September and November 2000. The notes were repurchased with the issuance of 4.2 million common shares
and cash of $3.5 million plus accrued interest. In November 1997, we issued $115 million in 9% percent senior
unsecured notes due November 1, 2007, of which we subsequently repurchased $10 million at their par value
for cash. Interest on all of the notes is due May 1st and November 1st of each year. The indenture agreements
provide for certain limitations on liens, additional indebtedness, certain investment and capital expenditures,
dividends, mergers and sales of assets. At December 31, 2001, we were in compliance with all covenants of the
indentures.

We have a deferred drilling and completion obligations under our alliance with Schlumberger and with
Flint South America, Inc as well as a lease for our Houston office space. The following table summarizes our
contractual obligations at December 31, 2002.

Payments Due by Period

Less than After 4
Contractual Obligaticn Total 1 Year 1-2 Years 3-4 Years Years
(In thousands)
Long Term Debt ................ .. $224,015 $ 2,432  $113,544 $2,432 $105,607
Deferred Drilling and Completion . ... 8,871 8,871
Building Lease .................... 396 132 264
Total ........ ... ... $233,282  $11,435  $113,808 $2,432 $105,607

While we can give you no assurance, we currently believe that our cash flow from operations,
supplemented by borrowings and asset sales if required, will provide sufficient capital resources and liquidity to
fund our planned capital expenditures, investments in and advances to affiliates, and semiannual interest
payment obligations for the next 12 months. Cur expectation is based upon our current estimate of projected
price levels, production and the availability of short-term working capital facilities of up to $12 million
currently during the time periods between the submission of quarterly invoices to PDVSA by Benton-Vinccler
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and the subsequent payments of these invoices by PDVSA and other financial alternatives. Actual results
could be materially affected if there is a significant decrease in either price or production levels related to the
South Monagas Unit. Future cash flows are subject to a number of variables including, but not limited to, the
level of production and prices, as well as various economic conditions that have historically affected the oil and
natural gas business. Additionally, prices for oil are subject to fluctuations in response to changes in supply,
market uncertainty and a variety of factors beyond our control.

However, we currently have significant debt obligations payable in May 2003 and November 2007 of
$108 million and $105 million, respectively. Our ability to meet our debt obligations and to reduce our level of
debt depends on the successful implementation of our strategic objectives, in particular the timely close of the
Proposed Arctic Gas Sale. While we believe the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale will be consummated, there can be
no assurance that the transaction will close.

In the event that the Transaction does not close, we will be required to review additional strategic
alternatives to repay the $108 million due in May 2003 in debt, including but not limited to, selling all or part
of our existing assets in Venezuela and Russia, restructuring our debt, some combination thereof, or selling the
Company. However, no assurances can be given that any of these steps can be successfully completed or that
we ultimately will determine that any of the steps should be taken.

Years Ended December 31, 2000 and 1999

Our results of operations for the vear ended December 31, 2000 primarily reflected the results for Benton-
Vinccler, C.A. in Venezuela, which accounted for substantially all of our production and oil sales revenue. As
a result of increases in world crude oil prices, partially offset by lower production from the South Monagas
Unit, oil sales in Venezuela were 57 percent higher in 2000 compared with 1999. Realized fees per barrel
increased 62 percent (from $9.21 in 1999 to $14.94 in 2000) and oil sales quantities decreased 3 percent (from
9.7 MMBBbIs of oil in 1999 to 9.4 MMBDbIs of oil in 2000). Our operating expenses from the South Monagas
Unit increased 21 percent primarily due to increased chemical treatment, electricity and natural gas
compression station maintenance and operating costs, partially offset by reduced salaries and material costs.

Our revenues increased $51.2 million, or 57 percent, during the year ended December 31, 2000 compared
with 1999. This was due to increased oil sales revenue in Venezuela as a result of increases in world crude oil
prices, partially offset by lower sales quantities. Our sales quantities for the year ended December 31, 2000
from Venezuela were 9.4 MMBbls compared to 9.7 MMBbIs for the year ended December 31, 1999. The
decrease in sales quantities of 302,890 Bbls, or 3 percent, was due primarily to production declines beginning
in 1999 resulting from the curtailment of the Venezuelan development drilling program. Venezuelan
production declined to 24,300 Bbls of oil per day by the end of 1999. Production increased to 28,000 Bbls or oil
per day by the end of 2000 as a result of drilling 26 additional wells during the year. Prices for crude oil
averaged $14.94 per Bbl (pursuant to terms of an operating service agreement) from Venezuela compared
with $9.21 per Bbl for 1999.

QOur operating expenses increased $8.0 million, or 20 percent, during the year ended December 31, 2000
compared to the year ended December 31, 1999. This was primarily due to increased chemical treatment,
electricity and natural gas compression station maintenance and operating costs, which were partially offset by
reduced salaries and material costs at the South Monagas Unit in Venezuela. Depletion, depreciation and
amortization increased $0.7 million, or 4 percent, during the year ended December 31, 2000 compared with
1999 primarily due to decreased proved reserves and increased future development costs at the South
Monagas Unit. Depletion expense per barrel of oil produced from Venezuela during 2000 was $1.68 compared
with $1.53 during 1999. We recognized write-downs of capitalized costs of $1.3 million associated with
exploration activities in Jordan and California during the year ended December 31, 2000 compared with
$25.9 million associated with exploration activities in California, China, Senegal and Jordan during the year
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ended December 31, 1999. General and administrative expenses decreased $9.3 million, or 36 percent, during
the year ended December 31, 2000 compared with 1999. This was primarily due to the following:

» our reduction in workforce and related restructuring costs in 1999;

o the write-off of the joint interest receivable due from Molino Energy at December 31, 1999 associated
with the California Leases; and

o an allowance for doubtful accounts in 1999, related to amounts owed to us by our former Chief
Executive Officer (see Note 13 to the Audited Financial Statements in Item 14 — Exhibits, Financial
Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

Taxes other than on income increased $0.6 million, or 16 percent, during the year ended December 31,
2000 compared with 1999. This was primarily due to increased Venezuelan municipal taxes, which are a
function of oil revenues.

Investment income and other decreased $0.4 million, or 4 percent, during the year ended December 31,
2000 compared with 1999. This was due to lower average cash and marketable securities balances. Interest
expense decreased $0.2 million, or | percent, during the year ended December 31, 2000 compared with 1999.
This was primarily due to the reduction of debt balances, partially offset by a reduction of capitalized interest
expense. Net gain on exchange rates decreased $0.7 million, or 70 percent for the year ended December 31,
2000 compared with 1999. This was due to changes in the value of the Bolivar. We realized income before
income taxes and minority interest of $33.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2000 compared with
a loss of $41.7 million in 1999. This resulted in increased income tax expense of $21.5 million. The effective
tax rate of 42 percent varies from the U.S. statutory rate of 35 percent primarily because income taxes are paid
on profitable operations in foreign jurisdictions and no benefit is provided for net operating losses generated in
the U.S. The income attributable to the minority interest increased $7.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000 compared to 1999. This was primarily due to the increased profitability of Benton-
Vinccler.

Equity in net earnings of affiliated companies increased $2.4 million, or 83 percent, during the year ended
December 31, 2000 compared with 1999. This was primarily due to the increased income from Geoilbent. Cur
share of revenues from Geoilbent was $25.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2000 compared with
revenues of $11.1 million for 1999. The increase of $14.1 million, or 127 percent, was due to significantly
higher world crude oil prices partially offset by lower sales quantities. Prices for Geoilbent’s crude oil averaged
$17.45 per Bbl during the year ended September 30, 2000 compared with $7.68 per Bbl for the year ended
September 30, 1999. Our share of Geoilbent oil sales quantities decreased by 6,819 Bbls, or 0.5 percent, from
1,451,000 Bbls sold during the year ended September 30, 1999 to 1,444,181 Bbls sold during the year ended
September 30, 2000. The decrease in oil sales was due primarily to the temporary interruption of production in
early 2000 resulting from an accident during the period that affected certain production facilities. We recorded
extraordinary income of $4.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2000 related to the repurchase at a
discount of $17 million of our senior unsecured notes due in 2003. We exchanged a total of 4.2 million shares
of our common stock with a market value of $9.3 million and cash of $3.5 million for $17 million in notes. We
also wrote-off $0.2 million in unamortized loan fees related to the notes.

Effects of Changing Prices, Foreign Exchange Rates and Inflation

Our results of operations and cash flow are affected by changing oil prices. However, our South Monagas
Unit oil sales are based on a fee adjusted quarterly by the percentage change of a basket of crude oil prices
instead of by absolute dollar changes. This dampens both any upward and downward effects of changing prices
on our Venezuelan oil sales and cash flows. If the price of oil increases, there could be an increase in our cost
for drilling and related services because of increased demand, as well as an increase in oil sales. Fluctuations in
oil and natural gas prices may affect our total planned development activities and capital expenditure program.
There are presently no restrictions in either Venezuela or Russia that restrict converting U.S. dollars into local
currency. However, from June 1994 through April 1996, Venezuela implemented exchange controls which
significantly limited the ability to convert local currency into U.S. dollars. Because payments to Benton-
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Vinccler are made in U.S. dollars into its United States bank account, and Benton-Vinccler was not subject to
regulations requiring the conversion or repatriation of those dollars back into Venezuela, the exchange controls
did not have a material adverse effect on us or Benton-Vinccler. Currently, there are no exchange controls in
Venezuela or Russia that restrict conversion of local currency into U.S. dollars for routine business operations,
such as the payments of invoices, debt obligations and dividends.

Within the United States, inflation has had a minimal effect on us, but it is potentially an important
factor in results of operations in Venezuela and Russia. With respect to Benton-Vinccler and Geoilbent, a
significant majority of the sources of funds, including the proceeds from oil sales, our contributions and credit
financings, are denominated in U.S. dollars, while local transactions in Russia and Venezuela are conducted in
local currency. If the rate of increase in the value of the dollar compared with the Bolivar continues to be less
than the rate of inflation in Venezuela, then inflation could be expected to have an adverse effect on Benton-
Vinccler.

During the year ended December 31, 2001, our net foreign exchange gain attributable to our Venezuelan
operation was $0.7 million. However, there are many factors affecting foreign exchange rates and resulting
exchange gains and losses, many of which are beyond our control. We have recognized significant exchange
gains and losses in the past, resulting from fluctuations in the relationship of the Venezuelan and Russian
currencies to the U.S. dollar. It is not possible for us to predict the extent to which we may be affected by
future changes in exchange rates and exchange controls.

Our operations are affected by political developments and laws and regulations in the areas in which we
operate. In particular, oil and natural gas production operations and economics are affected by price controls,
tax and other laws relating to the petroleum industry, by changes in such laws and by changing administrative
regulations and the interpretations and application of such rules and regulations. In addition, various federal,
state, local and international laws and regulations covering the discharge of materials into the environment, the
disposal of oil and natural gas wastes, or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment, may affect
our operations and results.

Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all wholly-owned and majority-owned
subsidiaries. The equity method of accounting is used for companies and other investments in which we have
significant influence. All intercompany profits, transactions and balances have been eliminated. We account
for our investment in Geoilbent and Arctic Gas based on a fiscal year ending September 30.

Oil and natural gas revenue is accrued monthly based on sales. Each quarter, Benton-Vinccler invoices
PDVSA based on barrels of oil accepted by PDVSA during the quarter, using quarterly adjusted U.S. dollar
contract service fees per barrel. The operating service agreement provides for Benton-Vinccler to receive an
operating fee for each barrel of crude oil delivered. It also provides the right to receive a capital recovery fee
for certain of its capital expenditures, provided that such operating fee and capital recovery fee cannot exceed
the maximum total fee per barrel set forth in the agreement. The operating fee is subject to quarterly
adjustments to reflect changes in the special energy index of the U.S. Consumer Price Index. The maximum
total fee is subject to quarterly adjustments to reflect changes in the average of certain world crude oil prices.

We follow the full cost method of accounting for oil and gas properties with costs accumulated in cost
centers on a country-by-country basis. All costs associated with the acquisition, exploration, and development
of oil and natural gas reserves are capitalized as incurred, including exploration overhead. Only overhead that
is directly identified with acquisition, exploration or development activities is capitalized. All costs related to
production, general corporate overhead and similar activities are expensed as incurred. The costs of unproved
properties are excluded from amortization until the properties are evaluated. We regularly evaluate our
unproved properties on a country-by-country basis for possible impairment. If we abandon all exploration
efforts in a country where no proved reserves are assigned, all exploration and acquisition costs associated with
the country are expensed. Due to the unpredictable nature of exploration drilling activities, the amount and
timing of impairment expenses are difficult to predict with any certainty.
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The full cost method of accounting uses proved reserves in the calculation of depletion, depreciation and
amortization. Proved reserves are estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas, and natural gas liquids which
geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable from known
reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions. Proved developed reserves are those which are
expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods. All
Venezuelan reserves are attributable to an operating service agreement between Benton-Vinccler and
PDVSA, under which all mineral rights are owned by the government of Venezuela. Proved reserves cannot
be measured exactly, and the estimation of reserves involves judgmental determinations. Reserve estimates
must be reviewed and adjusted periodically to reflect additional information gained from reservoir perform-
ance, new geological and geophysical data and economic changes. The estimates are based on current
technology and economic conditions, and we consider such estimates to be reasonable and consistent with
current knowledge of the characteristics and extent of production. The estimates include only those amounts
considered to be Proved Reserves and do not include additional amounts which may result from new
discoveries in the future, or from application of secondary and tertiary recovery processes where facilities are
not in place or for which transportation and/or marketing contracts are not in place. Changes in previous
estimates of proved reserves result from new information obtained from production history and changes in
economic factors. We perform a quarterly cost center ceiling test of our oil and gas properties under the full
cost accounting rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The most
significant estimates pertain to proved oil, plant products and gas reserve volumes and the future development
costs. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects, calculated at currently enacted rates, of (a) future
deductible/taxable amounts attributable to events that have been recognized on a cumulative basis in the
financial statements or income tax returns, and (b) operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. A valuation
allowance for deferred tax assets is recorded when it is more likely than not that the benefit from the deferred
tax asset will not be realized.

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statements of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 141 “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 1417’) and No. 142 “Goedwill and Other
Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”). SFAS 141 requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001
to be accounted for under the purchase method. For all business combinations for which the date of
acquisition is after June 30, 2001, SFAS 141 also establishes specific criteria for the recognition of intangible
assets separately from goodwill. SFAS 141 also requires unallocated negative goodwill (in a case where the
purchase price is less than fair market value of the acquired assets) to be written off immediately as an
extraordinary gain, rather than deferred and amortized. SFAS 142 changes the accounting for goodwill and
other intangible assets after an acquisition. The most significant changes made by SFAS 142 are: 1) goodwill
and intangible assets with indefinite lives will no longer be amortized; 2) goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite lives must be tested for impairment at least annually; and 3) the amortization period for intangible
assets with finite lives will no longer be limited to 40 years. In August 2001, the FASB also approved
SFAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”). SFAS 144
replaces SFAS 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be
Disposed Of.” The new accounting model for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale applies to all long-
lived assets, including discontinued operations, and replaces the provisions of APB OCpinion No. 30,
“Reporting Results of Operations-Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business”, for the
disposal of segments of a business. SFAS 144 requires that those long-lived assets be measured at the lower of
carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell, whether reported in continuing operations or in discontinued
operations. Therefore, discontinued operations will no longer be measured at net realizable value or include
amounts for operating losses that have not yet occurred. SFAS 144 also broadens the reporting of discontinued
operations to include all components of an entity with operations that can be distinguished from the rest of the
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entity and that will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the entity in a disposal transaction. The
provisions of SFAS 144 are effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2001 and, generally are to be applied prospectively. These statements are not expected to have a
material impact on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

In June 2001, the FASB also approved for issuance SFAS 143 “Asset Retirement Obligations.”
SFAS 143 establishes accounting requirements for retirement obligations associated with tangible long-lived
assets such as wells and production facilities. SFAS 143 guidance covers (1) the timing of the liability
recognition, (2) initial measurement of the liability, (3) allocation of asset retirement cost to expense,
(4) subsequent measurement of the liability and (5) financial statement disclosures. SFAS 143 requires that
an asset retirement cost should be capitalized as part of the cost of the related long- lived asset and
subsequently allocated to expense using a systematic and rational method. The Company will adopt the
statement effective no later than January 1, 2003, as required. The transition adjustment resulting from the
adoption of SFAS 143 will be reported as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. At this time,
the Company cannot reasonably estimate the effect of the adoption of this statement on its financial position,
results of operations or cash flows.

Cost Reductions

In an effort to reduce general and administrative expenses, we closed our Carpinteria, California office.
We completed our relocation to Houston, Texas. The technical capabilities of the field offices managing the
key foreign assets have been enhanced, particularly in Venezuela. Accountability has been transferred our
offices in Maturin, Venezuela and Western Siberia, Russia. Venezuelan operating costs were reviewed and
reduced to $4.05 per Bbl before a non-recurring charge for fuel gas use for the period of 1997 through 2000
compared with average operating cost of $5.01 per Bbl in 2000. We expect operating costs to average between
$3.00 and $3.50 per Bbl sold in 2002.

Risk Factors

In addition to the other information set forth elsewhere in this Form 10-K, the following factors should be
carefully considered when evaluating the Company.

Oil Price Declines and Volatility Could Adversely Affect Our Revenue, Cash Flows and Profitability.
Prices for oil fluctuate widely. The average price we received for oil in Venezuela decreased from
approximately $14.94 per Bbl for the year ended December 31, 2000 to $12.52 per Bbl for the year ended
December 31, 2001. During the same period, the average price we received for oil in Russia increased from
$18.54 per Bbl to $19.51 per Bbl. Our Venezuelan oil sales are based on a fee adjusted quarterly by the
percentage change of a basket of crude oil prices instead of by absolute dollar changes, which dampens both
any upward and downward effects of changing prices on our Venezuelan oil sales and cash flows. Cur
revenues, profitability and future rate of growth depend substantially upon the prevailing prices of oil. Prices
also affect the amount of cash flow available for capital expenditures and our ability to service our debt. In
addition, we may have ceiling test writedowns when prices decline. Lower prices may also reduce the amount
of oil that we can produce economically. We cannot predict future oil prices. Factors that can cause this
fluctuation include:

= relatively minor changes in the supply of and demand for oil;
o market uncertainty;

o the level of consumer product demand;

o weather conditions;

o domestic and foreign governmental regulations;

o the price and availability of alternative fuels;
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o political and economic conditions in oil producing countries, particularly those in Russia and the
Middle East; and

o overall economic conditions.

New York Stock Exchange Delisting. In October 2001, we received a letter from the New York Stock
Exchange (“NYSE”) notifying us that we have fallen below the continued listing standards of the NYSE.
These standards include a total market capitalization of at least $50 million over a 30-day trading period and
stockholders’ equity of at least $50 million. According to the NYSE’s notice, our total market capitalization
over the 30 trading days ended October 17, 2001, was $48.2 million, and our stockholders’ equity as of
September 30, 2001, was $16.0 million. In accordance with the NYSE’s rules, we submitted a plan to the
NYSE in December detailing how we expect to reestablish compliance with the listing criteria within the next
18 months. In January 2002, the NYSE accepted our business plan, subject to quarterly reviews of the goals
and objectives outlined in that plan. These initiatives include continued cost reductions, production enhance-
ments, selling all or part of our assets in Venezuela and/or Russia, restructuring the debt or some combination
of these alternatives. Failure to achieve the financial and operational goals may result in being subject to
NYSE trading suspension at the point the initiative or goal is not met. As a result of a delisting, an investor
will find it more difficult to dispose or obtain quotations or market value of our common stock, which may
adversely affect the marketability of our common stock. However, given the successful execution of our
strategic plan referenced above, we are optimistic that we will be able to meet the NYSE requirements in the
future and consequently, do not expect our stock to be delisted. As of December 31, 2001, our stockholders’
equity was $67.6 million, and as of March 25, 2002 our market capitalization was in excess of $138 million.

The Proposed Arctic Gas Sale May Not Close. While we can give you no assurance, we currently believe
that our cash flow from operations, supplemented by borrowings and asset sales if required, will provide
sufficient capital resources and liquidity to fund our planned capital expenditures, investments in and advances
to affiliates, and semiannual interest payment obligations for the next 12 months. Our expectation is based
upon our current estimate of projected price levels, production and the availability of short-term working
capital facilities of up to $12 million currently during the time periods between the submission of quarterly
invoices to PDVSA by Benton-Vinccler and the subsequent payments of these invoices by PDVSA and other
financial alternatives. Actual results could be materially affected if there is a significant decrease in either
price or production levels related to the South Monagas Unit. Future cash flows are subject to a number of
variables including, but not limited to, the level of production and prices, as well as various economic
conditions that have historically affected the oil and natural gas business. Additionally, prices for oil are
subject to fluctuations in response to changes in supply, market uncertainty and a variety of factors beyond our
control.

However, we currently have significant debt obligations payable in May 2003 and November 2007 of
$108 million and $105 million, respectively. Our ability to meet our debt obligations and to reduce our level of
debt depends on the successful implementation of our strategic objectives, in particular the timely closing of
the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale. While we believe the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale will be consummated, there can
be no assurance that the transaction will close.

In the event that the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale does not close, we will be required to review additional
strategic alternatives to repay the $108 million in debt, including but not limited to, selling all or part of our
existing assets in Venezuela and Russia, restructuring our debt, some combination thereof, or selling the
Company. However, no assurances can be given that any of these steps can be successfully completed or that
we ultimately will determine that any of the steps should be taken.

Estimates of Oil and Natural Gas Reserves Are Uncertain and Inherently Imprecise. This Form 10-K
contains estimates of our proved oil and natural gas reserves and the estimated future net revenues from such
reserves. These estimates are based upon various assumptions, including assumptions required by the
Securities and Exchange Commission relating to oil and natural gas prices, drilling and operating expenses,
capital expenditures, taxes and availability of funds.
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The process of estimating oil and natural gas reserves is complex. Such process requires significant
decisions and assumptions in the evaluation of available geological, geophysical, engineering and economic
data for each reservoir. Therefore, these estimates are inherently imprecise. Actual future production, oil and
natural gas prices, revenues, taxes, development expenditures, operating expenses and quantities of recover-
able oil and natural gas reserves most likely will vary from those estimated. Any significant variance could
materially affect the estimated quantities and present value of reserves set forth. In addition, we may adjust
estimates of proved reserves to reflect production history, results of exploration and development, prevailing oil
and natural gas prices and other factors, many of which are beyond our control. Actual production, revenue,
taxes, development expenditures and operating expenses with respect to our reserves will likely vary from the
estimates used. Such variances may be material.

At December 31, 2001, approximately 63 percent of our estimated proved reserves were undeveloped.
Undeveloped reserves, by their nature, are less certain. Recovery of undeveloped reserves requires significant
capital expenditures and successful drilling operations. The estimates of our future reserves include the
assumption that we will make significant capital expenditures to develop these reserves. Although we have
prepared estimates of our oil and natural gas reserves and the costs associated with these reserves in
accordance with industry standards, we cannot assure you that the estimated costs are accurate, that
development will occur as scheduled or that the results will be as estimated. See Supplemental Information on
Oil and Natural Gas Producing Activities.

You should not assume that the present value of future net revenues referred to is the current market
value of our estimated oil and natural gas reserves. In accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission
requirements, the estimated discounted future net cash flows from proved reserves are generally based on
prices and costs as of the date of the estimate. Actual future prices and costs may be materially higher or lower
than the prices and costs as of the date of the estimate. Any changes in consumption or in governmental
regulations or taxation will also affect actual future net cash flows. The timing of both the production and the
expenses from the development and production of oil and gas properties will affect the timing of actual future
net cash flows from estimated proved reserves and their present value. In addition, the 10 percent discount
factor, which is required by the Securities and Exchange Commission to be used in calculating discounted
future net cash flows for reporting purposes, is not necessarily the most accurate discount factor. The effective
interest rate at various times and our risks or the risks associated with the oil and natural gas industry in
general will affect the accuracy of the 10 percent discount factor.

Leverage Materially Affects Our Operations. Even if the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale is completed, we
remain leveraged. As of December 31, 2001, our long-term debt was $221.6 million. Our long-term debt
represented 77 percent of our total capitalization at December 31, 2001. If the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale
closes, our debt level will be reduced to 41 percent of our total capitalization. Our level of debt affects our
operations in several important ways, including the following:

¢ a significant portion of our cash flow from operations is used to pay interest on borrowings;

» the covenants contained in the indentures governing our debt limit our ability to borrow additional
funds or to dispose of assets;

o the covenants contained in the indentures governing our debt affect our flexibility in planning for, and
reacting to, changes in business conditions;

o the high level of debt could impair our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working
capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, general corporate or other purposes; and

o the terms of the indentures governing our debt permit our creditors to accelerate payments upon an
event of default or a change of control.

Lower Gil and Natural Gas Prices May Cause Us to Record Ceiling Limitation Writedowns. We use the
full cost method of accounting to report our oil and natural gas operations. Accordingly, we capitalize the cost
to acquire, explore for and develop oil and gas properties. Under full cost accounting rules, the net capitalized
costs of oil and gas properties may not exceed a “ceiling limit” which is based upon the present value of
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estimated future net cash flows from proved reserves, discounted at 10 percent, plus the lower of cost or fair
market value of unproved properties. If net capitalized costs of oil and gas properties exceed the ceiling limit,
we must charge the amount of the excess to earnings. This is called a “ceiling limitation write-down.” This
charge does not impact cash flow from operating activities, but does reduce stockholders’ equity. The risk that
we will be required to write down the carrying value of our oil and gas properties increases when oil and natural
gas prices are low or volatile. In addition, write-downs may occur if we experience substantial downward
adjustments to our estimated proved reserves. In 1998, we recorded after-tax write-downs of $158.5 million
($187.8 million pre-tax). Since 1998, we recorded no ceiling limitation write-downs. We cannot assure you
that we will not experience ceiling limitation write-downs in the future. We perform quarterly cost center
ceiling tests of our oil and gas properties. No ceiling test write-downs were required in 2001,

We May Not be Able to Replace Production With New Reserves. In general, the volume of production
from oil and gas properties declines as reserves are depleted. The decline rates depend on reservoir
characteristics. Qur reserves will decline as they are produced unless we acquire properties with proved
reserves or conduct successful exploration and development activities. Our future oil production is highly
dependent upon our level of success in finding or acquiring additional reserves. The business of exploring for,
developing or acquiring reserves is capital intensive and uncertain. We may be unable to make the necessary
capital investment to maintain or expand our oil and natural gas reserves if cash flow from operations is
reduced and external sources of capital become limited or unavailable. We cannot assure you that our future
exploration, development and acquisition activities will result in additional proved reserves or that we will be
able to drill productive wells at acceptable costs.

Our Operations Are Subject to Numerous Risks of Oil and Natural Gas Drilling and Production
Activities. Qil and natural gas drilling and production activities are subject to numerous risks, including the
risk that no commercially productive oil or natural gas reservoirs will be found. The cost of drilling and
completing wells is often uncertain. Oil and natural gas drilling and production activities may be shortened,
delayed or canceled as a result of a variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control. These factors
include:

> unexpected drilling conditions;

= pressure or irregularities in formations;

o equipment failures or accidents;

o weather conditions; and

¢ shortages in experienced labor or shortages or delays in the delivery of equipment.

The prevailing price of oil also affects the cost of and the demand for drilling rigs, production equipment
and related services. We cannot assure you that the new wells we drill will be productive or that we will
recover all or any portion of our investment. Drilling for oil and natural gas may be unprofitable. Drilling
activities can result in dry wells and wells that are productive but do not produce sufficient net revenues after
operating and other costs.

The Oil and Natural Gas Industry Experiences Numerous Operating Risks. The oil and natural gas
industry experiences numerous operating risks. These operating risks include the risk of fire, explosions, blow-
outs, pump and pipe failures, abnormally pressured formations and environmental hazards. Environmental
hazards include oil spills, natural gas leaks, pipeline ruptures or discharges of toxic gases. If any of these
industry operating risks occur, we could have substantial losses. Substantial losses may be caused by injury or
loss of life, severe damage to or destruction of property, natural resources and equipment, pollution or other
environmental damage, clean-up responsibilities, regulatory investigation and penalties and suspension of
operations. In accordance with industry practice, we maintain insurance against some, but not all, of the risks
described above. The events of September 11, 2001 forced changes to our insurance coverage. Acts of
terrorism are “excluded risks from our property insurance coverage”. We cannot assure you that our insurance
will be adequate to cover losses or liabilities. We cannot predict the continued availability of insurance at
premium levels that justify its purchase.
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Our Concentration of Assets Increases Our Exposure to Production Declines. During 2001, the
production from the South Monagas Unit in Venezuela represented approximately 100 percent of our total
production from consolidated companies. Our production, revenue and cash flow will be adversely affected if
production from the South Monagas Unit decreases significantly. Venezuela is a member of the Organization
of Petroleum Exporting Countries, which has collectively reduced crude oil exports in an attempt to increase
crude oil prices. We have been required to curtail sales to PDVSA from time to time due to their insufficient
crude oil storage capacity. We cannot be assured that our sales to PDVSA will not be curtailed in the future in
the same manner. In March 2002, the managers of PDVSA are challenging the replacement of their senior
management by the President of Venezuela. The implications of this unrest are uncertain at this date.

Our International Operations May be Adversely Affected by Currency Fluctuations and Economic and
Political Developments. We have substantially all of our operations in Venezuela and Russia. The expenses
of such operations are payable in local currency while most of the revenue from oil sales is paid in U.S. dollars.
As a result, our operations are subject to the risk of fluctuations in the relative value of the Bolivar, Ruble and
U.S. dollar. Cur foreign operations may also be adversely affected by political and economic developments,
royalty and tax increases and other laws or policies in these countries, as well as U.S. policies affecting trade,
taxation and investment in other countries.

Competition Within the Industry May Adversely Affect Our Operations. We operate in a highly
competitive environment. We compete with major and independent oil and natural gas companies for the
acquisition of desirable oil and gas properties and the equipment and labor required to develop and operate
such properties. Many of these competitors have financial and other resources substantially greater than ours.

Our Oil and Natural Gas Operations Are Subject to Various Governmental Regulations That Materially
Affect OQur Operations. Qur oil and natural gas operations are subject to various foreign governmental
regulations. These regulations may be changed in response to economic or political conditions. Matters
regulated include permits for discharges of wastewaters and other substances generated in connection with
drilling operations, bonds or other financial responsibility requirements to cover drilling contingencies and well
plugging and abandonment costs, reports concerning operations, the spacing of wells, and unitization and
pooling of properties and taxation. At various times, regulatory agencies have imposed price controls and
limitations on oil and gas production. In order to conserve supplies of oil and natural gas, these agencies have
restricted the rates of flow of oil and natural gas wells below actual production capacity. In addition, our
operations are subject to taxation policies, that in Russia have changed significantly. We cannot predict the
ultimate cost of compliance with these requirements or their effect on our operations.

Foreign Currency Risk. We have significant operations outside of the United States, principally in
Venezuela and Russia. Both Venezuela and Russia have historically been considered highly inflationary
economies. Operations in those countries are re-measured in United States dollars, and all currency gains or
losses are recorded in the statement of income. We attempt to manage our operations in a manner to reduce
our exposure to foreign exchange losses. However, there are many factors which affect foreign exchange rates
and resulting exchange gains and losses, many of which are beyond our influence. We have recognized
significant exchange gains and losses in the past, resulting from fluctuations in the relationship of the
Venezuelan and Russian currencies to the United States dollar. It is not possible to predict the extent to which
we may be affected by future changes in exchange rates. In February 2002, Venezuela elected to float the
Bolivar, resulting in approximately a 20 percent devaluation. Our Venezuelan receipts are denominated in
U.S. dollars, while most expenditures are in Bolivars. Management does not expect the devaluation to have a
material impact.

Foreign Operations Risk. Our operations in areas outside the U.S. are subject to various risks inherent
in foreign operations. These risks may include, among other things, loss of revenue, property and equipment as
a result of hazards such as expropriation, war, insurrection and other political risks, increases in taxes and
governmental royalties, renegotiation of contracts with governmental entities, changes in laws and policies
governing operations of foreign-based companies, currency restrictions and exchange rate fluctuations and
other uncertainties arising out of foreign government sovereignty over the Company’s international operations.
Venezuela has had labor strikes and demonstrations in 2001 and the first quarter of 2002. The implications and
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results of this unrest are uncertain at this time. We are dependent on cash flows received from Benton-
Vinccler to fund our U.S. expenses, including interest expenses for the $108 million of 11% percent senior
notes and the $105 million of 9% percent senior notes. If Venezuela imposed currency restrictions which
prohibited our receipt of funds from Benton-Vinccler, our ability to meet our interest payments would be
adversely affected. Qur international operations may also be adversely affected by laws and policies of the
United States affecting foreign trade, taxation and the possibility of having to be subject to exclusive
jurisdiction of courts in connection with legal disputes and the possible inability to subject foreign persons to
the jurisdiction of the courts in the United States. To date, our international operations have not been
materially affected by these risks.

Minority Ownership in Geoilbent. We own 34 percent in Geoilbent. We are reviewing ways to improve
the operations, but we are a minority partner and therefore may not be able to fully influence changes in the
daily operations, if indicated by our review.

Geoilbent has reduced its 2002 capital budget to approximately $16.6 million, of which $2.7 million is for
the North Gubkinskoye Field, $9.7 million is for the South Tarakovskoye Field, $2.2 million is to carry out
seismic and related exploration activity and $2.0 million is for natural gas plant economic, technical and
feasibility studies. Geoilbent’s 2002 operating budget includes $16 million for principal payments on the loan
facility. In addition, Geoilbent had outstanding accounts payable of $26.6 million as of December 31, 2001,
primarily to contractors and vendors for drilling and construction services.

Although Geoilbent’s reduced capital expenditure budget may help to alleviate any shortfall of funds
available to make payments to the banks and its creditors as those payments come due, it is uncertain that
Geoilbent’s cash flow from operations will be sufficient to do so, and it may be necessary for Geoilbent to
obtain capital contributions from its partners, including the Company, to have sufficient funds to make these
payments on a timely basis. Although the Company may consider making such a capital contribution, there
can be no assurances that the Company will do so, nor can there be any assurances that Geoilbent’s other
partner will be willing or able to do so. Under Russian law, a creditor can force a company into involuntary
bankruptcy if the company’s payments have been due for more than 90 days.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk from adverse changes in oil and natural gas prices, interest rates and
foreign exchange, as discussed below.

Qil and Natural Gas Prices

As an independent oil and natural gas producer, our revenue, other income and equity earnings and
profitability, reserve values, access to capital and future rate of growth are substantially dependent upon the
prevailing prices of crude oil and condensate. Prevailing prices for such commodities are subject to wide
fluctuation in response to relatively minor changes in supply and demand and a variety of additional factors
beyond our control. Historically, prices received for oil and natural gas production have been volatile and
unpredictable, and such volatility is expected to continue. This volatility is demonstrated by the average
realizations in Venezuela, which declined from $10.01 per Bbl in 1997 to $6.75 in 1998 and increased to
$14.94 in 2000, then back down to $12.52 in 2001. Based on our budgeted production and costs, we will
require an average realization in Venezuela of approximately $8.64 (relates to $18 West Texas Intermediate
benchmark price) per Bbl in 2002 in order to break-even on income from consolidated companies before our
equity in earnings from affiliated companies. We have not hedged our oil production since 1996. While
hedging limits the downside risk of adverse price movements, it may also limit future revenues from favorable
price movements. Because gains or losses associated with hedging transactions are included in oil sales when
the hedged production is delivered, such gains and losses are generally offset by similar changes in the realized
prices of the commodities.
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Interest Rates

Total long-term debt at December 31, 2001, consisted of $213 million of fixed-rate senior unsecured
notes maturing in 2003 ($108 million) and 2007 ($105 million) on debt. A hypothetical 10 percent adverse
change in the floating rate would not have had a material affect on our results of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2001.

Foreign Exchange

. Cur operations are located primarily outside of the United States. In particular, our current oil producing
operations are located in Venezuela and Russia, countries which have had recent histories of significant
inflation and devaluation. For the Venezuelan operations, oil sales are received under a contract in effect
through 2012 in U.S. dollars; expenditures are both in U.S. dollars and local currency. For the Russian
operations, a majority of the oil sales are received in U.S. dollars; expenditures are both in U.S. dollars and
local currency, although a larger percentage of the expenditures are in local currency. We have utilized no
currency hedging programs to mitigate any risks associated with operations in these countries, and therefore
our financial results are subject to favorable or unfavorable fluctuations in exchange rates and inflation in these
countries.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementai Data

The information required by this item is included herein on pages S-1 through S-39.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acconnting and Financial Disclosure

No information is required to be reported under this item.

PART HI

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

*

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

*®

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

* Reference is made to information under the captions “Election of Directors”, “Executive Officers”,
“Executive Compensation”, “Stock Ownership”, and “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in
our Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

PART IV

Item 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) 1. Index to Financial Statements:

Page
Reports of Independent Accountants ............ .. i e S-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2001 and 2000 ... ...................... S-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and
100G S-3
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2001,
2000, and 1999 ... S-4
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2000,
And 1999 . . o e S-5
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ...... ... ... .. .. S-7

2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules:

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
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3. Exhibits:

3.1  Certificate of Incorporation filed September 9, 1988 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our
Registration Statement (Registration No. 33-26333).

3.2 Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation filed June 7, 1991 (Previously filed as an exhibit to our
S-1 Registration Statement {Registration No. 33-39214)).

3.3 Restated Bylaws (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to our Form 10-Q, filed August 13, 2001).

4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate (Previously filed as an exhibit to our S-1 Registration Statement
(Registration No. 33-26333)).

10.1  Form of Employment Agreements (Exhibit 10.19) (Previously filed as an exhibit to our S-1
Registration Statement (Registration No. 33-26333)).

‘ 10.2  Benton Oil and Gas Company 1991-1992 Stock Option Plan (Exhibit 10.14) (Previously filed as an
exhibit to our S-1 Registration Statement (Registration No. 33-43662)).

10.3  Benton Oil and Gas Company Directors’ Stock Option Plan (Exhibit 10.15) (Previously filed as an
exhibit to our S-1 Registration Statement (Registration No. 33-43662)).

10.4  Agreement dated October 16, 1991 among Benton Oil and Gas Company, Puror State Geological
Enterprises for Survey, Exploration, Production and Refining of Cil and Gas; and Puror Qil and Gas
Production Association (Exhibit 10.14) (Previously filed as an exhibit to our S-1 Registration
Statement (Registration No. 33-46077) ).

10.5 Operating Service Agreement between Benton Qil and Gas Company and Lagoven, S.A., which has
been subsequently combined into PDVSA Petroleo y Gas, S.A., dated July 31, 1992, (portions have
been omitted pursuant to Rule 406 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933 and filed separately
with the Securities and Exchange Commission — Exhibit 10.25) (Previously filed as an exhibit to
our S-1 Registration Statement (Registration No. 33-52436) ).

10.6  Indenture dated May 2, 1996 between Benton Qil and Gas Company and First Trust of New York,
National Association, Trustee related to $125,000,000, 11% percent Senior Notes Due 2003
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our S-4 Registration Statement filed June 17, 1996,
SEC Registration No. 333-06125).

10.7  Indenture dated November 1, 1997 between Benton Qil and Gas Company and First Trust of New

- York, National Association, Trustee related to an aggregate of $115,000,000 principal amount of
9°/s percent Senior Notes due 2007 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended September 30, 1997).

10.8  Separation Agreement dated January 4, 2000 between Benton Oil and Gas Company and Mr. A.E.
Benton. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to our Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1999).

10.9  Consulting Agreement dated January 4, 2000 between Benton Qil and Gas Company and Mr. A.E.
Benton. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to our Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1999).

10.10 Employment Agreement dated July 10, 2000 between Benton Oil and Gas Company and Peter J.
Hill. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to our Form 8-K, filed June 6, 2000).

10.11  Benton Qil and Gas Company 1999 Employee Stock Option Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.21 to our Form 10-K, filed on April 2, 2001).

- 10.12 Benton Oil and Gas Company Non-Employee Director Stock Purchase Plan (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.21 to our Form 10-K, filed on April 2, 2001).

10.13 Employment Agreement dated December 7, 2000 between Benton Cil and Gas Company and Steven
W. Tholen (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to our Form 10-K, filed on April 2, 2001).

10.14 Note payable agreement dated March 8, 2001 between Benton-Vinccler, C.A. and Banco Mercantil,
C.A. related to a note in the principal amount of $6,000,000 with interest at LIBOR plus five percent,
for financing of Tucupita Pipeline (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to our Form 10-Q,
filed on May 15, 2001).
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10.15

10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19
10.20
10.21
10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25
21.1

23.1

23.2
233

(b)

Note payable agreement dated March 8, 2001 between Benton-Vinccler, C.A. and Banco Mercantil,
C.A. related to a note in the principal amount of 4,435,200,000 Venezuelan Bolivars (approximately
$6.3 million) at a floating interest rate, for financing of Tucupita Pipeline (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.25 to our Form 10-Q, filed on May 15, 2001).

Change of Control Severance Agreement effective May 4, 2001 (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.26 to our Form 10-Q, filed on August 13, 2001).

Alexander E. Benton Settlement and Release Agreement effective May 11, 2001 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.27 to our Form 10-Q, filed on August 13, 2001).

Michael B. Wray Termination Agreement effective May 7, 2001 (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.28 to our Form 10-Q, filed on August 13, 2001).

Michael B. Wray Consulting Agreement effective May 7, 2001 (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.29 to our Form 10-Q, filed on August 13, 2001).

Relocation/Reduction in Force Severance Plan effective June 5, 2001 (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.30 to our Form 10-Q, filed on August 13, 2001).

First Amendment to Change of Control Severance Plan effective June 5, 2001 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.31 to our Form 10-Q, filed on August 13, 2001).

Amended Benton Qil and Gas Company Non-Employee Director Stock Purchase Plan
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 10-Q), filed on November 31, 2001)

Employment Agreement dated December 20, 2000 between Benton Oil and Gas Company and
Robert Stephen Molina.

Employment Agreement dated November 14, 2001, between Benton Oil and Gas Company and Kurt
A. Nelson.

Sale and Purchase Agreement dated February 27, 2002 between Benton Cil and Gas Company and
Sequential Holdmgs Russian Investors Limited regardmg the sale of Benton Qil and Gas Company’s
68 percent interest in Arctic Gas Company.

List of subsidiaries.

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
Consent of Huddleston & Co., Inc.
Consent of Ryder Scott Company, L.P.

Reports on Form 8-K

None.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors
and Stockholders of Benton Oil and Gas Company

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of
operations, of stockholders’ equity and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Benton Cil and Gas Company and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the results
of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our
opinion, the related financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under Item 14(a)(2) on
page 46 presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with
the related consolidated financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are
the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Houston, Texas
March 28, 2002
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BENTON OIL AND GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents .. ...... .. ... i
Restricted cash. . ... ..
Marketable SECUIES ... .. ottt

Accounts and notes receivable:

Accrued oil sales ... ...
Joint interest and other, net ... ... .. .
Prepaid expenses and other ....... ... i

Total Current ASSeIS ...ttt e
Restricted Cash .. ... o
T A TS . o v vttt e e
Deferred Income TaXes. .. ..ttt e
Investments In and Advances To Affiliated Companies . .........................

Property and Equipment:
Cil and gas properties (full cost method-costs of $16,808 and $16,634 excluded

from amortization in 2001 and 2000, respectively) ............... ... ...
Furniture and fiXtures ... ... ... 0 i

Accumulated depletion, depreciation, and amortization . .......................
Total Property and Equipment......... ... ... ... i

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable, trade and other ........... ... ... ... il
ACCTUEd BXPEISES . ..ottt ittt
Accrued interest payable. ... ... ... .. e
Income taxes payable . ........... it
Short-term BOITOWINGS . .. .. ... it e e
Current portion of long-term debt . ...t

Total Current Liabilities . . ... i
Long-Term Debt . ...
Commitments and Contingencies . .........oouiiiin i,
Minority Interest . ... oo oi

Stockholders’ Equity:

Preferred stock, par value $0.01 a share; Authorized 5,000 shares; outstanding, none
Common stock, par value $0.01 a share; Authorized 80,000 shares at December 31,
2001 and 2000; issued and outstanding 34,164 and 33,872 at December 31, 2001

and 2000 . ...
Additional paid-in capital .......... ..
Accumulated deficit ... ... ...

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2001 2000

(In thousands, except per
share data)

$ 9024 § 15132

12 12
— 1,303
23,138 38,003
9,520 6,778
1,839 2,404
43,533 63,632
16 10,920
4,718 5,891
57,700 4,293
100,498 77,741
533,950 490,548
7,399 11,049
541,349 501,597
(399,663)  (377,627)
141,686 123,970
$ 348,151 $ 286,447

$§ 8132 § 12804

25,840 25,797
3,894 3,733
3,821 3,214

— 5,714
2,432 —
44,119 51,262
221,583 213,000
14,826 9,281
342 339
168,108 156,629
(100,128)  (143,365)
(699) (699)
67,623 12,904
$ 348,151 $ 286,447




BENTON OIL AND GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenues
Oil and natural gas sales ........ ... i $122,386  $140,284 $ 89,060
Expenses
OPperating xXpenses « . ... vt vttt e 42,759 47,430 39,393
Depletion, depreciation and amortization........................ 25,516 17,175 16,519
Write-down of oil and gas properties and impairments ............ 468 1,346 25,891
General and administrative .............. . i 20,072 16,739 25,969
Taxes other than onincome ........... ... .. .. it iinnnn . 3,370 4,390 3,813
94,185 87,080 111,585
Income (Loss) from Operations ..o, 28,201 53,204 (22,525)
Other Non-Operating Income (Expense)
Investment earnings and other....... ... ... .. ... .. .. .. ..., 3,088 8,559 8,986
Interest eXpense. . . .. ot e (24,875)  (28,973)  (29,247)
Net gain on exchange rates . ........... ...t iiiiiiaan... 768 326 1,044

(21,019)  (20,088)  (19,217)

Income (Loss) from Consolidated Companies Before Income Taxes

and Minority Interests .......... oot 7,182 33,116 (41,742)
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) ......... ... .. .. .. ... ... ... .. (35,698) 14,032 (7,526)
Income (Loss) Before Minority Interests ......................... 42,880 19,084 (34,216)
Minority Interests in Consolidated Subsidiary Companies............ 5,545 7,869 937
income (Loss) from Consolidated Companies ..................... 37,335 11,213 (35,153)
Equity in Net Earnings of Affiliated Companies.................... 5,902 5,313 2,869
Income (Loss) Before Extraordinary Income ...................... 43,237 16,528 (32,284)
Extraordinary Income on Debt Repurchase, Net of Tax of $0 ........ — 3,960 —
Net Income (LOSS) .. .ovt ittt e $ 43,237 $ 20,488  $(32,284)
Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share:
Basic:
Income (Loss) before extraordinary income ..................... $ 127 $ 054 $ (1L.09)
Extraordinary Income........ ... ... .. — 0.13 —
| Net Income (L0SS) ..ottt e e $ 127 $ 067 $ (1.09)
. Diluted:
Income (Loss) Before Extraordinary Income .................... $ 127 § 053 § (1.09)
Extraordinary Income .. ... ... ..ot — 0.13 —
Net Income (LoSS) ...t e e $ 127 $§ 066 § (1.09)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BENTON OIL AND GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Employee
Cemmon Additional Note
Shares  Common Paid-in Accumulated Treasury Receivable,
Issued Stock Capital Deficit Stock Net Total

(In thousands)
Balance at January 1, 1999.... 29,627 $296  $147,054 $(131,569) $(699) $(2,093) §$ 12,989
Issuance of common shares:

Extension of warrants....... — — 24 — —_ — 24
Employee note receivable, net — — — — — 2,093 2,093
NetLoss ..o.oovvvennennn.. — — — (32,284) — — (32,284)
Balance at December 31, 1999 29,627 296 147,078  (163,853)  (699) — (17,178)
Issuance of common shares:

Exercise of stock options . ... -85 1 316 — — — 317

Extension of warrants....... — — 12 — — — 12

Repurchase of debt......... 4,160 42 9,223 — — —_ 9,265
Net Income................. — — — 20,488 — — 20,488
Balance at December 31, 2600 33,872 339 156,629  (143,365)  (699) — 12,904

Issuance of common shares:
Non-employee director

compensation............ 292 3 471 — — — 474

Tax benefits related to stock
option compensation. .. ... — — 11,008 — — — 11,008
Net Income................. —_ — — 43,237 — —_ 43,237
Balance at December 31, 2001 34,164  $342  $168,108 $(100,128) $(699) $§ — $ 67,623

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BENTON OIL AND GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(In thousands)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net income (10SS) it e $ 43237 $ 20,488  $(32,284)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Depletion, depreciation and amortization...................... 25,516 17,175 16,519
Write-down and impairment of oil and gas properties ........... 468 1,346 25,891
Amortization of financing costs . ...... ... .. i i 1,179 1,375 1,396
(Gain) loss on disposition of assets ........... ... ... ... ..... (336) 60 44
Equity in earnings of affiliated companies ..................... (5,902) (5,313) (2,869)
Allowance and write-off of employee notes and accounts

recelvable .. .. e 365 331 6,231
Non-cash compensation related charges................... . ... 474 — —
Minority interest in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries........ 5,545 7,869 937
Extraordinary income from repurchase of debt ................. — (3,960) —
Tax benefits related to stock option compensation .............. 11,008 — —
Deferred income taxes ........ ... i (53,407) 7,893 (9,210)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities: ,

Accounts and notes receivable. ... ... ... L 11,756 (12,780) (6,414)
Prepaid expenses and other ......... . ... o i 565 (769) 1,750
Accounts payable . ... ... ... (4,671) 9,487 (3,142)
Accrued interest payable ....... .. ... 161 (953) (711)
ACCTUEH EXPEMSES .« . vttt et e e 43 7,971 (166)
Income taxes payable . ........ ... ... i 607 1,543 636
Net Cash Provided by (Used In) Operating Activities .......... 36,608 51,763 (1,392)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment ................... — 800 15,100
Additions of property and equipment .......... ... .. ... L (43,364) (57,196) (36,984)
Investment in and advances to affiliated companies ............... (16,855)  (11,071)  (13,052)
Increase in restricted cash . ....... ... .. ... .. L, (57) (271) (214)
Decrease in restricted cash . ........ .. . . L 10,961 35,800 19,435
Purchases of marketable securities ........... ... ... ... ... (15,067)  (12,638)  (29,173)
Maturities of marketable securities . . ... . .t . 16,370 15,804 65,877
Net Cash Provided by (Used In) Investing Activities........... (48,012)  (28,772) 20,989
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Net proceeds from exercise of stock options and extension of
WAITANIES © . oottt it et e et e e ettt e e e — 330 24
Proceeds from issuance of short term borrowings and notes payable 21,112 15,087 —
Payments on short term borrowings and notes payable ............ (15,746) (47,488) (15,439)
(Increase) decrease in other assets.............c.oovieniinenn.. (70) 3,065 (233)
Net Cash Provided by (Used In) Financing Activities .......... 5,296 (29,006)  (15,648)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents......... {6,108) (6,015) 3,949
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year .................. 15,132 21,147 17,198
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year ....................... $ 9024 $ 15,132 $ 21,147
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid during the year for interest expense ................... $ 25,721  § 28,326 $ 30,346
Cash paid during the year for income taxes ..................... $ 3057 § 2950 $ 2,600

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Supplemental Schedule of Noncash Investing and Financing Activities:

During the year ended December 31, 2000, we repurchased $12.0 million face value of our senior
unsecured notes with the issuance of 4.2 million shares of common stock (see Note 3).

During the year ended December 31, 1999, we recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts related to
amounts owed to us by our former Chief Executive Officer, including the portion of the note secured by our
stock and stock options of $2.1 million ({see Note 13).

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BENTON OIL AND GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — QOrganization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Organization

We engage in the exploration, development, production and management of oil and gas properties. We
conduct our business principally in Venezuela and Russia.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all wholly-owned and majority-owned
subsidiaries. The equity method of accounting is used for companies and other investments in which we have
significant influence. All intercompany profits, transactions and balances have been eliminated. We account
for our investment in Geoilbent, Ltd. (“Geoilbent”) and Arctic Gas Company (“Arctic Gas”), based on a
fiscal year ending September 30 (see Note 2).

Revenue Recogrition

Oil revenue is accrued monthly based on production and delivery. Each quarter, Benton-Vinccler invoices
Petroleos de Venezuela, S.A. (“PDVSA™) or affiliates based on barrels of oil accepted by PDVSA during the
quarter, using quarterly adjusted U.S. dollar contract service fees per barrel. The operating service agreement
provides for Benton-Vinccler to receive an operating fee for each barrel of crude oil delivered. It also provides
the right to receive a capital recovery fee for certain of its capital expenditures, provided that such operating
fee and capital recovery fee cannot exceed the maximum total fee per barrel set forth in the agreement. The
operating fee is subject to quarterly adjustments to reflect changes in the special energy index of the
U.S. Consumer Price Index. The maximum total fee is subject to quarterly adjustments to reflect changes in
the average of certain world crude oil prices.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents include money market funds and short term certificates of deposit with original maturity
dates of less than three months.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash represents cash and cash equivalents used as collateral for financing and letter of credit
and loan agreements and is classified as current or non-current based on the terms of the agreements.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities are carried at amortized cost. The marketable securities that we may purchase are
limited to those defined as Cash Equivalents in the indentures for our senior unsecured notes. Cash
Equivalents may be comprised of high-grade debt instruments, demand or time deposits, bankers’ acceptances
and certificates of deposit or acceptances of large U.S. financial institutions and commercial paper of highly
rated U.S. corporations, all having maturities of no more than 180 days. Qur marketable securities at cost,
which approximates fair value, consisted of $1.3 million at December 31, 2000.

Accounts and Notes Receivable

Allowance for doubtful accounts related to employee notes at December 31, 2001 and 2000 was
$6.5 million and $6.2 million, respectively (see Note 13). Allowance for doubtful accounts related to joint
interest and other accounts receivable was $0.3 million at December 31, 2000.
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BENTON OIL AND GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Other Assets

Other assets consist principally of costs associated with the issuance of long-term debt. Debt issuance
costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the debt, which approximates the effective interest
method of amortizing these costs.

Property and Equipment

We follow the full cost method of accounting for oil and gas properties with costs accumulated in cost
centers on a country-by-country basis. All costs associated with the acquisition, exploration, and development
of oil and natural gas reserves are capitalized as incurred, including exploration overhead of $0.6 million,
$1.5 million and $2.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, and
capitalized interest of $0.9 million and $0.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively. Only overhead that is directly identified with acquisition, exploration or development activities is
capitalized. All costs related to production, general corporate overhead and similar activities are expensed as
incurred.

The costs of unproved properties are excluded from amortization until the properties are evaluated. We
regularly evaluate our unproved properties on a country by country basis for possible impairment. If we
abandon all exploration efforts in a country where no proved reserves are assigned, all exploration and
acquisition costs associated with the country are expensed. During 2001, 2000 and 1999, the Company
recognized $0.5 million, $1.3 million and $25.9 million, respectively, of impairment expense associated with
certain exploration activities. Due to the unpredictable nature of exploration drilling activities, the amount and
timing of impairment expenses are difficult to predict with any certainty.

Excluded costs at December 31, 2001 consisted of the following by year incurred (in thousands):

Prior to

Total 2001 2000 1959 1959
Property acquisition costs ... ..., $15106 $ — § — $— $15106
Exploration costs ................ ... ... ... oL 1,702 174 518 46 964

$16,808 $174 $518 $46 $16,070

Substantially all of the excluded costs at December 31, 2001 relate to the acquisition of Benton Offshore
China Company and exploration related to its Wan “An Bei property. The remaining excluded costs of
$0.6 million are expected to be included in amortizable costs during the next two to three years. The ultimate
timing of when the costs related to the acquisition of Benton Offshore China Company will be included in
amortizable costs is uncertain.

All capitalized costs and estimated future development costs (including estimated dismantlement,
restoration and abandonment costs) of proved reserves are depleted using the units of production method
based on the total proved reserves of the country cost center. Depletion expense, which was substantiaily all
attributable to the Venezuelan cost center for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was
$22.1 million, $15.3 million and $14.8 million ($2.26, $1.68 and $1.53 per equivalent barrel), respectively.

A gain or loss is recognized on the sale of oil and gas properties only when the sale involves a significant
change in the relationship between costs and the value of proved reserves or the underlying value of unproved

property.

Depreciation of furniture and fixtures is computed using the straight-line method with depreciation rates
based upon the estimated useful life of the property, generally 5 years. Leasehold improvements are
depreciated over the life of the applicable lease. Depreciation expense was $3.4 million, $1.8 million and
$1.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

S-8




BENTON OIL AND GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The major components of property and equipment at December 31 are as follows (in thousands):

2001 2000
Proved property CostS. . . v vt $ 501,923 § 458,571
Costs excluded from amortization .......... .. ... ..., 16,808 16,634
Oilfield INVENTOTIES . . . ottt e e e e e 15,219 15,343
Furniture and fixtures . ... ... ... .. . e 7,399 11,049

541,349 501,597
Accumulated depletion, impairment and depreciation................ (399,663)  (377,627)

$ 141,686 $ 123,970

We perform a quarterly cost center ceiling test of our oil and gas properties under the full cost accounting
rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission. No ceiling test write-downs were required.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects, calculated at currently enacted rates, of (a) future
deductible/taxable amounts attributable to events that have been recognized on a cumulative basis in the
financial statements or income tax returns, and (b) operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. A valuation
allowance for deferred tax assets is recorded when it is more likely than not that the benefit from the deferred
tax asset will not be realized. In the fourth quarter of 2001, a substantial portion of the valuation allowance was
reversed based on the likelihood of utilization of net operating losses in 2002. See Note 16 to the Audited
Financial Statements in Item 14 — Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K.

Foreign Curvency

We have significant operations outside of the United States, principally in Venezuela and Russia. These
countries are re-measured in United States dollars, and all currency gains or losses are recorded in the
statement of income. We attempt to manage our operations in a manner to reduce our exposure to foreign
exchange losses. However, there are many factors that affect foreign exchange rates and resulting exchange
gains and losses, many of which are beyond our influence. We have recognized significant exchange gains and
losses in the past, resulting from fluctuations in the relationship of the Venezuelan and Russian currencies to
the United States dollar. It is not possible to predict the extent to which we may be affected by future changes
in exchange rates.

Financial Instruments

QOur financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and
cash equivalents, marketable securities and accounts receivable. Cash and cash equivalents are placed with
commercial banks with high credit ratings. This diversified investment policy limits our exposure both to
credit risk and to concentrations of credit risk. Accounts receivable result from oil and natural gas exploration
and production activities and our customers and partners are engaged in the oil and natural gas business.
PDVSA purchases 100 percent of our Venezuelan oil production. Although the Company does not currently
foresee a credit risk associated with these receivables, collection is dependent upon the financial stability of
PDVSA.

The book values of all financial instruments, other than long-term debt, are representative of their fair
values due to their short-term maturities. The aggregate fair value of our senior unsecured notes, based on the
last trading prices at December 31, 2001 and 2000, was approximately $138.1 million and $137.0 million,
respectively.
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BENTON OIL AND GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Comprehensive Income

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130 (“SFAS 130”) requires that all items that are
required to be recognized under accounting standards as components of comprehensive income be reported in
a financial statement that is displayed with the same prominence as other financial statements. We did not
have any items of other comprehensive income during the three years ended December 31, 2001 and, in
accordance with SFAS 130, have not provided a separate statement of comprehensive income.

Derivatives and Hedging

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133 (“SFAS 133”), as amended, establishes
accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments and hedging activities. The Company has not
used derivative or hedging instruments since 1996.

Minority Interests

We record a minority interest attributable to the minority shareholders of our Venezuela subsidiaries. The
minority interests in net income and losses are generally subtracted or added to arrive at consolidated net
income. However, as of December 31, 1998, losses attributable to the minority shareholder of Benton-
Vinccler, our 80 percent owned subsidiary, exceeded its interest in equity capital creating an equity deficit of
$3.5 million. Accordingly, $3.5 million of income attributable to the minority shareholder of Benton-Vinccler
in 1999 was included in our consolidated net loss, eliminating the minority shareholder’s equity deficit.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statements of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 141 “Business Combinations” (“SFAS 141”) and No. 142 “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”). SFAS 141 requires all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001
to be accounted for under the purchase method. For all business combinations for which the date of
acquisition is after June 30, 2001, SFAS 141 also establishes specific criteria for the recognition of intangible
assets separately from goodwill. SFAS 141 also requires unallocated negative goodwill (in a case where the
purchase price is less than fair market value of the acquired assets) to be written off immediately as an
extraordinary gain, rather than deferred and amortized. SFAS 142 changes the accounting for goodwill and
other intangible assets after an acquisition. The most significant changes made by SFAS 142 are: 1) goodwill
and intangible assets with indefinite lives will no longer be amortized; 2) goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite lives must be tested for impairment at least annually; and 3) the amortization period for intangible
assets with finite lives will no longer be limited to 40 years. In August 2001, the FASB also approved
SFAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”). SFAS 144
replaces SFAS 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be
Disposed Of.” The new accounting model for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale applies to all long-
lived assets, including discontinued operations, and replaces the provisions of APB Opinion- No. 30,
“Reporting Results of Operations-Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business”, for the
disposal of segments of a business. SFAS 144 requires that those long-lived assets be measured at the lower of
carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell, whether reported in continuing operations or in discontinued
operations. Therefore, discontinued operations will no longer be measured at net realizable value or include
amounts for operating losses that have not yet occurred. SFAS 144 also broadens the reporting of discontinued
operations to include all components of an entity with operations that can be distinguished from the rest of the
entity and that will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the entity in a disposal transaction. The
provisions of SFAS 144 are effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
December 135, 2001 and, generally are to be applied prospectively. These statements are not expected to have a
material impact on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.
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BENTON OIL AND GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

In June 2001, the FASB also approved for issuance SFAS 143 “Asset Retirement Obligations.”
SFAS 143 establishes accounting requirements for retirement obligations associated with tangible long-lived
assets such as wells and production facilities. SFAS 143 guidance covers (1) the timing of the liability
recognition, (2) initial measurement of the liability, (3) allocation of asset retirement cost to expense,
(4) subsequent measurement of the liability and (5) financial statement disclosures. SFAS 143 requires that
an asset retirement cost should be capitalized as part of the cost of the related Tong-lived asset and
subsequently allocated to expense using a systematic and rational method. The Company will adopt the
statement effective no later than January 1, 2003, as required. The transition adjustment resulting from the
adoption of SFAS 143 will be reported as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. At this time,
the Company cannot reasonably estimate the effect of the adoption of this statement on its financial position,
results of operations or cash flows. ~

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The most
significant estimates pertain to proved oil, plant products and gas reserve volumes and the future development
costs. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain items in 1999 and 2000 have been reclassified to conform to the 2001 financial statement
presentation.

Note 2 — Investments In and Advances To Affiliated Companies

Investments in Geoilbent and Arctic Gas are accounted for using the equity method due to the significant
influence we exercise over their operations and management. Investments include amounts paid to the
investee companies for shares of stock and other costs incurred associated with the acquisition and evaluation
of technical data for the oil and natural gas fields operated by the investee companies. Other investment costs
are amortized using the units of production method based on total proved reserves of the investee companies.
Equity in earnings of Geoilbent and Arctic Gas are based on a fiscal year ending September 30.

Equity in earnings and losses and investments in and advances to companies accounted for using the
equity method are as follows (in thousands):

Gegsilbent, Ltd. Aretic Gas Company Tetal
2001 2000 2001 2000 2001 2000

Investments:
In equity in net assets . ............. $28,056  $28,056 $(1,814) $(2,218) §$ 26,242  $25,838
Other costs, net of amortization . ... .. (99) (202) 28,579 19,058 28,480 18,856
Total investments . ................. 27,957 27,854 26,765 16,840 54,722 44,694
Advances............. .. ..o — — 28,829 21,986 28,829 21,986
Equity in earnings (losses) ............ 19,307 12,310 (2,360)  (1,249) 16,947 11,061
Total ... ... i $47,264  $40,164  $53,234  $37,577 $100,498  §$77,741
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BENTON OIL AND GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

Note 3 — Long-Term Debt and Liguidity
Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,
2001 2000
Senior unsecured notes with interest at 9.375%
See description below . ........... . $105,000 $105,000
Senior unsecured notes with interest at 11.625%
See description below . ... ... 108,000 108,000
Note payable with interest at 8.7%
See description below . ....... ... . 5,100 —
Note payable with interest at 39%
See description below . ... 5,235 —_
Non-interest bearing liability with a face value of $744 discounted at
7%. See description below ....... ... ... . o oL 680 —
224,015 213,000
Less current Portion ... .. ...ttt ettt 2,432 —
$221,583 $213,000

In November 1997, we issued $115 million in 9.375 percent senior unsecured notes due November 1,
2007 (2007 Notes”), of which we subsequently repurchased $10 million at their par value. In May 1996, we
issued $125 million in 11.625 percent senior unsecured notes due May 1, 2003 (“2003 Notes™), of which we
repurchased $17 million at their discounted value in September 2000 and November 2000 with the issuance of
4.2 million common shares with a market value of $9.3 million and cash of $3.5 million plus accrued interest.
Interest on the notes is due May | and November 1 of each year. The indenture agreements provide for certain
limitations on liens, additional indebtedness, certain investments and capital expenditures, dividends, mergers
and sales of assets. In August 2001, we received the requisite consents from the holders of the 2003 Notes and
2007 Notes to amend the indentures governing the notes, and the supplemental indentures have become
operative. The amendments enable Arctic Gas Company to incur non-recourse debt of up to $77 million to
fund its oil and gas development program and remove stock restrictions. For all of 2001, and at December 31,
2001, we were in compliance with all covenants of the indentures.

In March 2001, Benton-Vinccler borrowed $12.3 million from a Venezuelan commercial bank, in the
form of two loans, for construction of a 31-mile oil pipeline that will connect the Tucupita Field production
facility with the Uracoa central processing unit. The first loan, with an original principal amount of $6 million,
bears interest payable monthly based on 90-day LIBOR (3.7 Percent at December 31, 2001) plus 5 percent
with principal payable quarterly for five years. The second loan, in the amount of 4.4 billion Venezuelan
Bolivars (approximately $6.3 million), bears interest payable monthly based on a mutually agreed interest rate
determined quarterly or a six-bank average published by the central bank of Venezuela. The interest rate for
the quarter ending December 2001 was 39 percent with an effective interest rate of 31 percent taking into
account exchange rate gains resulting from devaluation of the Bolivar during the quarter. In February 2002,
the Bolivar was allowed to float against the U.S. dollar. Principal on the second loan is payable quarterly for
five years beginning in September 2001. The loans provide for certain limitations on dividends, mergers and
sale of assets. At December 31, 2001, we were in compliance with all covenants of the loans.

In 2001, a dispute arose over collection by municipal taxing regimes on the South Monagas Unit resulting
in overpayments and underpayments to adjacent municipalities. As settlement, a portion of future municipal
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BENTON OIL AND GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

tax payments will be offset by the municipal tax that was originally overpaid. The present value of the long-
term portion of the settlement liability is $0.7 million at December 31, 2001.

The principal payment requirements for our long-term debt outstanding at December 31, 2001 are as
follows (in thousands):

200 e $ 2,432
2003 111,112
2004 L 2,432
200 e e e 2,432
2006 . o e 607
SUDSEQUENT YEAIS . . .ottt ettt e e 105,000

$224015

Liquidity

We have significant debt principal obligations payable in 2003 and 2007. During September 2000, we
exchanged 2.7 million shares of our common stock, plus accrued interest, for $8 million face value of our
11.625 percent senior notes due in 2003 and purchased $5 million face value of our 2003 senior notes for cash
of $3.5 million plus accrued interest. Additionally, in November 2000, we exchanged 1.5 million shares of our
common stock, plus accrued interest, for an aggregate $4 million face value of our 11.625 percent senior notes
due in 2003.

While we can give you no assurance, we currently believe that our cash flow from operations, if
supplemented by borrowings if required, will provide sufficient capital resources and liquidity to fund our
planned capital expenditures, investments in and advances to affiliates, and semiannual interest payment
obligations for the next 12 months. Our expectation is based upon our current estimate of projected price
levels, production and the availability of short-term working capital facilities of up to $12 million currently
during the time periods between the submission of quarterly invoices to PDVSA by Benton-Vinccler and the
subsequent payments of these invoices by PDVSA and other financial alternatives. Actual results could be
materially affected if there is a significant decrease in either price or production levels related to the South
Monagas Unit. Future cash flows are subject to a number of variables including, but not limited to, the level of
production and prices, as well as various economic conditions that have historically affected the oil and natural
gas business. Additionally, prices for oil are subject to fluctuations in response to changes in supply, market
uncertainty and a variety of factors beyond our control.

We currently have significant debt obligations payable in May 2003 and November 2007 of $108 million
and $103 million, respectively. Our ability to meet our debt obligations and to reduce our level of debt depends
on the successful implementation of our strategic objectives, in particular the timely sale of our interest in
Arctic Gas. While we believe the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale will be consummated, there can be no assurance
that the transaction will close.

In the event that the Transaction does not close, we will be required to review additional strategic
alternatives to repay the $108 million due in May 2003 in debt, including but not limited to, selling all or part
of our existing assets in Venezuela and Russia, restructuring our debt, some combination thereof, or selling the
Company. However, no assurances can be given that any of these steps can be successfully completed or that
we ultimately will determine that any of the steps should be taken.

We, with the advice of our financial and legal advisers and after having conducted a comprehensive
review to consider our strategic alternatives, initiated a process in May 2001 intended to effectively extend the
maturity of the senior notes due May 1, 2003 by exchanging new 13.125 percent senior notes due December
2007 plus warrants to purchase shares of our common stock for each of the 2003 Notes. While we believe the
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terms of the exchange offer made to the holders of the 2003 Notes were in the best interest of the noteholders
and our shareholders, the majority of the noteholders would not exchange their notes for notes of a longer
maturity on economic terms which were acceptable to us. As a result, the exchange offer was withdrawn in
July 2001. In August 2001, we solicited and received the requisite consents from the holders of both the 2003
Notes and the 2007 Notes to amend certain covenants in the indentures governing the notes to enable Arctic
Gas to incur nonrecourse debt of up to $77 million to fund its oil and gas development program and remove
stock restrictions. As an incentive to consent, we offered to pay each noteholder an amount in cash equal to
$2.50 per $1,000 principal amount of notes held for which executed consents were received. The total amount
of consent fees paid to the consenting noteholders was $0.3 million, which has been included in general and
administrative expenses.

Additionally, we implemented a plan designed to lower operating costs, reduce general and administrative
costs at our corporate headquarters and to transfer geological and geophysical activities to our overseas offices
in Maturin, Venezuela and in Western Siberia and Moscow, Russia.

On February 27, 2002, we signed a Sale and Purchase Agreement to sell our 68 percent interest in Arctic
Gas Company to a nominee of the Yukos Oil Company for $190 million plus approximately $30 million as
repayment of intercompany loans owed to us by Arctic Gas. If this transaction closes, it will alleviate our
short-term liquidity issue. However, in the event the transaction does not close, we will be required to review
additional strategic alternatives to repay the $108 million of 11% percent senior notes due May 2003.

Note 4 — Commitments and Contingencies

On February 17, 1998, the WRT Creditors Liquidation Trust (“WRT Trust”) filed suit in the United
States Bankruptcy Court, Western District of Louisiana against us and Benton Qil and Gas Company of
Louisiana, a.k.a. Ventures Qil & Gas of Louisiana (“BOGLA”), seeking a determination that the sale by
BOGLA to Tesla Resources Corporation (“Tesla™), a wholly owned subsidiary of WRT Energy Corporation,
of certain West Cote Blanche Bay properties for $15.1 million, constituted a fraudulent conveyance under 11
U.S.C. Sections 544, 548 and 550 (the “Bankruptcy Code”). The alleged basis of the claim is that Tesla was
insolvent at the time of its acquisition of the properties, and that it paid a price in excess of the fair value of the
property. A trial commenced on May 1, 2000 that concluded at the end of August 2000, and post trial briefs
were filed. The WRT Trust has filed a Notice of Appeal with the Bankruptcy Court; however, we believe that
the appeal will result in an outcome consistent with the court’s prior decision.

In May 1996, we entered into an agreement with Morgan Guaranty that provided for an $18 million cash
collateralized five-year letter of credit to secure our performance of the minimum exploration work program
required on the Delta Centro Block in Venezuela. As a result of expenditures made related to the exploration
work program, the letter of credit had been reduced to $7.7 million as of December 31, 2000. In January 2001,
we and our bidding partners reached an agreement to terminate the remainder of the exploration work
program in exchange for the unused portion of the standby letter of credit of $7.7 million.

We have employment contracts with four executive officers which provide for annual base salaries, bonus
compensation and various benefits. The contracts provide for the continuation of salary and benefits for the
respective terms of the agreements in the event of termination of employment without cause. These
agreements expire at various times from November 11, 2002 to July 9, 2003.

In July 2001, we leased for three years office space in Houston, Texas for approximately $11,000 per
month. We lease 17,500 square feet of space in a California building that we no longer occupy under a lease
agreement that expires in December 2004, all of which has been subleased for rents that approximate our lease
COosts.

In October 2001, we received a letter from the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) notifying us that
we have fallen below the continued listing standards of the NYSE. These standards include a total market
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capitalization of at least $50 million over a 30-day trading period and stockholders’ equity of at least
$50 million. According to the NYSE’s notice, our total market capitalization over the 30 trading days ended
October 17, 2001, was $48.2 million, and our stockholders’ equity as of September 30, 2001, was $16.0 million.
In accordance with the NYSE'’s rules, we submitted a plan to the NYSE in December detailing how we
expect to reestablish compliance with the listing criteria within the next 18 months. In January 2002, the
NYSE accepted our business plan, subject to quarterly reviews of the goals and objectives outlined in that
plan. These initiatives include continued cost reductions, production enhancements, selling all or part of our
assets in Venezuela and/or Russia, restructuring the debt or some combination of these alternatives. Failure to
achieve the financial and operational goals may result in being subject to NYSE trading suspension at the
point the initiative or goal is not met. As a result of a delisting, an investor will find it more difficult to dispose
or obtain quotations or market value of our common stock, which may adversely affect the marketability of our
common stock. However, given our strategic plan referenced above, we are optimistic that we will be able to
meet the NYSE requirements in the future and, consequently, do not expect our stock to be delisted.

Geoilbent has reduced its 2002 capital budget to approximately $16.6 million, of which $2.7 million is for
the North Gubkinskoye Field, $9.7 million is for the South Tarakovskoye Field, $2.2 million is to carry out
seismic and related exploration activity and $2.0 million is for natural gas plant economic, technical and
feasibility studies. Geoilbent’s 2002 operating budget includes $16 million for principal payments on the loan
facility. In addition, Geoilbent had outstanding accounts payable of $26.6 million as of December 31, 2001,
primarily to contractors and vendors for drilling and construction services.

Although Geoilbent’s reduced capital expenditure budget may help to alleviate any shortfall of funds
available to make payments to the banks and its creditors as those payments come due, it is uncertain that
Geoilbent’s cash flow from operations will be sufficient to do so, and it may be necessary for Geoilbent to
obtain capital contributions from its partners, including the Company, to have sufficient funds to make these
payments on a timely basis. Although the Company may consider making such a capital contribution, there
can be no assurances that the Company will do so, nor can there be any assurances that Geoilbent’s other
partner will be willing or able to do so. Under Russian law, a creditor can force a company into involuntary
bankruptcy if the company’s payments have been due for more than 90 days.

In the normal course of our business, we may periodically become subject to actions threatened or
brought by our investors or partners in connection with the operation or development of our properties or the
sale of securities. We are also subject to ordinary litigation that is incidental to our business, none of which is
expected to have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or liquidity.

Note 5 — Taxes

Taxes Other Than on Income

Benton-Vinccler pays a municipal tax on operating fee revenues it receives for production from the South
Monagas Unit. The components of taxes other than on income were (in thousands):

2001 2000 1999
Venezuelan municipal taxes.............ooviiiinneennnnnnnn.. $4,447 $3,164  $2,303
Severance and production taxes .............cc.iiiiiiiiann. — 28 —
Franchise taxes . . oottt e e e 121 131 139
Payroll and other taxes........... ... ... ... . i 802 1,067 1,371

$5,370 $4,390 $3,813
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Taxes on Income

The tax effects of significant items comprising our net deferred income taxes as of December 31, 2001
and 2000 are as follows (in thousands):

2001 2000
Deferred tax assets:
Operating loss carryforwards. . .............oo i, $ 49,000 §$ 37,142
Difference in basis of property ........ ... ... i 19,300 4,948
4 Other . e 9,100 16,410
B Valuation allowance . . ...t i (19,700)  (54,207)
‘ Net deferred tax @SSt ... ..o .ovruiune it $ 57,700 $ 4,293

. The valuation allowance decreased by $37.0 million as a result of the increase in the U.S. deferred tax
assets related to the net operating loss carryforward. Realization of deferred tax assets associated with net
operating loss carryforwards is dependent upon generating sufficient taxable income prior to their expiration.
Management believes it is more likely than not that they will be realized through future taxable income and in
particular the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale. See Note 16 to the Audited Financial Statements in Item 14 —
Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K.

The components of income before income taxes, minority interest and extraordinary items are as follows
(in thousands}):

2001 2000 1999
Income (loss) before ipcorne taxes United States .......... $(26,572) $(13,034) $(38,637)
FOTEIZN « o o e v e e e e e e e e 33,754 46,150 (3,105)
TOtal . . v oo $ 7,182 $ 33,116 $(41,742)

The provision {benefit) for income taxes consisted of the following at December 31, (in thousands):

2001 2000 1999

Current:
United States. ... .c.vutii i e $ 1§ 215 $(2,216)
Forelgn . .o 6,700 5,925 3,900

$ 6701 § 6,140 $ 1,684
Deferred:
United States. ..ot e i e $(42,405) $§ — § —
Foreign . ..o 6 7,892 (9,210)

(42,399) 7,892 (9,210)
$(35,698) $14,032  $(7,526)
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A comparison of the income tax expense (benefit) at the federal statutory rate to our provision for
income taxes is as follows (in thousands):

2001 2000 1999

Computed tax expense at the statutory rate ................ $ 4,580 $13,451 $(13,606)
State income taxes, net of federal effect ............. ... .. — (343) (307)
Effect of foreign source income and rate differentials on

foreign income . ... ... .. 1,675 (1,826) - 4,507
Change in valuation allowance ........................... (53,413) 2,294 5,951
Prior year adjustments ............oiirie i 2,304 1,637 (847)
Effect of tax law changes............. ... ... . ... .. ..., — — (2,220)
Reclass paid-in capital ........... .. .. i 11,007 — —
All other. . e 215 679 —
Sub-total income tax expense (benefit) .................... (33,632) 15,892 (6,522)
Effects of recording equity income of certain affiliated

Companies on an after-tax basis .. ...................... (2,066)  (1,860) (1,004)
Total income tax expense (benefit) ....................... $(35,698) $14,032 $ (7,526)

Rate differentials for foreign income result from tax rates different from the U.S. tax rate being applied in
foreign jurisdictions and from the effect of foreign currency devaluation in foreign subsidiaries which use the
U.S. dollar as their functional currency. The effect of tax law changes relates to benefits from the Venezuela-
United States tax treaty ratified in 1999.

At December 31, 2001, we had, for federal income tax purposes, operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $136 million, expiring in the years 2003 through 2021.

We do not provide deferred income taxes on undistributed earnings of international consolidated
subsidiaries for possible future remittances as all such earnings are reinvested as part of our ongoing business.

Note 6 — Stock Option and Stock Purchase Plans

During 1989, we adopted our 1989 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan covering 2,000,000 shares of
common stock which were granted to key employees, directors, independent contractors and consultants at
prices equal to or below market prices, exercisable over various periods. The plan was amended during 1990 to
add 1,960,000 shares of common stock.

In September 1991, we adopted the 1991-1992 Stock Option Plan and the Directors’ Stock Option Plan.
The 1991-1992 Stock Option Plan, as amended in 1996 and: 1997, permitted the granting of stock options to
purchase up to 4,800,000 shares of the Company’s common stock in the form of ISOs and NQSOs to our
officers and employees of the Company. Options were granted with exercise prices not less than the fair
market value of the common stock on the date of the grant, subject to the dollar limitations imposed by the
Internal Revenue Code. In the event of a change in control of our company, all outstanding options become
immediately exercisable to the extent permitted by the 1991-1992 Stock Option Plan. All options granted to
date under the plan vest ratably over a three-year period from their dates of grant and expire ten years from
grant date or one year after retirement, if earlier. Subsequent to shareholder approval of the 1998 Stock-Based
Incentive Plan discussed below, our Board of Directors discontinued future grants under the 1991-1992 Stock
Option Plan.

In June 1998, our shareholders approved the adoption of the 1998 Stock-Based Incentive Plan. The 1998
Stock-Based Incentive Plan authorized up to 1,400,000 shares of our common stock for grants of [ISOs and
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NQSQs, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards and bonus stock awards to our employees or
employees of our subsidiaries or associated companies, subject to the dollar limitations imposed by the
Internal Revenue Code. The exercise price of stock options granted under the plan were no less than the fair
market value of our common stock on the date of grant. In the event of a change in control of our company, all
outstanding options become immediately exercisable to the extent permitted by the plan. All options granted
under the 1998 Stock-Based Incentive Plan vest ratably over a three-year period from their dates of grant and
expire ten years from grant date or one year after retirement, if earlier.

In November 1999, we adopted the 1999 Stock Option Plan. The 1999 Stock Option Plan permits the
granting of stock options to purchase up to 2,500,000 shares of our common stock in the form of ISOs and
NQSOs to directors, employees and consultants. Options may be granted as 1SOs, NQSQs or a combination
of each, with exercise prices not less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date of the grant,
subject to the doliar limitations imposed by the Internal Revenue Code. In the event of a change in control of
our company, all outstanding options become immediately exercisable to the extent permitted by the plan.
Options granted to employees under the 1999 Stock Option Plan vest 50 percent after the first year and
25 percent after each of the following two years, or they vest ratably over a three-year period, from their dates
of grant and expire ten years from grant date or three months after retirement, if earlier. All options granted to
outside directors and consultants under the 1999 Stock Option Plan vest ratably over a three-year period from
their dates of grant and expire ten years from grant date.

In July 2001, we adopted the 2001 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan. The 2001 Long Term Stock
Incentive Plan provides for grants of options to purchase up to 1,697,000 shares of our common stock in the
form of ISOs and NQSOs to eligible participants including employees of our company or subsidiaries,
directors, consultants and other key persons. The exercise price of stock options granted under the plan must
be no less than the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. No officer may be granted
more than 500,000 options during any one fiscal year, as adjusted for any changes in capitalization, such as
stock splits. In the event of a change in control of our company, all outstanding options become immediately
exercisable to the extent permitted by the plan. All options granted to date vest ratably over a three-year
period from their dates of grant and expire ten years from grant date.

The Directors’ Stock Option Plan permitted the granting of nonqualified stock options (‘“Director
NQSOs™) to purchase up to 400,000 shares of common stock to our nonemployee directors. Upon election as
a director and annually thereafter, each individual who served as a nonemployee director was automatically
granted an option to purchase 10,000 shares of common stock at a price not less than the fair market value of
common stock on the date of grant. All Director NQSOs vested automatically on the date of the grant of the
options, and at’ December 31, 2001, options to purchase 280,000 shares of common stock were both
outstanding and exercisable. The Director stock option plan has been replaced with the Non-Employee
Director Stock Purchase Plan. No additional Director NQSQO’s will be granted under the Directors Stock
Option Plan.

In January 2001, we adopted the Non-Employee Director Stock Purchase Plan (the “Stock Purchase
Plan”) to encourage our directors to acquire a greater proprietary interest in our company through the
ownership of our common stock. Each non-employee director may elect once each year, prior to January 1, to
be effective for the following year and until a new election is made, to receive shares of our common stock for
all or a portion of their fee for serving as a director. The number of shares issuable will be equal to 1.5 times
the amount of cash compensation due the director divided by the fair market value of the common stock on
the scheduled date of payment of the applicable director’s fee. The shares will have a restriction upon their
sale for one year from the date of issuance. As of December 31, 2001, 292,170 shares had been issued from the
plan.
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A summary of the status of our stock option plans as of December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 and changes
during the years ending on those dates is presented below (shares in thousands):

2001 2000 1999
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise
Price Shares Price Shares Price Shares
Outstanding at beginning of the year: $7.74 5,660 $7.55 6,300  $11.27 3,712
Options granted .. ................. 1.65 1,684 2.06 240 237 2,701
Options exercised ................. — — 2.33 (85) — —
Options cancelled ................. 6.43 (479) 4.90 (795) 6.10 (113)
Outstanding at end of the year ...... 6.36 6,865 7.74 5,660 7.55 6,300
Exercisable at end of the vear ....... 8.32 4,800 9.68 4,099 11.23 3,251

|
|

Significant option groups outstanding at December 31, 2001 and related weighted average price and life
information follow:

Range of Number Weighted-Average Number

Exercise QOutstanding At Remaining Weighted-Average Exercisable at Weighted-Average

Prices December 31, 2001  Contractual Life Exercise Price December 31, 2001 Exercise Price

$ 1.55-8 275 ... .. 3,974,332 8.42 $2.05 1,908,664 $2.32

$ 4.89-§ 7.00 ..... 409,333 277 6.19 409,333 6.19

$ 7.25-$11.00 ..... 903,033 3.17 8.62 903,033 8.62

$11.50-$16.50 ..... 1,080,665 4.91 13.59 1,080,665 13.59

$17.38-824.13 .. ... 497,833 5.05 21.13 497,833 21.13
6,865,196 4,799,528

The weighted average fair value of the stock options granted from our stock option plans during 2001,
2000, and 1999 was $1.33, $1.65 and $1.88, respectively. The fair value of each stock option grant is estimated
on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average
assumptions used:

2001 2000 1999
Expected life ............ . . i 10.0 years 9.1 years 9.3 years
Risk-free interest rate . ........ ... oot iiineern... 5.1% 6.1% 5.9%
Volatility. . ..o 72% 74% 73%
Dividend Yield .......... ... ... .. . ... 0% 0% 0%

We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25 and related interpretations, under which no compensation cost has been recognized for stock option
awards. Had compensation cost for the plans been determined consistent with SFAS 123, our pro forma net
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income and earnings per share for 2001, 2000 and 1999 would have been as follows (in thousands, except per
share data):

2001 2000 1999
Netincome (l0SS) . ... oottt $40,813  $16,224  $(38,441)
Net income (loss) per common share:
BasiC. .. $ 120 $ 053 § (1.30)
Diluted . ..o $ 120 $ 053 § (1.30)

In connection with our acquisition of Benton Offshore China Company in December 1996, we adopted
the Benton Offshore China Company 1996 Stock Option Plan. Under the plan, Benton Offshore China
Company is authorized to issue up to 107,571 options to purchase our common stock for $7.00 per share. The
plan was adopted in substitution of Benton Offshore China Company’s stock option plan, and all options to
purchase shares of Benton Offshore China Company common stock were replaced under the plan by options
to purchase shares of our common stock. All options were issued upon the acquisition of Benton Offshore
China Company and vested upon issuance. At December 31, 2001, options to purchase 74,427 shares of
common stock were both outstanding and exercisable.

In addition to options issued pursuant to the plans, options have been issued to individuals other than
officers, directors or employees of the Company at prices ranging from $10.88 to $11.88 which vest over three
to four years. At December 31, 2001, a total of 208,500 options issued outside of the plans were both
outstanding and exercisable. On January 22, 2002, 19,000 of these options expired. Our expenses associated
with these options were not material.

Note 7 — Stock Warrants

The dates the warrants were issued, the expiration dates, the exercise prices and the number of warrants
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2001 were (shares in thousands):

Date Issued Expiration Date Exercise Price Issued QOutstanding
CJuly 1994 L July 2004 $ 7.50 150 8
September 1994. .. ........ .. ... ... .. September 2002 9.00 250 250
December 1994 .. .................... December 2004 12.00 50 50
June 1995. ... ... ... ... L. June 2007 17.09 125 125
January 1996 . ....... ... ... L. January 2002 11.00 588 5717
1,163 1,010

Note 8 — Operating Segments

We regularly allocate resources to and assesses the performance of our operations by segments that are
organized by unique geographic and operating characteristics. The segments are organized in order to manage
regional business, currency and tax related risks and opportunities. Revenues from the Venezuela and Russia
operating segments are derived primarily from the production and sale of oil. Other income from USA and
other is derived primarily from interest earnings on various investments and consulting revenues. Operations
included under the heading “USA and Other” include corporate management, exploration activities, cash
management and financing activities performed in the United States and other countries which do not meet
the requirements for separate disclosure. All intersegment revenues, other income and equity earnings,
expenses and receivables are eliminated in order to reconcile to consolidated totals. Corporate general and
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administrative and interest expenses are included in the USA and Other segment and are not allocated to
» other operating segments.
4 Venezuela USA and Other Russia Eliminations Consolidated

1 (In thousands)
Year ended December 31, 2001:

Revenues
Qil sales . ...cov e $122,386  § — $ — § —  $122,386
Expenses
Operating eXpenses . .........oovuuneens 42,037 55 667 — 42,759
Depletion, depreciation and amortization 22,096 3,408 12 — 25,516
General and administrative ............ 4,151 14,972 949 — 20,072
Taxes other than on income ........... 4,666 704 — — 5,370
Total expenses .. ................... 72,950 19,139 1,628 — 93,717
Income (loss) from operations ........... 49,436 (19,139) (1,628) — 28,669
Other non-operating income (expense):
Investment earnings and other.......... 5,995 2,053 60 (5,020) 3,088
Interest eXpense. ..........coovvvvnnnn. (7,403) (22,695) — 5,223 (24,875)
Net gain on exchange rates ............ 732 36 — — 768
Intersegment revenues (expenses) ...... (14,983) 14,983 — — —
Equity in income of affiliated companies — — 5,902 — 5,902
(15,659) (5,623) 5,962 203 (15,117)
Income (loss) before income taxes........ 33,777 (24,762) 4,334 203 13,552
Income tax (benefit) expense ............ 6,491 (42,392) — 203 (35,698)
Operating segment income............... 27,286 17,630 4,334 — 49,250
Write-down of oil and gas properties and
impairments . .. ... — (468) — — (468)
: Minority interest . ......... ... ... ..., (5,545) — — — (5,545)
Netincome ........coviininiinennn... $ 21,741 $ 17,162 $ 4334 $ — $ 43237
Total assets ....voviiniii i $167,671 $165,254  $100,801 §$ (85,575) $348,151
Additions to properties . ................. $ 43,411 $ — $ 31§ — $ 43,442
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Venezuela USA and Other Russia Eliminations Consolidated
(In thousands)

Year ended December 31, 2000:

Revenues
Oil and natural gas sales .............. $139,890 $ 394 $ — 3 —  $140,284
139,890 394 — — 140,284
Expenses
Operating expenses . .................. 46,727 59 644 — 47,430
Depletion, depreciation and amortization 16,285 879 11 — 17,175
General and administrative ............ 3,659 12,014 1,066 — 16,739
Taxes other than on income ........... 3,355 1,048 (13) — 4,390
Total expenses . .................... 70,026 14,000 1,708 — 85,734
Income (loss) from operations ........... 69,864 (13,606) (1,708) — 54,550
Cther non-operating income (expense):
Investment earnings and other.......... 1,392 8,986 — (1,819) 8,559
Interest expense. ...........oouvennn.. (6,131) (24,661) —_ 1,819 (28,973)
Net gain on exchange rates .. .......... 298 28 — — 326
Intersegment revenues (expenses) ...... (12,226) 12,226 — — —
Equity in income of affiliated companies — — 5,313 — 5,313
(16,667) (3,421) 5,313 — (14,775)
Income (loss) before income taxes........ 53,197 (17,027) 3,605 — 39,775
Income tax expense .................... 14,020 12 — — 14,032
Operating segment income (loss) ......... 39,177 (17,039) 3,605 — 25,743
Write-down of oil and gas properties and
impairments . .......... ..., — (1,346) — — (1,346)
Minority interest ............... ... . ... (7,869) — — — (7,869)
Extraordinary income on debt repurchase .. — 3,960 — — 3,960
Net income (loss) .......... [ $ 31,308  $(14.425) $ 3,605 $ — $ 20,488
Total assets ...........covviiiiin, $166,462  $156,780  $§ 78,406 $(115,201) $286,447
Additions to properties .................. $ 54,112 $ 3,075 3 9 % —  $ 57,196
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Venezuela USA and Other Russia Eliminations Consolidated
(In thousands)

Year ended December 31, 1999:

Revenues
Oil and natural gas sales .............. $ 89,060 $ — — § — $ 89,060
89,060 — — — 89,060
Expenses
Operating expenses . .................. 38,683 34 676 — 39,393
Depletion, depreciation and amortization 15,705 801 13 — 16,519
General and administrative . ........... 4,482 19,729 1,758 — 25,969
Taxes other than on income ........... 2,501 1,326 (14) — 3,813
Total expenses . .................... 61,371 21,890 2,433 — 85,694
Income (loss) from operations ........... 27,689 (21,890) (2,433) — 3,366
Other non-operating income (expense)
Investment earnings and other.......... 758 9,510 2 (1,284) 8,986
Interest expense. .............coon... (6,834) (23,697) — 1,284 (29,247)
Net gain on exchange rates ... ......... 1,033 11 — — 1,044
Intersegment revenues (expenses) ... ... (8,906) 8,906 — — —
Equity in income of affiliated companies — — 2,869 — 2,869
(13,949) (5,270) 2,871 — (16,348)
Income (loss) before income taxes........ 13,740 (27,160) 438 — (12,982)
- Income tax expense (benefit) ............ (7,554) (170) 198 — (7,526)
Operating segment income (loss) ......... 21,294 (26,990) 240 — (5,456)
; Write-down of oil and gas properties and
impairments . . ..., — (25,891) — — (25,891)
Minority interest ....................... (937) — — — (937)
Net income (10sS) .....ooviiieninn.. $ 20,357 $(52,881) $§ 240 § —  $(32,284)
Total assets .. ..ot $124,942 $188,000 $ 61,989 § (98,620) $276,311
“““““““ Additions to properties .................. $ 25367 $ 11,579 $ 38 $ — $ 36,984

Note 9 — Russian Operations
Geoilbent, Litd.

We own 34 percent of Géoilbent, a Russian limited liability company formed in 1991 to develop, produce
and market crude oil from the North Gubkinskoye and South Tarasovskoye fields in the West Siberia region
of Russia. Our investment in Geoilbent is accounted for using the equity method. Sales quantities attributable
to Geoilbent for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 were 5,184,745 Bbls, 4,247,590 Bbls and
4,267,647 Bbls, respectively. Prices for crude oil for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999
averaged $19.51, $18.54 and $8.53 per barrel, respectively. Depletion expense attributable to Geoilbent for the
years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $2.13, $2.29 and $2.27 per barrel, respectively.
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Summarized financial information for Geoilbent follows (in thousands). All amounts represent 100 percent of

R R

Geoilbent.
2001 2000 1999
Year ended September 30:
Revenues
Oil 3ales .. oot $101,159 $ 78,735 $ 36,424
Expenses
Selling and distribution expenses.................c...... 9,875 4,612 3,654
Operating expenses . .......... e 11,256 9,798 4,364
Depletion, depreciation and amortization................ 14,918 9,557 9,669
General and administrative ......... ... .. ... .. .. ... 5,650 3,407 2,655
Taxes other than onincome . ...... ... ... ... ... ... 26,011 18,286 8,208
' 67,710 45,660 28,550
Income from operations .............c.couuiuuienninnnn.. 33,449 33,075 7,874
Other non-operating income (expense)
Investment earnings and other................... ... ... 649 53 1,375
INETESt EXPEMSE. . . v e vttt ettt i (7,548) (8,145) (3,572)
Net gain (loss) on exchange rates ..................... 781 (596) 5,152
(6,118) (8,688) 2,955
Income before income taxes .............cciiieniiien.n. 27,331 24,387 10,829
INcome tax €XPeNSE . .. ovv vt mnrit e et 6,754 6,321 1,333
NeEtINCOME ..ottt e e i $ 20,577 § 18,066 $ 9,496 /
At September 30:
CUITENL ASSETIS © . vttt ettt et e e et $ 34696 $ 30,070 $ 25,699
Other a8SetS . . oot i e 187,593 163,219 139,488
Current liabilities . ........ ... . i 60,439 32,700 10,276
Other Habilities . . ... ... .\vve e 22,550 41,866 54,254
Net equity ..ot e e 139,300 118,723 100,657

The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“EBRD”) and International Moscow Bank
(“IMB”) together have agreed to lend up to $65 million to Geoilbent, based on achieving certain reserve and
production milestones, under parallel reserve-based loan agreements. Under these loan agreements, we and
other shareholders of Geoilbent have significant management and business support obligations. Each
shareholder is jointly and severally liable to EBRD and IMB for any losses, damages, liabilities, costs,
expenses and other amounts suffered or sustained arising out of any breach by any shareholder of its support
obligations. The loans bear an average interest rate of 15 percent payable on January 27 and July 27 each year.
Principal payments will be due in varying installments on the semiannual interest payment dates beginning
January 27, 2001 and ending by July 27, 2004. The loan agreements require that Geoilbent meet certain
financial ratios and covenants, including a minimum current ratio, and provides for certain limitations on liens,
additional indebtedness, certain investment and capital expenditures, dividends, mergers and sales of assets.
As of September 30, 2001, Geoilbent was not in compliance with the current ratio covenant, but received a
waiver from EBRD. Geoilbent began borrowing under these facilities in October 1997 and had borrowed a
total of $48.5 million and repaid $10.0 million through September 30, 2001. The proceeds from the loans were
used by Geoilbent to develop the North Gubkinskoye Field in West Siberia, Russia. The principal payment
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requirements for the long-term debt of Geoilbent at September 30, 2001 are as follows for the years ending
September 30 (in thousands):

2002 .« $16,000
2003 o 11,000
2008 .« . e 11,550

$38,550

During 1996 and 1997, we incurred $4.1 million in financing costs related to the establishment of the
EBRD financing which are recorded in other assets and are subject to amortization over the life of the facility.
Geoilbent reimbursed $2.6 million of such costs in 2000.

In October 1995, Geoilbent entered into an agreement with Morgan Guaranty for a credit facility under
which we provide cash collateral for the loans to Geoilbent. In conjunction with Geoilbent’s reserve-based
loan agreements with the EBRD and IMB, repayment of the credit facility was subordinated to payments due
to the EBRD and IMB and, accordingly, the credit facility was reclassified from current to long-term in 1998.
In May 2001, Geoilbent entered into an agreement with IMB to borrow $3.3 million to repay the Morgan
credit facility and, as a result, our cash collateral was returned. The loan from IMB is due on November 15,
2002, bears interest at LIBOR plus 6 percent and requires quarterly payments of principal and interest of
approximately $0.6 million beginning in August 2001.

Excise, pipeline and other tariffs and taxes continue to be levied on all oil producers and certain exporters,
including an oil export tariff that decreased to $8.00 per ton (approximately $1.10 per barrel) from 23.4 Euros
per ton {(approximately $2.85 per barrel). We are unable to predict the impact of taxes, duties and other
burdens for the future for our Russian operations.

Geoilbent has reduced its 2002 capital budget to approximately $16.6 million, of which $2.7 million is for
the North Gubkinskoye Field, $9.7 million is for the South Tarakovskoye Field, $2.2 million is to carry out
seismic and related exploration activity and $2.0 million is for natural gas plant economic, technical and
feasibility studies. Geoilbent’s 2002 operating budget includes $16 million for principal payments on the loan
facility. In addition, Geoilbent had outstanding accounts payable of $26.6 million as of December 31, 2001,
primarily to contractors and vendors for drilling and construction services.

Although Geoilbent’s reduced capital expenditure budget may help to alleviate any shortfall of funds
available to make payments to the banks and its creditors as those payments come due, it is uncertain that
Geoilbent’s cash flow from operations will be sufficient to do so, and it may be necessary for Geoilbent to
obtain capital contributions from its partners, including the Company, to have sufficient funds to make these
payments on a timely basis. Although the Company may consider making such a capital contribution, there
can be no assurances that the Company will do so, nor can there be any assurances that Geoilbent’s other
partner will be willing or able to do so. Under Russian law, a creditor can force a company into involuntary
bankruptcy if the company’s payments have been due for more than 90 days.

Arctic Gas Company

In April 1998, we signed an agreement to earn a 40 percent equity interest in Arctic Gas Company,
formerly Severneftegaz. Arctic Gas owns the exclusive rights to evaluate, develop and produce the natural gas,
condensate and oil reserves in the Samburg and Yevo-Yakha license blocks in West Siberia. The two blocks
comprise 794,972 acres within and adjacent to the Urengoy Field, Russia’s largest producing natural gas field.
Under the terms of a Cooperation Agreement between us and Arctic Gas, we will earn a 40 percent equity
interest in exchange for providing or arranging for a credit facility of up to $100 million for the project, the
terms and timing of which were finalized in February 2002. Pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement, we have
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received voting shares representing a 40 percent ownership in Arctic Gas that contain restrictions on their sale
and transfer. A Share Disposition Agreement provides for removal of the restrictions as disbursements are
made under the credit facility. As of December 31, 2001, we had loaned $28.5 million to Arctic Gas pursuant
to an interim credit facility, with interest at LIBOR plus 3 percent, and had earned the right to remove
restrictions from shares representing an approximate 11 percent equity interest. From December 1998 through
September 2001, we purchased shares representing an additional 28 percent equity interest not subject to any
sale or transfer restrictions. We owned a total of 68 percent of the outstanding voting shares of Arctic Gas as of
December 31, 2001, of which approximately 39 percent were not subject to any restrictions and represent our
equity interest.

We account for our interest in Arctic Gas using the equity method due to the significant influence we
exercise over the operating and financial policies of Arctic Gas. Our weighted-average equity interest, not
subject to any sale or transfer restrictions for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 was
39 percent, 29 percent and 24 percent, respectively. We recorded as our share in the losses of Arctic Gas
$1.1 million, $0.7 million and $0.4 million for the years ended September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999,
respectively.

Certain provisions of Russian corporate law would effectively require minority shareholder consent to
enter into new agreements between us and Arctic Gas, or change any terms in any existing agreements
between the two partners such as the Cooperation Agreement and the Share Disposition Agreement, including
the conditions upon which the restrictions on the shares could be removed. Arctic Gas began selling oil in
June 2000. Summarized financial information for Arctic Gas follows (in thousands). All amounts represent
100 percent of Arctic Gas.

2001 2000 1999
Year ended September 30:
Revenues
Oil Sales. . ..o $13,374 $ 3,354 § —
Expenses
Selling and distribution expenses. .................... ... 3,867 — —
Operating eXpense . . . oot vttt et 3,483 1,004 —
Depletion, depreciation and amortization . .................. 1,032 432 85
General and administrative ............ ... .. 3,025 2,154 2,941
Taxes other than on INCOME ... .o\t v e 3,881 1,422 64
15,288 5,012 3,090
Loss from operations ............c.ouiiuniineineennneaannnn (1,914)  (1,658)  (3,090)
Other non-operating income (expense)
Other income (EXPemNSE) . .....vviivrteein e 54 (14) 585
Interest and foreign exchange expense ..................... (1,848)  (1,558) {868)
(1,794)  (1,572) (283)
Loss before Income taxes .. ... vt (3,708) (3,230) (3,373)
Income tax eXpense . .........c..ooviiiiiiiin i — 188 —
Net 0SS .« vt $(3,708) $(3,418) $(3,373)
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2001 2000 1999
At September 30:
CUITENT ASSELS & o vt v ittt et e ettt e et e $ 4423 $ 1,205 $ 1,513
Other ASSETS . oottt e 14,986 10,120 5,043
Current liabilities . ........ .. i i 35,658 23,955 18,068
Net (deficit) ... (16,249)  (12,630)  (11,512)

Note 10 — Venezuela Operations

On July 31, 1992, we and our partner, Venezolana de Inversiones y Construcciones Clerico, C.A.
(“Vinceler”), signed an operating service agreement to reactivate and further develop three Venezuelan oil
fields with Lagoven, S.A., then one of three exploration and production affiliates of the national oil company,
PDVSA. The operating service agreement covers the Uracoa, Bombal and Tucupita Fields that comprise the
South Monagas Unit. Under the terms of the operating service agreement, Benton-Vinccler, a corporation
owned 80 percent by us and 20 percent by Vinccler, is a contractor for PDVSA and is responsible for overall
operations of the South Monagas Unit, including all necessary investments to reactivate and develop the fields
comprising the South Monagas Unit. Benton-Vinccler receives an operating fee in U.S. dollars deposited into
a U.S. commercial bank account for each barrel of crude oil produced (subject to periodic adjustments to
reflect changes in a special energy index of the U.S. Consumer Price Index) and is reimbursed according to a
prescribed formula in U.S. dollars for its capital costs, provided that such operating fee and cost recovery fee
cannot exceed the maximum dollar amount per barrel set forth in the agreement.

The Venezuelan government maintains full ownership of all hydrocarbons in the fields.

In December 1999, we entered into agreements with Schlumberger and Helmerich & Payne to further
develop the South Monagas Unit pursuant to a long-term incentive-based development program. Schlum-
berger has agreed to financial incentives intended to reduce drilling costs, improve initial production rates of
new wells and to increase the average life of the downhole pumps at South Monagas Unit. As part of
Schlumberger’s commitment to the program, it provides additional technical and engineering resources on-site
full-time in Venezuela. As of December 31, 2000, 26 new oil wells and 2 re-entry oil wells have been drilled
under the alliance program.

In January 2001, we suspended the development drilling program until the second half of 2001 in order to
thoroughly review all aspects of operations in order to integrate field performance to date with revised
computer simulation modeling and improved well completion technology. In August 2001, drilling re-
commenced in the Uracoa Field under the alliance agreement with Schlumberger. As of December 31, 2001,
we drilled 8 new wells in Uracoa and we identified 7 well locations in undepleted portions of the Tucupita ,
Field, each of the first two wells is producing at a sustainable rate of 2,000 Bbls of oil per day as of March 15,
2002. In August 2001, Benton-Vinccler signed an agreement to amend the alliance with Schlumberger. The
amended long-term incentive-based alliance continues to provide incentives intended to improve initial
production rates of new wells and to increase the average life of the downhole pumps at South Monagas Unit.
In addition, Schlumberger has agreed to provide drilling and completion services for new wells utilizing fixed
lump-sum pricing. We chose not to renew the alliance with Helmerich & Payne and have entered into a
standard drilling contract with Flint South America, Inc. In September 2001, we completed the majority of
the reservoir simulation study of the Uracoa Field and expect to complete a revised field development plan,
incorporating the results of this study in 2002.

In January 1996, we and our bidding partners, predecessor companies acquired over time by Burlington
Resources, Inc. (“Burlington”) and Anadarko Petroleum Corporation (“Anadarko”), were awarded the right
to explore and develop the Delta Centro Block in Venezuela. The contract required a minimum exploration
work program consisting of a seismic survey and the drilling of three wells within five years. At the time the
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block was tendered for international bidding, PDVSA estimated that this minimum exploration work program
would cost $60 million and required that we and the other partners each post a performance surety bond or
standby letter of credit for our pro rata share of the estimated work commitment expenditures. We had a
30 percent interest in the exploration venture, with Burlington and Anadarko each owning a 35 percent
interest. In July 1996, formal agreements were finalized and executed, and we posted an $18 million standby
letter of credit, collateralized in full by a time deposit, to secure our 30 percent share of the minimum
exploration work program. During 1999, the Block’s first exploration well, the Jarina 1-X, penetrated a thick
potential reservoir sequence, but encountered no hydrocarbons. In January 2001, we and our bidding partners
reached an agreement with Corporacion Venezolana del Petroleo, S.A. to terminate the contract in exchange
for the unused portion of the standby letter of credit of $7.7 million. As a result, we included $7.7 million of
restricted cash that collateralized the letter of credit in the Venezuelan full cost pool. As of December 31,
2001, our share of expenditures to date on the Delta Centro Block was $23.1 million.

Note 11 — United States Operations

In April and May 2000, we entered into agreements with Coastline Energy Corporation (“Coastline”) for
the purpose of acquiring, exploring and developing oil and natural gas prospects both onshore and in the state
waters of the Gulf Coast states of Texas, Louisiana and Mississippi. Under the agreements, Coastline will
evaluate prospects in the Gulf Coast area for possible acquisition and development by us. During the
18-month term of the exploration agreement, we will reimburse Coastline for certain of its overhead and
prospect evaluation costs. Under the agreements, for prospects evaluated by Coastline and that we acquire,
Coastline will receive compensation based on (a) oil and natural gas production acquired or developed and
(b) the profits, if any, resulting from the sale of such prospects. In April 2000, pursuant to the agreements, we
acquired an approximate 25 percent working interest in the East Lawson Field in Acadia Parish, Louisiana,
The acquisition included a 15 percent working interest in two producing oil and natural gas wells. During the
year ended December 31, 2000, our share of the East Lawson Field production was 6,884 Bbls of oil and
43,352 Mcf of natural gas, resulting in income from United States oil and natural gas operations of
$0.3 million. In December 2000, we sold our interest in the East Lawson Field for $0.8 million cash and a
5 percent carried working interest in up to four wells that may be drilled in the future. The agreement with
Coastline was terminated on August 31, 2001. However, certain ongoing operations related to the Lakeside
Exploration Prospect are conducted by Coastline on a continuing basis.

In March 1997, we acquired a 40 percent participation interest in three California State offshore oil and
natural gas leases (‘““California Leases”) from Molino Energy Company, LLC (“Molino Energy”), which
held 100 percent of these leases. The project area covers the Molino, Gaviota and Caliente Fields, located
approximately 35 miles west of Santa Barbara, California. In consideration of the 40 percent participation
interest in the California Leases, we became the operator of the project and agreed to pay 100 percent of the
first $3.7 million and 53 percent of the remainder of the costs of the first well drilled on the block. During
1998, the 2199 #7 exploratory well was drilled to the Gaviota anticline. Drill stem tests proved to be
inconclusive or non-commercial, and the well was temporarily abandoned for further evaluation. In November
1998, we entered into an agreement to acquire Molino Energy’s interest in the California Leases in exchange
for the release of their joint interest billing obligations. In the fourth quarter of 1999, we decided to focus our
capital expenditures on existing producing properties and fulfilling work commitments associated with our
other properties. Because we had no firm approved plans to continue drilling on the California Leases and the
2199 #7 exploratory well did not result in commercial reserves, we wrote off all of the capitalized costs
associated with the California Leases of $9.2 million and the joint interest receivable of $3.1 million due from
Molino Energy at December 31, 1999. However, we continue to evaluate the prospect for potential future
drilling activities.
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Note 12 — China Operations

In December 1996, we acquired Benton Offshore China Company, a privately held corporation
headquartered in Denver, Colorado, for 628,142 shares of common stock and options to
purchase 107,571 shares of our common stock at $7.00 per share, valued in total at $14.6 million. Benton
Offshore China Company’s primary asset is a large undeveloped acreage position in the South China Sea
under a petroleum contract with China National Cffshore Oil Corporation (“CNOQOC”) of the People’s
Republic of China for an area known as Wan’An Bei, WAB-21. Benton Offshore China Company will, as our
wholly owned subsidiary, continue as the operator and contractor of WAB-21. Benton Offshore China
Company has submitted an exploration program and budget to CNOOC. However, due to certain territorial
disputes over the sovereignty of the contract area, it is unclear when such program will commence.

Note 13 — Related Party Transactions

From 1996 through 1998, we made unsecured loans to our then Chief Executive Officer, A.E. Benton,
bearing interest at the rate of 6 percent per annum. We subsequently obtained a security interest in
Mr. Benton’s shares of stock and stock options. In August 1999, Mr. Benton filed a Chapter 11 (reorganiza-
tion) bankruptcy petition in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Central District of California, in Santa Bar-
bara, California. In February 2000, we entered into a separation agreement and a consulting agreement with
Mr. Benton pursuant to which we retained Mr. Benton as an independent contractor to perform certain
services for us. During 2001, we paid Mr. Benton $116,833, and have paid a total of $536,545 from February
2000 through May 11, 2001 for services performed under the consulting agreement. On May 11, 2001,
Mr. Benton and the Company entered into a settlement and release agreement under which the consulting
agreement was terminated and Mr. Benton agreed to propose a plan of reorganization in his bankruptcy case
that provides for the repayment of our loans to him. We currently continue to retain our security interest in
Mr. Benton’s 600,000 shares of our stock and in his stock options, and we have the right to vote the shares
owned by him and to direct the exercise of his options. Repayment of our loans to Mr. Benton may be
achieved through Mr. Benton’s liquidation of certain real and personal property assets and a phased liquidation
of stock resulting in Mr. Benton’s exercise of his stock options. The amount that we eventually realize, and the
timing of receipt of payments will depend upon the timing and results of the liquidation of Mr. Benton’s assets.
The amount of Mr. Benton’s indebtedness to us is currently approximately $6.5 million. We continue to
accrue interest at the rate of 6 percent per annum and record additional allowances as the interest accrues. The
consulting agreement provides that if we close the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale, Mr. Benton will be entitled to
receive two percent of our net after-tax cash receipts, actually received by us in the U.S., resulting from the
Proposed Arctic Gas Sale, excluding any repayment of indebtedness or advances by us to Arctic Gas. The
consulting agreement further provides that under his proposed bankruptcy plan of reorganization, Mr. Benton
will pay five percent of such amounts to us. Based upon information provided by Mr. Benton’s bankruptcy
counsel, we anticipate that under the bankruptcy plan of reorganization that Mr. Benton will propose, we will
receive $1.7 million. This amount does not include the amounts that we will realize from the exercise of
Mr. Benton’s options and the subsequent sale of the resulting shares, nor does it include the net proceeds that
we will receive from the sale of Mr. Benton’s 600,000 shares of our stock.

In May 2001, we entered into 2 Termination Agreement and a Consuiting Agreement with our Chairman
of the Board, Michael B. Wray. Under the Termination Agreement, Mr. Wray’s employment relationship with
us and any of our subsidiaries and affiliates terminated as of May 7, 2001. As consideration for entering into
the Termination Agreement and settlement of all sums owed to Mr. Wray for his services as director through
the 2001 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or as an employee, we paid Mr. Wray $100,000. Upon execution of
the Termination Agreement, all stock options previously granted to Mr. Wray vested in their entirety.
Additionally, under the terms of the Consulting Agreement, Mr. Wray received $100,000 and provided
consulting services on matters pertaining to our business and that of our affiliates through December 31, 2001.
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Note 14 — Earnings Per Share

In February 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 128 (“SFAS 128”) “Earnings per Share.” SFAS 128 replaces the presentation of primary
earnings per share with a presentation of basic earnings per share based upon the weighted average number of
common shares for the period. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential dilution that occurs if securities
or other contracts were exercised or converted to common stock. [t also requires dual presentation of basic and
diluted earnings per share for companies with complex capital structures.

Basic earnings per common share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing income available to common
stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. The weighted
average number of common shares outstanding for computing basic EPS was 34.0 million, 30.7 million and
29.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Diluted EPS reflects the
potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or
converted into common stock. The weighted average number of common shares outstanding for computing
diluted EPS, including dilutive stock options, was 34.0 million, 30.9 million and 29.6 million for the years
ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

An aggregate of 6.7 million options and warrants were excluded from the earnings per share calculations
because their exercise price exceeded the average share price during the year ended December 31, 2001. For
the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, 5.6 million and 6.2 million options and warrants, respectively,
were excluded from the earnings per share calculations because they were anti-dilutive.

Note 15 — Reduction in Force and Corporate Restructuring

For 2001, we recorded non-recurring items of $11.4 million, $5.7 million of which are included in general
and administrative expenses, $1.7 million of which are included in depletion, depreciation and amortization,
$3.2 million in operating expenses and $0.8 in taxes other than income. The general and administrative
expenses include $2.2 million on the failed debt exchange, $2.2 million for severance and termination benefits
for 33 employees, $1.1 million for lease relinquishment expenses, and $0.2 million for relocation costs to
Houston. Depletion, depreciation and amortization included $0.9 million for the reduction in the carrying
value of fixed assets that were not transferred to Houston and $0.8 million loss on subleasing the former
Carpinteria headquarters. All expenses were paid or accrued by December 31, 2001. The accrued balance of
$0.1 million will be paid in 2002.

Note 16 — Subsequent Event — Sale of Arctic Gas Company

On February 27, 2002, we entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement (“Transaction”) to sell our
68 percent interest in Arctic Gas Company to a nominee of the Yukos Qil Company for $190 million plus
approximately $30 million as repayment of intercompany loans owed to us by Arctic Gas. We intend to retire
all of our $108 million outstanding 11°% percent senior notes in accordance with their terms, which alone
eliminates a substantial interest burden and removes a near-term concern regarding the Company’s liquidity.
The remaining net proceeds and cash received from the repayment of loans will be used to further reduce debt
from time to time, accelerate strategic growth of our remaining assets in Venezuela and Russia, and for
general corporate purposes. On March 22, 2002, we were notified that the Transaction had received the
requisite consents from the Russian Ministry for Antimonopoly Policy and Support for Entrepreneurship. On
March 28, 2002, we received the first payment ($120.0 million) of the Proposed Arctic Gas Sale proceeds.
We expect that all aspects of the Transaction will be completed by April 2002. However, in the event we do
not close the Transaction, we will be required to review additional strategic alternatives to repay the
$108 million of 11% percent senior notes due May 2003.
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Summarized quarterly financial data is as follows:

Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Year ended December 31, 2001

Revenues ...........ciiiuieiinniiiiin.. $ 34,338 § 32,844 $ 31,370 $ 23,834
EXPenses. .....cooveuiiiiiniiiiinnnn, (24,674)  (24,493) (22,345) (22,673)
Non-operating exXpense ................... (5,304) (5,152) (5,119) (5,444)
Income (loss) from consolidated companies

before income taxes and minority interests 4,360 3,199 3,906 (4,283)
Income tax expense (benefit) ............. 3,196 3,881 3,510 (46,285)
Income (loss) before minority interests .. ... 1,164 (682) 396 42,002
Minority interests ....................... 1,293 1,541 1,523 1,188
Income (loss) from consolidated companies (129) (2,223) (L,127) 40,814
Equity in earnings (loss) of affiliated

COMPANIES . . v\ ve vttt 2,414 1,061 2,859 (432)
Net income (losS) . ....oovvviiiiinnnnn.. $ 2285 % (1,162) § 1,732 $ 40,382

Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic and Diluted ................... $ 007 $ (0.03) $ 005 $ 119

Quarter Ended
March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Year ended December 31, 2000

Revenues . .......cooviiiiiiiinnnnn. $ 31,433  $ 32,111 $ 37,972 $ 38,768
Expenses..... ... (18,647)  (22,357) (22,270) {23,806)
Non-operating expense . .................. (5,248) (5,201) (5,017) (4,622)
Income from consolidated companies before

income taxes and minority interests ...... 7,538 4,553 10,685 10,340
Income tax expense...................... 4,636 3,656 5,018 722
Income before minority interests . .......... 2,902 897 5,667 9,618
Minority interests ....................... 1,634 1,336 2,007 2,892
Income (loss) from consolidated companies 1,268 (439) 3,660 6,726
Equity in earnings of affiliated companies . .. 1,727 177 2,213 1,196
Income (loss) before extraordinary income . . 2,995 (262) 5,873 7,922
Extraordinary income on debt repurchase . .. — — 3,095 865
Net income (loss) ..., $§ 2995 § (262) $§ 8968 § 8,787

Net income (loss) per common share:
Basic and Diluted ................... $ 010 $ (001) $ 029 $ 026
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In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 69, “Disclosures About Cil and
Gas Producing Activities” (“SFAS 69), this section provides supplemental information on our oil and
natural gas exploration and production activities. Tables I through IIT provide historical cost information
pertaining to costs incurred in exploration, property acquisitions and development; capitalized costs; and
results of operations. Tables IV through VI present information on our estimated proved reserve quantities,
standardized measure of estimated discounted future net cash flows related to proved reserves, and changes in
estimated discounted future net cash flows.

Table I

Total costs incurred in oil and natural gas acquisition, exploration and development activities:

Equity
Consolidated Companies Affiliates
United States
Venezuela  China and QOther Subtotal Russia Total
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31, 2001

Development costs .................... $35,194 § 77 $ 28 $35,299 $13,580 $48,879
Exploration costs . ........ccoo.ooiii.. 7,694 — 909 8,603 8,136 16,739

$42888 $ 77 $ 937 $43,902 $21,716 $65,618

Year Ended December 31, 2000

Acquisition costs . ........ ... ..., $E — 5 — $ 170 $ 170 $§ — $§ 170
Development costs .................... 47,604 — — 47,604 13,887 61,491
] Exploration costs . ..................... 94 84 2,470 2,648 4,206 6,354

$47,698 § 84 $2,640 850,422 $18,093 $68,515

Year Ended December 31, 1999
Development costs .................... $22,361 § — $ 104 $22,465 $ 6,342 $28,807
Exploration costs . ..................... 261 8,480 1,761 10,502 1,345 11,847

$22,622 $8,480 $1,865 $32,967 $ 7,687 $40,654
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Table I1

Capitalized costs related to oil and natural gas producing activities:

Equity
Ceonsclidated Companies Affiliates
United States
Venezuela China and Other Subtotal Russia Total
(In thousands)
December 31, 2001
Proved property costs.......... $ 469,218 $ 12,892 $ 19,813 $ 501,923 $ 91,463 $ 393,386
Costs excluded from
amortization . .............. — 16,248 560 16,808 11,549 28,357
Oilfield inventories . ........... 15,219 — — 15,219 4,532 19,751
Less accumulated depletion and
impairment ................ (361,313) (12,892) {19,544) (393,749) (32,684) (426,433)

$ 123,124 §$ 16248 $§ 829 § 140,201 § 74,860 $ 215,061

December 31, 2000

‘ Proved property costs.......... $ 426,330 $ 12,879 $ 19,362 $ 458,571 $ 85,086 $ 543,657
f Costs excluded from
amortization ............... — 16,183 451 16,634 6,536 23,170
QOilfield inventories ............ 15,343 R — 15,343 2,705 18,048
Less accumulated depletion and
impairment ................ (339,542) (12,879)  (19,090)  (371,511) (27,249) (398,760)

$ 102,131 $ 16,183 § 723 $ 119,037 § 67,078 § 186,115

December 31, 1999

Proved property costs.......... $ 378,631 $ 12,870 § 18,025 $ 409,526 $ 68,526 $ 478,052
Costs excluded from

amortization ............... — 16,108 9 16,117 5,004 21,121
Qilfield inventories ............ 9,806 —_ — 9,806 2,084 11,890
Less accumulated depletion and

impairment . ............... (324,211) (12,870)  (17,753)  (354,834) (24,102) (378,936)

$ 64226 $ 16,108 $ 281 § 80,615 $ 51,512 § 132,127
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Table 111

Results of operations for oil and natural gas producing activities:

Equity
Conselidated Companies Affiliates
United States
Venezuela and Other Subtotal Russia Total
(In thousands)
Year ended December 31, 2001
Oilsales .......ooviviiiiinn ... $122,386 $ — $122,386  $38,410  $160,796
Expenses:
Operating, selling and distribution
expenses and taxes other than on
income...............o0ie. 42,212 722 42,934 19,934 62,868
Depletion ...................... 22,119 — 22,119 5,367 27,436
Write-down of oil and gas properties
and impairments .............. — 468 468 — 468
Income tax expense . ............. 11,156 13 11,169 3,238 14,407
Total expenses ................ 75,487 1,203 76,690 28,539 105,229
Results of operations from oil and
natural gas producing activities .... §$ 46,899 $ (1,203) §$ 45696 $ 9871 § 55567
Year ended December 31, 2000
Oil and natural gas sales............ $139,890 $ 394 $140,284  $26,091  $166,375
Expenses:
Operating, selling and distribution
5 expenses and taxes other than on
L income. ..., 46,879 731 47,610 10,152 57,762
. Depletion .............. ... ..., 15,331 45 15,376 3,305 18,681
. Write-down of oil and gas properties
and impairments .............. — 1,346 1,346 — 1,346
Income tax expense .............. 20,398 12 20,410 3,275 23,685
Total expenses ................ 82,608 2,134 84,742 16,732 101,474
Results of operations from oil and
natural gas producing activities .... § 57,282  § (1,740) § 55,542 § 9,359 § 64,901
Year ended December 31, 1999
Oilsales ........ ...t $ 89,060 $ — $ 89,060 $11,006 $100,066
Expenses:
Operating, selling and distribution
expenses and taxes other than on
income.................... ... 38,841 710 39,351 4,139 43,690
Depletion ................. ... 14,829 — 14,829 3,325 18,154
Write-down of oil and gas properties
and impairments .............. — 25,891 25,891 — 25,891
Income tax expense.............. 3,812 638 4,450 436 4,886
Total expenses ................ 57,482 27,239 84,721 7,900 92,621
Results of operations from oil and
natural gas producing activities .... $ 31,578 $(27,239) § 4339 §$ 3106 § 7,445

Geoilbent (34 percent ownership by us) and Arctic Gas (39 percent, 29 percent and 24 percent
ownership not subject to certain sale and transfer restrictions at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999,
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respectively), which are accounted for under the equity method, have been included at their respective
ownership interests in the consolidated financial statements based on a fiscal period ending September 30 and,
accordingly, results of operations for oil and natural gas producing activities in Russia reflect the years ended
September 30, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

Table IV
Quantities of Oil and Natural Gas Reserves

Proved reserves are estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas, and natural gas liquids which geological
and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable from known reservoirs under
existing economic and operating conditions. Proved developed reserves are those which are expected to be
recovered through existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods. All Venezuelan reserves are
attributable to an operating service agreement between Benton-Vinccler and PDVSA, under which all mineral
rights are owned by the government of Venezuela. Venezuelan reserves include production projected through
the end of the operating service agreement in July 2012.

The Securities and Exchange Commission requires the reserve presentation to be calculated using year-
end prices and costs and assuming a continuation of existing economic conditions. Proved reserves cannot be
measured exactly, and the estimation of reserves involves judgmental determinations. Reserve estimates must
be reviewed and adjusted periodically to reflect additional information gained from reservoir performance, new
geological and geophysical data and economic changes. The estimates are based on current technology and
economic conditions, and we consider such estimates to be reasonable and consistent with current knowledge
of the characteristics and extent of production. The estimates include only those amounts considered to be
Proved Reserves and do not include additional amounts which may result from new discoveries in the future,
or from application of secondary and tertiary recovery processes where facilities are not in place or for which
transportation and/or marketing contracts are not in place.

Proved Developed Reserves are reserves which can be expected to be recovered through existing wells
with existing equipment and existing operating methods. This classification includes: a) proved developed
producing reserves which are reserves expected to be recovered through existing completion intervals now
open for production in existing wells; and b) proved developed nonproducing reserves which are reserves that
exist behind the casing of existing wells which are expected to be produced in the predictable future, where the
cost of making such oil and natural gas available for production should be relatively small compared to the
cost of a new well.

Any reserves expected to be obtained through the application of fluid injection or other improved
recovery techniques for supplementing primary recovery methods are included as Proved Developed Reserves
only after testing by a pilot project or after the operation of an installed program has confirmed through
production response that increased recovery will be achieved.

Proved Undeveloped Reserves are Proved Reserves which are expected to be recovered from new wells
on undrilled acreage or from existing wells where a relatively major expenditure is required for recompletion.
Reserves on undrilled acreage are limited to those drilling units offsetting productive units, which are
reasonably certain of production when drilled. Estimates of recoverable reserves for proved undeveloped
reserves may be subject to substantial variation and actual recoveries may vary materially from estimates.

Proved Reserves for other undrilled units are claimed only where it can be demonstrated with certainty
that there is continuity of production from the existing productive formation. No estimates for Proved
Undeveloped Reserves are attributable to or included in this table for any acreage for which an application of
fluid injection or other improved recovery technique is contemplated unless proved effective by actual tests in
the area and in the same reservoir.

Changes in previous estimates of proved reserves result from new information obtained from production
history and changes in economic factors.
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The evaluations of the oil and natural gas reserves as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 were prepared by
Ryder-Scott, independent petroleum engineers. The evaluations of the oil and natural gas reserves as of
December 31, 1999 were audited by Huddleston & Co., Inc., independent petroleum engineers.

Equity
Consolidated Companies Affiliates
Minority
United Interest in
States Venezuela Venezuela Net Total Russia Total
Proved Reserves-Crude oil, condensate, and
natural gas liguids (MBbls)
Year ended December 31, 2001
Proved reserves beginning of the year........ — 123,039 (24,608) 98,431 48,435 146,866
Revisions of previous estimates ........... — (8,747) 1,749 (6,998) (54) (7,052)
Extensions, discoveries and improved ‘
TECOVETY © ottt tinn e — — — — 4,411 4,411
Production ............ ... ... ... .. ... — (9,778) 1,956 (7,822) (2,160) (9,982)

104,514 (20,903) 83,611 50,632 134,243

Year ended December 31, 2000

Proved reserves beginning of the year........ — 134,961 (26,992) 107,969 40,129 148,098
Revisions of previous estimates ........... — (8,826) 1,765 (7,061) (2,811) (9,872)
Purchases of reserves in place ............ 15 — — 15 — 15
Extensions, discoveries and improved

TECOVETY © vt iten et — 6,268 (1,254) 5,014 12,610 17,624
Production ...................... e (7) (9,364) 1,873 (7,498) (1,493) (8,991)

Sales of reserves in place . ............... 8) — — (8) — (8)
Proved reserves end of year ................ — 123,039 (24,608) 98,431 48,435 146,866

Year ended December 31, 1999

Proved reserves beginning of the year........ — 137,835 (27,567) 110,268 31,053 141,321
Revisions of previous estimates ........... — (7,488) 1,498 (5,990) (531) (6,521)
Extensions, discoveries and improved

TECOVETY .\ vt ee e tiee e ee e aen, — 14,281 (2,856) 11,425 11,058 22,483
Production ............. it — (9,667) 1,933 (7,734) (1,451) (9,185)

Proved reserves end of year ................ 134,961  (26,992) 107,969 40,129 148,098

Proved Developed Reserves at:

December 31,2001 .......... ... ... .. ..., — 51,465 (10,293) 41,172 18,141 59,313
December 31,2000....................... — 67,217 (13,443) 53,774 17,238 71,012
December 31, 1999 . ........ ... . ... . ... — 67,118 (13,423) 53,695 15,120 68,815
December 31,1998 . ...... ... ... ... — 75,636  (15,127) 60,509 9,745 70,254

Proved reserves-matural gas (MMcf)
Year ended December 31, 2001
Proved reserves beginning of the year........ — — — — 152,496 152,496
Revisions of previous estimates ........... — — — — 55514 55514

— — — 208,010 208,010

Proved reserves end of the year.............

Proved Developed Reserves at:
December 31,2001 ....................... — — —_ — 21,292 21,292
December 31,2000....................... — — — — 17,801 17,801
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TABLE V

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows Related to Proved Oil and Natural Gas
Reserve Quantities

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows is presented in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS 69. In preparing this data, assumptions and estimates have been used, and we caution
against viewing this information as a forecast of future economic conditions.

Future cash inflows were estimated by applying year-end prices, adjusted for fixed and determinable
escalations provided by contract, to the estimated future production of year-end proved reserves. Future cash
inflows were reduced by estimated future production and development costs to determine pre-tax cash inflows.
Future income taxes were estimated by applying the year-end statutory tax rates to the future pre-tax cash
inflows, less the tax basis of the properties involved, and adjusted for permanent differences and tax credits and
allowances. The resultant future net cash inflows are discounted using a ten percent discount rate.

Excise, pipeline and other tariffs and taxes continue to be levied on all oil producers and certain exporters,
including an oil export tariff that decreased to $8.00 per ton (approximately $1.10 per barrel) from 23.4 Euros
per ton (approximately $2.85 per barrel). We are unable to predict the impact of taxes, duties and other
burdens for the future for our Russian operations.

Equity
Consolidated Companies Affiliates
Minority
Interest in
Venezuela Venezuela Net Total Russia Total
(Amounts in thousands)
December 31, 2001 .

Future cash inflow ............... $1,030,404 $(206,081) $§ 824,323 $1,064,688 $ 1,889,011
Future production costs ........... (558,431) 111,686 (446,745) (624,793) (1,071,538)
Future development costs. ......... {142,006) 28,401 (113,605) (86,159) (199,764)
Future net revenue before income

TAXES . o 329,967 (65,994) 263,973 353,736 617,709
10% annual discount for estimated

timing of cash flows ............ - (109,704) 21,941 (87,763) (164,211) (251,974)
Discounted future net cash flows

before income taxes ............ 220,263 (44,053) 176,210 189,525 365,735
Future income taxes, discounted at

10% per annum .. .............. (16,103) 3,221 (12,882) (36,672) (49,554)
Standardized measure of discounted

future net cash flows............ $ 204,160 §$ (40,832) $ 163,328 § 152853 § 316,181




December 31, 2000
Future cash inflow ...............
Future production costs ...........
Future development costs..........
Future net revenue before income
TAXES vttt
10% annual discount for estimated
timing of cash flows ............
Discounted future net cash flows
before income taxes ............
Future income taxes, discounted at
10% per annum .. ..............

Standardized measure of discounted
future net cash flows............

December 31, 1999
Future cash inflow ...............
Future production costs ...........
Future development costs..........
Future net revenue before income
TAXES « vt
10% annual discount for estimated
timing of cash flows ............
Discounted future net cash flows
before income taxes ............
Future income taxes, discounted at
10% per annum .. ..............

Standardized measure of discounted
future net cash flows............

Equity

Consolidated Companies Affiliates
Minerity
Interest in
Venezuela Venezuela Net Total Russia Total
(Amounts in thousands)
$1,505,870  $(301,174) $1,204,696 $1,273,327 $ 2,478,023
(618,870) 123,774  (495,096)  (811,678) (1,306,774)
(166,039) 33,208  (132,831)  (70,620)  (203,451)
720,961 (144,192) 576,769 391,029 967,798
(260,381) 52,076  (208,305)  (176,352)  (384,657)
460,580 (92,116) 368,464 214,677 583,141
(104,894) 20,979 (83,915) (43,072) (126,987)
$ 355,686 $ (71,137) $ 284,549 $§ 171,605 $ 456,154
$1,727,228 $(345,446) $1,381,782 § 566,201 $ 1,947,983
(543,976) 108,795  (435,181)  (150,370)  (585,551)
(144,639) 28928  (115711)  (38,210)  (153,921)
1,038,613 (207,723) 830,890 377,621 1,208,511
(386,930) 77,386  (309,544)  (154,032)  (463,576)
651,683 (130,337) 521,346 223,589 744,935
(175,602) 35,121  (140,481)  (47,676)  (188,157)
$ 476,081 $ (95216) $§ 380,865 $ 175913 § 556,778
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Table VI

Changes in the Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows from Proved Reserves

Consolidated Companies Equity Affiliates Total
2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999
(Amounts in thousands)

Present Value at
January 1 ....... ..., $ 284,549 $ 380,865 § 49,964 $171,605 $175913 $ 43,248 $ 456,154 $ 556,778 § 93,212

Sales of oil and natural
gas, net of related costs (64,139)  (58,913)  (40,303) (19,001) (20,977) (3,238)  (83,140) (79,890)  (43,541)

Revisions to estimates of
proved reserves

Net changes in prices,
development and
production costs . . . .. (141,429) (124,402) 552,614  (39,880) (72,740) 120,742  (181,309) (197,142) 673,356

Quantities . ........... (26,198)  (26,494) (26,671) 8,881  (19,685)  (2,858) (17,317)  (46,179)  (29,529)
Sales of reserves in place — — — — — — — — —

Extensions, discoveries and
improved recovery, net

of future costs ........ — 16,429 65,184 18,767 73,542 54,326 18,767 89,971 119,510
‘ Accretion of discount . . .. 36,846 52,135 4,996 21,468 22,359 4,955 58,314 74,494 9,951
‘ Net change in income
taxes .........iiee... 71,033 56,567  (140,481) 6,400 4,604  (41,378) 77,433 61,171 (181,859)
Development costs
| incurred. . ... .. ... 23,768 36,210 28,558 17,110 8,475 4,370 40,878 44,685 32,928
Changes in timing and
other .........oovvin. (21,102)  (47,848) (112,996) (32,497) 114 (4,254)  (53,599) (47,734} (117,250)

Present Value at
December 31 ......... $ 163,328 $ 284,549 $ 380,865 $152,853 $171,605 $175913 §$ 316,181 § 456,154 $ 556,778
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized, in the City of Houston, State of Texas, on the 28th day of March, 2002.

BENTON OIL AND GAS COMPANY
(Registrant)

By: /s/ PETER J. HILL

Peter J. Hill
Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 28, 2002

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed by the
following persons on the 28th day of March, 2002, on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities indicated:

Signature Title

/s/{ PETER J. HiLL Director, President and Chief Executive Officer
Peter J. Hill

/s/  STEVEN W. THOLEN Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and

Steven W. Tholen Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/  KURT A. NELSON Vice President — Controller

Kurt A. Nelson
(Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/  STEPHEN D. CHESEBRO’ Chairman of the Board and Director
Stephen D. Chesebro’

fs/  JoHN U. CLARKE Director
John U. Clarke

/s/ BYRON A. DuNN Director
Byron A. Dunn

/s/ H.H. HARDEE Director
H.H. Hardee
/s/ PATRICK M. MURRAY Director

Patrick M. Murray
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SCHEDULE II
BENTON OIL AND GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Additions
Balance at Charged to Deductions Balance at
Beginning Charged to Other From End of
of Year Income Accounts Reserves Year

(In thousands)
At December 31, 2001
Amounts deducted from applicable assets

Accounts receivable .................... $ 6,518 $ 330 $ — $ 336 $ 6,512
Valuation allowances ................... 54,207 14,352 (11,008) 37,851 19,700
Investment at cost...................... 1,350 — — — 1,350

At December 31, 2000
Amounts deducted from applicable assets

Accounts receivable . .......... . ... ..., $ 6,187 $ 331 — — $ 6,518
_ Valuation allowances ................... 51,913 2,446 — 152 54,207
Investment atcost...................... 1,350 — — — 1,350

] At December 31, 1999
Amounts deducted from applicable assets

Accounts receivable ........... ... . ... .. $ 3,236 $ 858 2,093 — $ 6,187
Valuation allowances ................... 45,962 14,541 _— 8,590 51,913
Investment at cost...................... — 1,350 T — 1,350

Reserves included in stockholders’ equity

Allowance for employee note secured by
Benton Oil and Gas Company stock .. .. 2,093 — (2,093) — —
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